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RECOMMENDATIONS 

These conditions and others that will be discussed in this inves­
tigation demand that dramatic changes be made before further 
United States aid is provided to that country. The following condi­
tions should be met before the resumption of any United States as­
sistance to Nicaragua: 

I. No direct assistance should go to the Government of Nica­
ragua in FY 1992 and no assistance in FY 1993 until: 

A All American citizens' property claims have been re­
solved. No claim should be considered solved until the 
claimant has si~ed a "finiquito" for each piece of stolen 
property. An independent commission of non-Sandinista 
personnel should be established to adjudicate claims for 
those properties destroyed or reduced in value. This com­
mission should be totally unbiased and acceptable to the 
Department of State. 

B. A fair process for resolving Nicaraguan citizens' prop­
erty claims, under the same process as those of American 
citizens, is in place and operatin~.

C. The leadership of the Sandmista Popular Army is re­
placed. A commission is established under Cardinal 
Obando y Bravo consisting of representatives of human 
rights organizations, the former Nicaraguan Resistance 
and the Nicaraguan private sector personnel to oversee the 
all aspects of the transition. 

D. A non-Sandinista official, which must include former 
Resistance combatants as candidates, has been named to 
command the Armed Forces, the National Police, and the 
Vice-Ministry of the Interior. The Sandinistas may not fill 
more than 40.8 percent (the exact percentage they received 
in the 1990 popular election) of the posts on the General 
Staff or in any military or civilian organization of the Gov­
ernment. Former ReSIstance combatants and other mem­
bers of the society approved by the commission established 
in paragraph (C) above will fill the remaining positions. . 

E. President Chamorro has named as many new justices 
as necessary to the Supreme Court so that the Sandinistas 
do not retain control of that court. In addition, the entire 
court system should be reformed so that it is not domi­
nated by the Sandinistas. These new members must be ~p­
proved by that commission established in paragraph I (C).

F. Thorough and professional investigations and pros­
ecutions have been carried out for the torture and murders 
of members of the Nicaraguan Resistance. These must in­
clude the murder of former Resistance commander Enrique 
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Bermudez and the torture of Resistance leader Aristides 
Sanchez. These investigations must be conducted under 
the leadership of the Organization of American States, a 
foreign government, or another unbiased group, approved 
by those Nicaraguans in the commission established in 
paragraph I (C). 

G. A complete and thorough investigation has been con­
ducted of the murder of Jean Paul Genie by a group simi­
lar to that in paragraph I (F). An alternative is to accept 
the investigation Venezuela has already conducted. In ei­
ther case, the family of Jean Paul Genie must be satisfied 
with the objectivity of the inspection group. 

II. The AID Inspector General will make a detailed study of 
where the more than one billion dollars of U.S. aid has gone 
in Nicaragua. 

III. Request that the U.S. IMF Director provide a report on 
Nicaragua's economic policy reforms and its ability to comply 
with IMF policy reform benchmarks prior to release of IMF 
loans. 

IV. Fifty million dollars ($50,000,000) may be made avail­
able directly to international financial institutions from the 
U.S. Treasury on behalf of Nicaragua, provided that by Sep­
tember 20, 1992: 

A The Government of Nicaragua has replaced the San­
dinista-dominated leadership of the police with non-Sandi­
nista professionals. The approval process for those replace­
ments should be under the same commission delineated in 
paragraph I (C). The ground rules outlined in paragraph 
I (D) must be maintained. . 

B. The Government of Nicaragua has established an in­
flexible timetable that will demonstrate that paragraph I 
(A) and I (B) will be accomplished in an expedited manner. 
This timetable must be acceptable to the Department of 
State. 

C. The Government of Nicaragua has established an in­
flexible timetable acceptable to the Department of State 
and the commission delineated in paragraph I (C), that 
will accomplish each of those actions called for in para­
graphs I (D), I (E), I (F) and I (G). This timetable must be 
in an expedited basis. 

V. The ~ency for International Development shall monitor 
and track all disbursements of aid to ensure that U.S. fund$, 
or goods purchased by the United States, are not diverted to 
support Sandinista-owned businesses or organizations. Fur­
thermore, AI.D. shall monitor and track local currencies gen­
erated by U.S. economic assistance programs. Quarterly re­
ports will be submitted to the AID Inspector General and the 
Department of State of these actions. 

VI. The Department of State should provide all foreign ~ov­
ernments giving aid to Nicaragua and all Latin Amencan 
presidents a copy of this report. 

VII. The Department of State should stress to the Govern­
ment of Nicaragua the importance that should be placed on im­
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plementing Constitutional changes on which the UNO coalition 
ran in the 1990 elections. 

VIII. Any future U.S. bilateral assistance that does go to 
Nicaragua should go through private non-Sandinista controlled 
banks, not state-owned banks nor the Central Bank. 

DEBORAH L. DE Moss. 



L President Chamorro's First Two Years 

Sandinista President Daniel Ortega lost the 1990 Nicaraguan 
Presidential elections to Violeta Chamorro, wife of Pedro Joaquin 
Chamorro, the late publisher of Nicaragua's oldest newpaper, La 
Prensa. Ortega received only 40.8 percent of the vote compared to 
Mrs. Chamorro's 54.7 percent. The United Nicaraguan Opposition 
(UNO), the coalition which backed Mrs. Chamorro, won a majority 
in the National Assembly. 

Despite losing by a wide margin, Daniel Ortega vowed over 
Radio Sandino two days after the election, that the Sandinistas 
would "rule from below." From the day after the election until Mrs. 
Chamorro was inaugurated, Sandinista officials worked to make 
sure that they would accomplish that goal. 

A LACAYO-ORTEGA 

Mrs. Chamorro's first act as President was to announce that San­
dinista General Humberto Ortega would remain as Commander-in­
Chief of the Sandinista Popular Army. She then appointed her son­
in-law, Antonio Lacayo, as her most senior advisor and gave him 
the title of Minister of the Presidency. This position is equivalent 
to that of United States' White House Chief of Staff. 

Antonio Lacayo was born in 1947, and was trained by the Jesu­
its. He remained in business in Nicaragua throughout the Sandi­
nista regime. According to his friends, Lacayo prospered signifi­
cantly during that time by conducting buoiness with the Sandi­
nistas. Lacayo's unclassified biography from the Central Intel­
ligence Agency confirms accounts of his financial success with the 
Sandinistas. 

Friends of Lacayo confirmed to the Senate Foreign Relations 
Committee (SFRC) Republican staff that he became involved in cot­
ton seed oil and poultry ventures on the basis of contracts and mo­
nopolies granted by the Sandinista dictatorship. Nicaraguan 
sources claim that Lacayo's partners in some of these ventures in­
cluded Commander Jaime Wheelock, one of the nine original Sandi­
nista Commanders, and General Humberto Ortega. 
Man~ of Lacayo's relatives and friends have confided to the 

SFRC Republican staff that Lacayo maintains a close business and 
personal relationship with the Ortega brothers. A member of Anto­
nio Lacayo's staff told us that in 1990 he formed CODISA, a meat 
packing business, with General Humberto Ortega and Bayardo 
Arce, one of the nine original Sandinista Commanders. This com­
pany allegedly exports meat to Mexico and is operated bY' Mr. 
Ramiro Contreras, who handles General Ortega's business deals. 

Preliminary investigations of Mr. Lacayo's business interests re­
veal that he has already received financing to operate a shrimp
farm on confiscated property. This information has been con­
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firmed to SFRC Republican staff by two sources with direct knowl­
edge of this business deal. 

A source close to Lacayo confided that former President Daniel 
Ortega shares a social friendship with Lacayo. According to this 
source, on December 24, 1991, the biggest holiday of the year in 
Nicaragua and one spent only with very close friends, Daniel Or­
tega and his wife were dinner guests in the home of Antonio 
Lacayo and his wife Cristiana, the daughter of President 
Chamorro. 

Lacayo also maintains a close relationship with other Sandinista 
officials. Several sources in the Nicaraguan Government have con­
firmed to us that Lenin Cerna, Sandinista intelligence chief, has an 
office near to Lacayo's on the fourth floor of the Presidency. 

B. CHAMORRO'S AGREEMENT WITH THE SANDINISTAS 

Before the inauguration, Mrs. Chamorro appointed Antonio 
Lacayo to represent the UNO coalition (which supported Mrs. 
Chamorro in the elections) in transition negotiations with the San­
dinistas. General Humberto Ortega represented the Sandinistas. 

In the final a~eement on March 27, 1990, known as the "Proto­
col of Transition " Lacayo disregarded the platform of the UNO coa­
lition on which Mrs. Chamorro ran by making key concessions to 
the Sandinistas. In essence, the Protocol reaffirms the Sandinista 
Constitution of 1987 and recognizes the "achievements and trans­
formations implemented" during the Sandinista regime. 

The Protocol signed between the incoming Chamorro Govern­
ment and the Sandinistas also calls for the following: 

• Respect for the Sandinista Popular Army; 
• Respect for the Sandinista National Police; 
• Maintaining the ranks, hierarchy, promotion roster and 	com­

mand structure of the Sandinista Popular Army and the N a­
tional Police; 

• Legal security for those persons who had confiscated properties 
under the Sandinista regime; 

• 	All weapons and combat equipment to remain solely in the 
hands of the Sandinista Armed Forces; and 

• A guarantee of job security for all Sandinista employees in the 
Government bureaucracy. 

A reliable source told the SFRC Republican staff that Lacayo
agreed to let General Ortega remain as Commander-in-Chief of the 
Sandinista Popular Army for an indefinite period of time in a se­
cret addendum to the Protocol. A Nicaraguan source very close to 
Mrs. Chamorro informed SFRC Republican staff that Antonio 
Lacayo told his mother-in-law that he would only serve in her Gov­
ernment if General Ortega retained his position. This source con­
firmed that in a meeting with approximately 40 of President-elect 
Chamorro's top advisors, only Lacayo and one other person insisted 
on keeping Ortega i:p. the Government. 

C. CHAMORRO'S AGREEMENT WITH THE RESISTANCE 


During the transition period, the Government also negotiated the 
Toncontin Agreement with the Nicaraguan Resistance. This Agree­
ment set out the terms under which the Nicaraguan Resistance 
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would demobilize and disarm. It was signed on March 3, 1990 by
Nicaraguan Resistance leaders, the Chamorro Government and a 
representative of Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo. These agree­
ments should have been the first steps toward the "national rec­
onciliation" promised by Mrs. Chamorro between the former com­
batants and the Government of Nicaragua. 

Less than a month later, on April 18, 1990, Nicaraguan Resist­
ance leaders sigt'!ed a cease-fire with General Humberto Ortega. 
During the first three months of the Chamorro Administration, the 
former Nicaraguan Resistance complied with their promises in the 
agreement and turned in 20,000 weapons. This was observed and 
verified by Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo. The terms of this 
Agreement are detailed in the Nicaragua Resistance Chapter. 

D. THE "SECRET" SAND1NISTA MILITARY LAw 

Before Mrs. Chamorro was elected, the Sandinista National As­
sembly quietly passed legislation affecting the military. Since this 
legislation was not published in La Gaceta, the official Nicaraguan 
Government register, until after Mrs. Chamorro's inauguration, it 
became known as "the secret Military Law." 

The military law mandates that the secret police and all intel­
ligence organIzations remain under the control of the Sandinista 
Popular Army. It also gives absolute control of the Sandinista 
Army to the Commander-in-Chief, General Humberto Ortega. Fur­
thermore, the law gives General Ortega indefinite tenure and re­
quires that the successor to General Ortega be chosen exclusively 
from the ranks of the Sandinista Popular Army. 

The Military Law relegates the Minister of Defense to purely cer­
emonial duties. Mrs. Cliamorro later signed two Presidential De­
crees which confirmed the "secret Military Law" and General 
Ortega's absolute power. (Decrees No. 1-91 and 2-91) 

There were no significant changes in the structure of the Sandi­
nista security forces after Mrs. Chamorro came to power. The 
minor changes include the following: 

• The mandatory draft was eliminated; 
• Sandinista State Security and intelligence l!Pparatus relocated 

from the Ministry of the Interior to the offices of the Sandi­
nista Popular Army; 

• Senior intelligence officers were given Army ranks; and 
• Some Army personnel were transferred to other Sandinista se­

curity forces or paramilitary organizations. 
Instead of working to implement further military reform, Mrs. 

Chamorro has essentially maintained the status quo. Senior Sandi­
nista military chiefs have moved from one position to another with­
in the Sandinista Popular Army, but all the players are the same 
as they were during the Sandinista regime. (See chapter on the 
Sandinista Command Structure) 

When the elected representatives of the National Assembly 
passed a law in late 1991 to reduce substantially the annual budg­
et for the Sandinista military, Mrs. Chamorro vetoed the law. Tlie 
official budget for the military and folice is currently more than 
15 percent of the Nicaraguan nationa budget. Nicaraguan Govern­
ment sources, however, confirm that the budget for the security
forces is almost 25 percent of the total budget-in spite of the fact 
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that there is no known threat in the region. Neighboring country 
Honduras (which has twice the population of Nicaragua) uses only 
1.8 percent of its entire national budget for military and police ex­
penditures. 

E. "LA PINATA" 

Other important bills that became law after the 1990 election, 
but before Mrs. Chamorro's inauguration, included those which 
dealt with confiscated property. These laws are collectively known 
as "La Pinata," an allusion to the candy-stuffed papier-mache ani­
mals children break open on their birthdays. 

In short, the Sandinista legislators in the National Assembly le­
galized the property confiscations which had occurred during the 
Sandinista regime and allowed key Sandinista leaders and their 
friends to confiscate even more property. The media reported that 
the "Pinata" land grab encompassed more than one million acres 
of farmland and over ten thousand homes. (The Washington Post, 
June 23, 1991.) 

According to Nicaraguan legal scholars, Mrs. Chamorro has no 
intention of making progress on returning confiscated properties to 
the rightful owners. Instead of attempting to reverse the massive 
property confiscations, Mrs. Chamorro upheld the "Pinata" laws, 
and gave le~al titles to all those who had stolen property during 
the last regIme by issuing Presidential Decrees 46-91 and 47-91. 
Furthermore, she personally signed fifteen confiscation decrees in 
1979 as a member of the Sandinista ruling Junta. 

F. NEPOTISM 

Mrs. Chamorro was elected with the support of a broad based co­
alition of political parties, the UNO coalition. Since her election, 
however~ her Administration has appointed relatives and friends, 
rather tnan UNO coalition members, to important Government 
posts. Sources close to President Chamorro and her top aide, Anto­
nio Lacayo, told SFRC Republican staff that dozens of relatives of 
Chamorro and Lacayo have been named to Government posts. Fol­
lowing is a list of just some of these relatives who have held posi­
tions at one time in the Chamorro Administration. 

• Carlos Jose Barrios, brother of President Chamorro-Ambas­
sador to France' 

• Alberto Barrios nephew of President Chamorro-President of
jIndustrial Peop e's Corporation (Government Agency) 

• Ricardo Barrios, nephew of President Chamorro-Vice Presi­
dent, Central Bank 

• Ricardo Elizondo, father-in-law of President Chamorro's 	son­
Ambassador to Guatemala 

• Pedro Joaquin Chamorro, 	son of President Chamorro, former 
Ambassador to Taiwan 

• Luis Cardenal, cousin of President Chamorro-Ambassador to 
EI Salvador 

• Manuel Jose Torres Barrios, cousin of President 	Chamorro­
Ambassador to Venezuela 

• Manuel Jose Torres Jr., nephew of President Chamorro- Dep­
uty Chief of Mission in Nicaraguan Embassy in Taiwan 
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• Noel 	Vidaurre , nephew of President Chamorro-former Vice 
Minister of Economy 

• Filadelfo 	 Chamorro, cousin of President Chamorro-Ambas­
sador to Spain 

• Alvaro Chamorro, cousin of President 	Chamorro-Minister of 
Tourism 

• Mariano Fiallos Oyanguren, cousin of Antonio 	Lacayo-Presi­
dent, Supreme Electoral Council 

• Ernesto Fonseca, father-in-law of Antonio Lacayo's 	brother­
Ambassador to Mexico 

• Eduardo Holman Chamorro, nephew of President Chamorro­
Manager, state-owned banana company 

• Clarisa Barrios, 	niece of President Chamorro-Private Sec­
retary to President Chamorro 

• Gabriel Urcuyo, nephew of President Chamorro-Director of 
Expo, Seville 1992 

• Maribel Urcuyo, sister-in-law of President Chamorro's 	son­
Advisor, Minister of Tourism 

• Colonel Oswaldo Lacayo, cousin of Antonio Lacayo-Vice Chief 
of Staff, Sandinista Popular Army 

• Alfonso Ortega Urbina, uncle of the Ortega brothers-Ambas­
sador to Brazil. 

G. RECONCILIATION WITH THE SANDINISTAS 

Since President Chamorro came to power her policy has been one 
of cooperation and acquiescence to the Sandinista National Lib­
eration Front. When the Sandinistas were soundly defeated at the 
ballot box, there was great hope around the world that democracy 
would be established in Nicaragua. 

Financial and moral support for Mrs. Chamorro and the new 
Government poured in from around the world. But she has done 
little to maintain the support and confidence of the people of Nica­
ragua, the coalition of parties which supported her during the elec­
tions, or the former Nicaraguan Resistance members who fought 
for 10 years to free Nicaragua. 

After Mrs. Chamorro came to power, the Sandinista labor union, 
the National Federation of Workers, went on strike. When violence 
broke out, the Sandinista security forces did little to curb the street 
violence. 

The Chamorro Government capitulated to virtually all of the 
strikers' demands. It raised state employee wages, strengthened job 
security for the entrenched Sandinista bureaucracy, guaranteed 
continued transportation subsidies, and promised to uphold the 
confiscation laws and decrees. 

The policy of reconciliation with the Sandinistas has resulted in 
the perpetuation of grave human rights violations in Nicaragua. 
The SFRC Republican staff has compiled a list of 217 former com­
batants of the Nicaraguan Resistance who have been assassinated 
since Violeta Chamorro came to power. (See chapter on Assas­
sinated Resistance Members) According to human rights leaders, 
virtually every assassination of a former Resistance combatant can 
be attributed to one of the Sandinista security forces or para­
military organizations. No one has ever paid for these crimes. 
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Dozens of Nicaraguan leaders told staff that these human rifhts 
abuses will not cease until there is radical military and judicia re­
form, and until all senior Sandinistas are removed from all the se­
curity forces. 

These same Nicaraguans have explained that there will never be 
a state of law in Nicaragua until the Supreme Court is out of the 
control of the Sandinistas and until the Sandinista Constitution of 
1987 is amended. As of this date, the Sandinistas control five out 
of nine seats on the Supreme Court. Mrs. Chamorro has the power 
to name as many justices as she chooses so that the Sandinistas 
will not maintain a majority. She has chosen not to do so. 

The Sandinista Constitution of 1987 still governs Nicaragua, be­
cause Mrs. Chamorro has not yet sent forward a package of con­
stitutional amendments to the National Assembly. This is in spite 
of the fact that the coalition which she headed campaigned for 17 
constitutional changes. 

H. CONCLUSION 

In the last two years, many Nicaraguans have told us of their 
concerns that United States economic assistance is being misused, 
benefiting relatives and friends of those in power and propping up 
the Sandinistas. This report confirms many of these allegations. 

The course which Mrs. Chamorro has chosen to follow thus far 
has forced the UNO coalition, which supported her during the elec­
tions, to move into an opposition role against the Government. In 
the National Assembly, the Sandinistas are now in an alliance with 
Mrs. Chamorro, Antonio Lacayo and Humberto Ortega. The UNO 
coalition legislators now oppose the key Government policies, the 
permanence of General Ortega in power and the partnership of the 
Chamorro Government with the Sandinista National Liberation 
Front. 

The architects of the Nicaraguan Government's policies are Mrs. 
Chamorro's son-in-law and Minister of the Presidency, Antonio 
Lacayo and Sandinista Popular Army chief, General Humberto Or­
tega. A source well versed in Nicaraguan politics and who knows 
Mrs. Chamorro well told the SFRC Republican staff that both 
Lacayo and General Ortega must leave the Nicaraguan Govern­
ment for the good of the country. According to this source, one man 
can not survive without the other, and the country cannot survive 
if either stays in power. 

This report does not take issue over whether or not the Nica­
raguan people made the right decision in electing Mrs. Chamorro, 
as that is a question of national sovereignty. Rather this report 
raises questions al?out the legitimacy of sending U.S. Taxpayers' 
money to support the current Nicaraguan Government. These ques­
tions include: 

• When the Sandinistas lost the elections and obtained only 40.8 
percent of the vote, whr do they still have absolute control of 
the Army, the Nationa Police, the intelligence apparatus, all 
the courts and all major bodies of the Government? 

• Why does the country still govern under the Sandinista Con­
stitution of 1987? 
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• Why does 	it appear that nothing except the disarming of the 
Nicaraguan Resistance has occurred by way of change since 
the 1990 election? 

• Why should United States taxpayers' money be used to support
this government, as it is now constituted? 



n. The Failure to Return Confiscated Properties 

One of the major problems facing the Government of Nicar~ 

today is the failure to return tens of thousands of confiscated 
homes, businesses and parcels of land. The Senate Foreign Rela­
tions Committee (SFRC) Republican staff has conducted exhaustive 
research on the issue of confiscated properties. We have received 
literally thousands of letters and phone calls from both American 
and NIcaraguan citizens stating that they have attempted to re­
cover their confiscated properties-but to no avail. 

Based on conversations with United States Government legal au­
thorities, it is our opinion that United States law prohibits this 
country from continuing to send foreign assistance to the Govern­
ment of Nicaragua under the current circumstances. Foreign aid 
should continue to be susp_ended to the Government of Nicaragua 
as it has been with other Central American countries until all con­
fiscated properties are returned to American citizens. 

We believe that the Chamorro Government has not demonstrated 
the will to return confiscated properties. According to Mr. Oscar 
Herdocia, a prominent Nicaraguan jurist, this may be due in part
to the fact that Mrs. Chamorro herself s!gned fifteen confiscation 
decrees when she was a member of the Sandinista Junta. (Presi­
dent Chamorro offered Mr. Herdocia a place on the Supreme Court, 
which he declined.) And since she has been President she has 
signed two more executive decrees validating the three Sandinista 
confiscation decrees of March and April 1990. 

A THE NUMBER OF CONFISCATED PROPERTIES 

As of August 1, the staff has compiled information on 465 Amer­
ican citizens who have one or more confiscated properties in Nica­
r~a. In total, we estimate that the claims of these 465 Americans 
total at least 2,000 homes, parcels of land, and businesses. The 
United States Department of State provided the Committee with a 
list of 284 Americans who have contacted the American Embassy 
with property claims. 

It is reasonable to assume that there may still be hundreds of 
American citizens who have not yet filed claims for the return of 
property because they do not wish to expend the necessary re­
sources until they see a commitment on the part of the Govern­
ment of NicarB.g\¥l to return the confiscated properties. 

Not only has the Government of Nicaragua failed to resolve the 
claims of United States citizens, but the)' have also failed to return 
confiscated property to thousands of Nicaraguan citizens. Nica­
ra~an citizens must approach the Government of Nicaragua di­
rectly or through legal representation. President Chamorro nas told 
United States Members of Congress that confiscated Nicaraguan 
properties total 18,000. Other credible estimates reach as high as 
30,000 homes, businesses and parcels of land. Furthermore, there 

(9) 
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are citizens from many other Latin American and European coun­
tries who own confiscated properties in Nicaragua. Citizens of all 
nationalities have been unable to recover their confiscated prop­
erties. 

B. THE "PRoCESS" FOR FILING PRoPERTY CLAIMS 

One of the major problems in solving the property issue in Nica­
ragua is the lack of any defined procedure for filing a claim. 

Soon after the Chamorro Government came into office in April 
1990, the National Review Commission was created under the At­
torney General to facilitate the return of all confiscated properties. 
Claimants were told they had only six months to file all claims. 
Many American citizens filed claims in the Office of the Attorney
General at that time. In fact, American citizens continued to file 
claims with both the American Embassy in Managua and the office 
of the Attorney General for a period of two years. 

In May of 1991, it was ordered by decree that all files be trans­
ferred from the Office of the Attorney General to the Office of Anto­
nio Lacayo, Mrs. Chamorro's son-in-law and Minister of the Presi­
dency. Included in those files were the cases of American citizens. 

At the end of 1991, the Nicaraguan Foreign Ministry took over 
the cases of United States citizens with property claims in Nica­
ragua. The case files of Americans who had already filed claims 
however, were never transferred to the Foreign Ministry. There­
fore, Americans who filed claims almost two years ago, are now 
having difficulty even getting their cases considered. 

Earlier this year, the United States Embassy in Managua devel­
oped a questionnaire for American citizens, in order to assist the 
Embassy in processing the requests. This was an informal two page 
form sent out to citizens who had already contacted the United 
States Embassy. 

On June 10, 1992, the Nicaraguan Foreign Minister informed the 
United States Embassy that the Government of Nicaragua was 
now going to require the new questionnaire as part of all formal 
claims. However, all American citizens we contacted stated that 
neither the Government of Nicaragua, nor the United States Em­
bassy ever notified them that this new questionnaire had suddenly
become a "requirement" in order for the Government of Nicaragua 
to consider a claim. The United States Embassy sent out a letter 
tellin~ people that the purpose of the form was to "assist" the 
Amencan Embassy, but it was never stated that it was now re­
quired by the Government of Nicaragua in order to process a claim. 

Consequently, there are possibly hundreds of American citizens 
who have already filed claims with the United States Embassy or 
the Nicaraguan Attorney General, and are completely unaware 
that their files are now being considered "incomplete" by the Gov­
ernment of Nicaragua, simply because they have not filled out the 
new two page questionnaire. 

C. THE NICARAGUAN GoVERNMENT's INACTION ON THE RETURN OF 
CONFISCATED PROPERTIES 

Despite the enormity of this property crisis, there is little to no 
evidence that the Government of Nicaragua is committed to return­
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ing private properties that were stolen or confiscated by the Sandi­
nistas. While the Government of Nicaragua has stated publicly its 
commitment to resolving property claims, the record of the past 28 
months paints a dramatically different picture. 

Our review has found the Nicarag1l8.n Government's explanations 
of the alleged return of properties of American citizens to be either 
misleading, inaccurate, or false. Our staff findings are in full ac­
cord with the findings of the General Accounting Office (GAO) draft 
report on NicaraIDla (dated June 4, 1992) which states: "we could 
find no evidence during our review that the Government of Nica­
ra~ is in the process of resolving U.S. citizens' claims for expro­
pnated property."

One of President Chamorro's two campaign pledges in 1990 was 
the return of confiscated properties. Officials from the United 
States Embassy, and Nicaraguans in and out of Government, 
agreed that without action to secure the respect for private prop­
erty there will be little to no investment in Nicaragua. All Nica­
raguans we met-with the exception of representatives of the 
Cnamorro Government-agreed that the Government's track record 
on this score is disgraceful. 

Of particular concern is the fact that material was provided to 
the Republican staff of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee 
and to other Members of Collgress by the Nicaraguan Government 
which is factually incorrect. We can only reach the conclusion that 
the Government of Nicaragua is either uninformed, or is delib­
erately trying to deceive the United States Congress by providing 
names of individuals whose property has not been returned to 
them. SFRC Republican staff can only assume that the Nicaraguan
Government expects that Congress will take such assertions at face 
value. 

The following is an analysis of the steps the Government of Nica­
ragua claims to have taken-followed by documentation that re­
futes the assertions that certain properties have been returned. 

According to the Nicaraguan Attorney General and numerous 
other individuals whom we interviewed, the National Review Com­
mission was highly ineffective. No concrete mechanism was estab­
lished for processing property claims, and cases were not analyzed 
in any systematic order. On December 13, 1991, the National As­
sembly upheld President Chamorro's veto of a law intended to es­
tablish a mechanism to return property. President Chamorro has 
submitted no legislative proJi>osals of her own on this issue, and the 
National Assembly is plannmg another attempt to pass legislation 
which would enable the return of confiscated property. 

Beginning in mid-1991, the Minister of the Presidency Antonio 
Lacayo (who has been accused by the Comptroller General of Nica­
ragua of involvement in the theft of up to US$l million in foreign 
assistance), took the unusual step of transferril!g all files regarding 
property claims from. the office of the Attorney General to his office. 
He reportedly now has 4,600 files in his office and a team of twelve 
la'!)'ers analyzing the cases. 

The Government of Nicaragua, in materials submitted to the Re­
publican staff of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee (dated 
July 6, 1992) asserts: "the Ministry of Foreign Affairs has devel­
oped an office which will be exclUSIvely dedicated to facilitate the 
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resolution of the confiscation to United States citizens. Cases for 
Nicaraguan citizens will be entirely handled by the Attorney Gen­
eral." As of July 17, 1992, the Attorney General had not received 
any of the files from the Minister of the Presidency. 

Moreover, the Foreign Minister assured us that a new position 
of a Deputy Attorney General will be created to handle claims in­
volving Americans and Nicaragll!ins. To date, the new position has 
not been filled. In the situation that now exists, it appears that the 
Nicaraguan Government still has competing offices and no central 
direction on this issue. 

D. SPECIFIC CASES OF AMERICAN CITIZENS 

The Government of Nicaragua has submitted to SFRC Repub­
lican staff several lists of American citizens who have allegedly had 
their properties returned. Based on discussions with the individ­
uals listed and the Committee To Recover Confiscated American 
Properties In Nicaragua we have found the list to be highly mis­
leading, and, in many cases, simply untrue. 

The first list provided to the staff in June 1992 contains the 
names of nine American citizens with a corresponding description 
of the property that was reportedly returned. A second similar list 
dated July 6, 1992, contains the names of 21 Americans. The list 
provided by the Government of Nicaragua is reproduced below. 

Claimant 

1. Smith C. Jorge 

2. Kettel Charles 
3. Vasalli Roberto 

4. Garold Larue 
5. Alicia Clayton 
6. William Curtiss Hentgen 
7. Maria Luisa Labro 
8. Teodolinda Becklin 
9. Lothrop Shirley 

10. Bendafia Frank 
11. Freeman Frederick 
12. Cohen Edith 
13. Arthur Floyd Jones 

14. Jorge Smith Pastora 

15. Rosita Pellas 

Property Returned 

Finca "La Trinidad" 
Finca "EI Muiieco" 
Finca "EI Diamante" 
Casa En Boaco 
Casa En Huehuete 
kencia Vasalli S.A., 
Afmacenadora Del Pacifico 
Agropecuario "EI Charco" 
Beneficio De Cafe En Sebaco 
Casa En Pachomil 
Casa 
Casa En EI Velero 
20 Casas Colonia Becklin 
Casa En Matagalpa. 
Finca "EI Quetzal" 
Centro Comercial En Estell 
Fabrica "EI Chipirul" 
Acciones En: 
-Tip-Top 
-Encubadoras S.A. 
Finca "EI Campamento San 

Luis" 
Finca "San Jorge" 
Finca "EI Carmen" 
Acciones En Ingenio San Anto­

nio 
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Claimant 

16. Gloria Barton 

17. Tom Barton 

18. Sharon Barton 

19. Victoria Frauz 

20. Deborah Butter 

21. Kathy Whitney 

Property Returned 

Acciones En Ingenio San Anto­
nio 

Acciones En Ingenio San Anto­
nio 

Acciones En Ingenio San Anto­
nio 

Acciones En Ingenio San Anto­
nio 

Acciones En Ingenio San Anto­
nio 

Acciones En Ingenio San Anto­
nio 

Neither list mentions that in many cases the property specified 
is only one of many properties that were confiscated from that indi­
vidual. The list leaves the reader with the impression that each 
claimant has been completely satisfied. 

The following is an analysis of just some of the cases that the 
Nicaraguan Government provided on the list of 21 cases they claim 
are resolved. The number to the left of each name corresponds with 
the number of each name on the list provided by the Nicaraguans 
and reproduced above. In almost every case, our office was con­
tacted by the individual, a close relative, or lawyer familiar with 
the case to dispute the claims made hv the Government of Nica­
ragua. In most cases the individuals also submitted signed docu­
ments supporting their assertions. The names shown are only a few 
examples of the duplicit,r. of the Nicaraguan Government. 

No.1. Jorge C. SmIth and his son, No. 14. Jorge C. Smith 
Pastora are both deceased. The inheritor of these properties is Luz 
Marina Benard de Smith, the secretary to Minister of the Presi­
dency Antonio Lacayo (which may explain why that particular
property was returned). While the list states that four properties 
were returned, we have a letter from the daughter-in-law of Jorge 
C. Smith (July 4, 1992) stating that a fifth property not listed still 
has not been returned. Jorge C. Smith Pastor a is listed as having 
received three properties. However, we have a signed document 
from his wife (Luz Marina Benard de Smith), stating that the es­
tate has not received a fourth property. 

No.2. Charles Kettel, a member of the Committee To Recover 
Confiscated American Properties in Nicaragua, also appears on the 
list as having a house returned. When he learned that his name 
was on a list being circulated by the Nicaraguan Government he 
wrote the United States Embassy: saying, "I wish to make clear 
that in fact nothing has yet been legally returned to myself or any 
member of my family, The house in Huehuete to which they refer 
as if this were our sole asset in Nicaragua, is a small rustic beach 
house on the Pacific coast and doesn't amount to even 3 per cent 
of what has been stolen from us. Besides, we have been told that 
this return is not legal but only gives us the right to administrate 
the property," Mr. Kettel has no legal title to the house. Mr. Kettel 
also details six other properties that are not even mentioned on the 
list. 
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No.3. Roberto Vasalli is listed as having received three con­
fiscated properties. However, he wrote to infonn us that of those 
three, only one has been officially returned. In fact, the Govern­
ment of Nicaragua is billing him US$3.2 million to repossess one 
of the businesses that is listed as having been returned 
(Almacenadora del Pacifico). With regard to another property list­
ed-Agr-opecuaria "EI Charco"-the Government of Nicaragua is 
billing him for equipment that was installed while the property 
was confiscated. While Vasalli is willing to pay for the depreciated 
value of the equipment, the Government is billing him for its origi­
nal value. 

Mr. Vasalli also has claims to at least six other properties or 
businesses that are not included in the Government's official list. 
Over the last two years, Mr. Vasa11i has spent virtually all of his 
time, and a vast percentage of his resources, attempting to recover 
his properties and businesses. 

No.4. Garold LaRue is listed as having received a property 
named in Sebaco, Nicaragua. Upon speaking with LaRue and his 
lawyer however, we learned the Government informed him that he 
could take possession, but when he attempted to do so, it was 
reconfiscated within two weeks by members of the Sandinista mili­
tary. After further attempts to recover the property it was ulti­
mately returned, but it had been physically destroyed. For that 
reason, he is unwilling to sign a document stating that the claim 
has been resolved since he has received no compensation for the de­
struction. 

The list does not mention that LaRue has three other confiscated 
properties that have not been returned. Two of them are occupied 
by Sandinistas. To achieve the minimal progress to date Mr. 
LaRue traveled to Nicaragua on at least seven occasions, depieting 
most of his life savings. 

No.6. William Curtiss Hentgen admits the house mentioned 
on the list was finally returned. However, his wife infonned us that 
the house is in such poor condition that it is uninhabitable and of 
minimal value. Mr. Hentgen also owns other property in Chontales 
which has not been returned. He also owned substantial shares in 
banks that were confiscated and have not been returned. 

No.7. Maria Luisa Labro is listed as receiving her house in 
Velero. In fact, she did not receive her residence but rather re­
ceived her beach house in early July 1992. On July 20, 1992 she 
wrote to inform us: "Everything had been removed, including the 
basins; toilets, showers, doors, air conditioners and even the elec­
tric panel." Her actual home was "sold" by the Sandinista Govern­
ment and has been occupied since March 30, 1990 by a Captain in 
the Sandinista Popular Army. Other properties that were owned by 
her late husband (tortured and killed by the Sandinistas in 1978) 
have also not been returned. 

No.8. Teodolinda Becklin is one of the most prominent people 
in Nicaragua. The Sandinistas seized all her property and busi­
nesses~ and literally left her on the street. Her advancing age has 
made ner attempts to recover her properties extremely stressful. 
She is listed as having received twenty properties of the Becklin es­
tate. Her niece contends that only seven of those properties have 
been returned. She is unable to occupy the homes because the Gov­
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ernment of Nicaragua has reportedly set the condition that the 
Government will rent her houses for the next three years and give 
her only US$200 per month for each house. 

No. 12. Edith Cohen is listed as receiving her candy factory "EI 
Chipirul." She informed us that the factory was returned, but it 
had been destroyed and is now used for a warehouse. She received 
no compensation for the damage. The list does not mention that 
she claims textile factories valued at US$3 million that have not 
been returned. Her personal residence has also not been returned. 
It was confiscated and occupied by the Sandinista Minister of En­
ergy, Emilio Rappaccioli. The property was passed to Rappaccioli's 
wife as part of a divorce settlement-and legally registered in his 
ex-wife's name after Chamorro was elected. Rappaccioli reportedly 
then moved into the confiscated home of another American citizen 
who now lives in Texas. It is important to emphasize that 
Rappaccioli remains in his post as a Minister of the Chamorro Gov­
ernment. 

No. 13. Arthur Floyd Jones is listed as receiving shares in 
companies called Tip Top and Encubadoras S.A Jones contends 
that the shares in Tip Top were never confiscated in the first place. 
The shares in Encubadoras were sold by Jones in July 1991. In 
short, the Government is claiming that they returned property that 
was never confiscated, while ignoring Jones' legitimate claims for 
three houses. On July 29, 1992, Jones wrote to us: "the Nicaraguan 
Government has not returned to me any property that I am claim­
ing." 

On July 17, 1992, the Government of Nicaragua submitted a list 
of 22 Americans that allegedly had their property returned. That 
list contains the same names as the list of 21 Americans that is 
analyzed above. The only new addition is Bruce Cuthbertson 
who is listed as receiving shares of stock in several companies. Mr. 
Cuthbertson is President of the Committee to Recover Confiscated 
American Properties in Nicaragua. Upon learning that his name 
was on the list provided by the Nicaraguans, Mr. Cuthbertson 
wrote in a letter of July 29, 1992: "THAT IS NOT TRUE! The stock 
was never confiscated from me." 

The inclusion of Mr. Cuthbertson on this list is even more per­
plexing since he met with the Nicaraguan Foreign Minister on July 
11, 1992, and "explained to him that my shares of stock had never 
been confiscated and that therefore they could not be returned to 
me." 

Given the time constraints on this first report, we were unable 
to complete our research of each of the 21 individuals listed. We 
are in the process of doing so. The findings as reported above clear­
ly demonstrate that the list provided on July 6, 1992 is a farce. 
Moreover, the updated list of July 17, 1992 included the name of 
an individual who met with the Foreign Minister just one week 
earlier to explain the fact that his case had not been resolved. We 
can only conclude that the Government of Nicaragua is inten­
tionally misleading the United States Congress. 
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E. THE BROADER IssUES OF CONFISCATED PROPERTIES IN 

NICARAGUA 


Almost everyone the SFRC Republican staff spoke with while in 
Nicaragua had had something confiscated by the Sandinistas. 
Many of those who lost properties to the Sandinistas were either 
American citizens at the time of confiscation or have become Amer­
ican citizens in the meantime. Each story involving the confiscation 
of property seems more compelling than the last. 

Some people have lost millions of dollars in businesses and per­
sonal residences. Other people have lost the only horne they ever 
owned. Many fled to the United States in order to start over again. 
Others who returned to Nicaragua with high hopes after the 1990 
elections have spent months (and more than two years in some 
cases) bouncing from one government ministry to the next-to no 
avail. In virtually every case, the people with whom we spoke who 
had lost their property know exactly who stole it and who is living 
in it at this time. 

Representatives of the Miami-based Committee to Recover Con­
fiscated American Properties in Nicaragua met with Nicaraguan 
Foreign Minister Ernesto Leal during his visit to the United States 
in early July 1992. The Leal visit was intended to explain the 
"progress" of the Chamorro government in resolving property
claims and other reforms. When we met with the claimants in 
Miami following that meeting they expressed unanimous dis­
satisfaction with the efforts taken by the Government of Nicaragua 
to resolve their claims. 

The list of occupants of many of the confiscated homes reads like 
a "Who's Who" of undesirables. For example, Cuban Ambassador 
Fernando Ravelo, who was indicted on drug charges in the United 
States, confiscated the horne belonging to an American citizen. The 
Chief of Staff of the Sandinista Popular Army lives in another. The 
widow of one of the nine original Sandinista Commanders lives in 
yet another. Perhaps of greatest concern is the fact that the highest 
law enforcement officials live in stolen homes: a Supreme Court 
Justice, the Chief of the National Police, and the Chief of Police of 
Managua. The list goes on and on. 

While driving through the streets of Managua our guide was able 
to point out dozens of confiscated residences that are now occupied 
by Sandinistas, senior officials of the current government, or gov­
ernment offices. The following cases are intended to illustrate the 
much broader problem. 

General Humberto Ortega, Commander-in-Chief of the Army and 
perhaps the most powerful man in Nicaragua, lives on an entire 
compound of stolen property. Upon assuming his position, Ortega 
seized an entire neighborhood that includes some 20 homes in a 
wealthy subdivision. This subdivision, which is located on a main 
highway outside of Managua, has been walled-in and is protected 
at all hours by military security. We measured the length of one 
side of the property as a little less than one half mile. Although 
General Ortega is technically employed by President Chamorro, 
there is no evidence that President Chamorro has taken steps to 
return the properties that Ortega seized to their rightful owners. 
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One individual whose property is located on the Ortega
compound works for the United States Embassy in Managua. Upon 
attempting to recover her property she learned that Ortega bad 
given her home to his daughter Elizabeth as a wedding gift in 
1989. It is well known in Managua that Ortega's daughter occupied 
that home after it was given to her. The house, however, was clev­
erly registered by General Ortega on April 24, 1990 under the 
name of Adela Candida Cardoza Brav~~ one of Ortega's servants. 
We were unable to find any evidence mat the servant ever lived 
in ,the house. ' 

Although the original owner has filed a formal claim for the 
property, there has been no progress to date in getting it returned. 
Since tnat property was the original owner's only property, she has 
been forced to pay rent on another residence pending resolution of 
this case. Reportedly, three other properties 10 the compound are 
also owned by American citizens. 

The Attorney: General is another senior government official who 
occupies a confiscated residence. Until recently, his office was lo­
cated in the home of one of the Nicaraguan Resistance leaders, 
Aristides Sanchez. We visited the Attorney General in his office on 
July 17, 1992, which is physically situated in Mr. Sanchez's father's 
bedroom. The current Attorney General-who has been in office for 
less than one year-stated publicly that he intended to move his 
office out of the Sanchez residence. In August, the Attorner Gen­
eral moved into another confiscatea residence. Mr. Sanchez home 
has still not been returned to him. 

The presence of the Attorney General-the senior law enforce­
ment officer in Nicaragua and the official responsible for overseeing 
the return of confiscated properties-in a confiscated home is a tell­
ing symbol of the Nicaraguan Government's lack of seriousness in 
dealing with this issue. 

One prominent Nicaraguan that we met, Dr. Mauricio Tefel, had 
his home confiscated by Carlos Fernando Chamorro, the son of 
President Chamorro. Carlos Fernando then passed the home to his 
sister-in-law who is the daughter of the Nicaraguan Ambassador in 
Guatemala. At one point, fiustrated with the lack of progress on 
obtaining his confiscated home, Dr. Tefel went to the house and 
showed the occuEant a resolution from the Attorney General order­
ing the property s return. 

The woman occupying the house produced a firearm and called 
Chamorro's son, Carlos Fernando, for assistance. Carlos Fernando 
reportedly arrived accompanied by members of the Sandinista mili­
tary. Carlos Fernando, who as editor of the Sandinista newspaper 
Barricada has no official position in the Nicaraguan government, 
reportedly then arrested Dr. Tefel and took him to the Sandinista 
National Police. Tefel, whose mother is a Mexican citizen, sought 
the intervention of the Mexican consul. As a result of the press at­
tention on this case, Tefel was ultimately granted physical posses­
sion of the home, but he has yet to ~ain legal title to it. 

In the rare cases where properties are returned they are gen­
erally in a state of disrepair. In many cases the property is 
stripped bare before it is returned. We visited one residence in Gra­
nada (approx. 40 kilometers from Managua) that had been seized 
for use as a regional office of the Interior Ministry for the Fourth 
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Region. In essence, it served as the regional intelligence head­
quarters. The Nicaraguan owner and his American wife, Jaime and 
Fatima Saenz, were able to retrieve this residence in November of 
1990 after some 150 meetings with a senior Nicaraguan Govern­
ment official. 

The damage to the property was extensive. For example the 
driveway was transformed into a helicopter landing pad and one of 
the sitting rooms was divided into four small rooms where individ­
uals were brought for interrogation and torture. We interviewed 
one woman who was psychologically tortured in the house. It was 
reported that land mines had been placed throughout the property. 

When the Sandinistas learned that they had to move out-after 
Chamorro was President-they looted the house. Wood from the 
closets, electrical wiring and plugs, sinks, door knobs, and ceramic 
tiles were among the many items extracted from the house. The 
original owner received no restitution for any of the damage and 
theft. The owner had to invest US$30,000 to restore the house to 
its prior condition. Meanwhile, the illegal occupant merely moved 
next door. 

When American citizens Peter and Mangui Sengelmann fled 
Nicaragua and Sandinista persecution in 1979, they left their five 
bedroom residence in the care of her sister, Ethel Montealegre. 
Mrs. Montealegre obtained a handwritten letter from Sandinista 
Commander Jaime Wheelock (Minister of Agrarian Reform) guar­
anteeing "respect and protection for Mangui's property." The house 
was later seized and occupied by Wheelock's own brother, Sandi­
nista Lt. Col. Ricardo Wheelock, Chief of Military Intelligence until 
1991,and currently Chief of Public Relations of the Sandinista 
Popular Army. 

The Sengelmanns contacted the Wheelock brothers, (who are 
cousins of Mangui Sengelmann) in March of 1990 after the election 
of Mrs. Chamorro. They were assured by Jaime Wheelock on April 
2, 1990, of his willingness to buy the house for a fair price (which 
was then estimated to be worth at least US$150,000). Four days 
later, on April 6th, in the midst of their negotiations, the Govern­
ment awarded the house to Ricardo Wheelock for the equivalent of 
US$I,470. 

All efforts to recover their home have been fruitless, even though 
both Mr. and Mrs. Sengelmann received favorable resolutions from 
the National Review Commission stating that their properties 
should be returned. Peter Sengelmann, and his brothers Tom, 
Jurgen, and Klaus, also United States citizens, have other claims 
pending for a machinery business and its two buildings a ten thou­
sand acre hacienda, another commercial building, and finally, their 
mother's house (now occupied by the Sandinista Popular Army.) 
N one of these properties has been returned to this date. 

F. LACK OF ENFORCEMENT OF PROPERTY "RESOLUTIONS" 

Even if there is a favorable judgment by the Nicaraguan Govern­
ment, there is no mechanism in place to enforce the return of con­
fiscated properties. The chief law enforcement officer of Managua, 
the Managua Chief of Police, Commander Alvaro Guzman Cuadra, 
lives in the confiscated home of an American. 

--.,---,-,~,.-
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Accordin~ to Fatima Saenz, the owner of the home (and an 
American citizen) her husband asked Guzman to leave their house 
in April 1990. Guzman told Saenz that as a good Sandinista he 
took orders from his party, and his party leaders had told him that 
the house belonged to him. Guzman also told Saenz that as Chief 
of Police for Managua it would set a bad example if he vacated the 
house because many comrades of his were in the same position. 
Saenz currently has a law suit ~ending against Guzman. 

Guzman's attitude is ~)'mbohc of one that plagues Nicaraguans 
throughout the country. We met with a group of farmers who trav­
eled 150 kilometers to Managua in order to meet with us. They ex­
plained that many people in their region (Estell) had received fa­
vorable resolutions from the "Review Commission" that were unen­
forceable. 

One man showed us an order for the return of his gas station. 
When he tried to take possession of it, Sandinista mobs attacked 
the local State Attorney who was seekin~ to enforce the order. He 
also received an order for the return of hIS cattle ranch, but it was 
invaded by mobs and authorities did not permit him to get it back. 
Other properties in that region were burned by Sandinista mobs. 

In Esteli, the office of tne State Attorney is located in a con­
fiscated property. The local office for the Ministry of Agriculture is 
located in a confiscated property-as is the local office of the Min­
ister of the Government. Tellingly, the Office of the Public Re$istry, 
where individuals register propertiesbis also in a confiscated prop­
erty. The farmers from Esteli descri ed properties that were con­
fiscated and occupied by Sandinista Army officers in June 1990, 
two months after Chamorro was sworn into office. SFRC Repy.b­
lican Staff has received other reports of confiscations since Mrs. 
Chamorro became President. 

In one high profile case the American owner of one property be­
came so frustrated by the unwillingness of the police to enforce his 
claim that he unilaterally occupied the residence. The Miami Her­
ald on July 1, 1992 described this case as follows: "Like man, own­
ers of confiscated properties, the Zeled6ns saw little relief In nor­
mal legal channels. Th~ won a favorable ruling from a special of­
fice created to deal with property claims, but it had little practical 
effect since it is impossible to obtain an eviction order with such 
rulin~s." Mr. Zeled6n was once again evicted from his home by the 
Sandinistas less than a month later. 

Based on dozens of meetings and discussions with individuals 
who lost their property, it is clear that absent a concrete enforce­
ment mechanism-resolutions by courts or any other judicial mech­
anism will merely be ignored by the occupants of confiscated prop­
erty. We do not consider that a claim has been resolved fully when 
the rightful owner receives a document stating such. We believe 
that a case is resolved only after the le~timate owner can take 
legal possession of his Rroperty in a conditIon acceptable to him. At 
that point he must be able to enjoy all of the rights of real property 
ownership afforded United States citizens. 

G. Is UNITED STATES POLICY ADDRESSING THE PROPERTY ISSUE? 

Our comprehensive review of the property issue in Nicara~ 
leads us to share the conclusion of the GAO draft report on Nlca­
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ragua which states: "resolving this problem does not appear to be 
very high on either agency's (State Department and AID) list of 
priorities." We believe that the U.S. Embassy and the AID mission 
in Managua have based their policies more on promises by the Nic­
araguan Government than the flaring realities in Nicaragua. Fi­
nally, we believe that the Unite States Embassys handling of this 
issue is working against the interests of United States citizens. 

H. DISCRIMINATION AGAINST NATURALIZED AMERICAN CITIZENS 

Nicaraguan officials have repeatedly asserted that they will place 
a higher priority on the return of property to individuals who were 
American citizens before their property was confiscated. Given the 
lack of priority they have placed on settling any American claims, 
it could be years before many American citizens get their prop­
erties returned, if ever. An article that appeared in Diario Las 
Americas on June 25, 1992, quotes Minister for External Coopera­
tion, Erwin Kruger, as saying: "Nicaraguans who had connections 
to the Somoza years and had acquired North American citizenship 
during their exile in the United States will never get their Nica­
ratlUan properties back." (This is an interesting statement, consid­
enng that Mr. Kruger himself had strong ties to Somoza and was 
an advisor to Mrs. Somoza.) We believe that the Government of 
Nicaragua must return all confiscated properties. Anyone who has 
properties confiscated has the right to recover his or her property.
We do not agree with the Chamorro Government's apparent plan 
to discriminate against certain American citizens. 

We believe that the Nicaraguan Government should not discrimi­
nate against any person based on the date on which the person ob­
tained United States citizenship. Unfortunately the United States 
Embassy in Managua is helpin~ the Nicaraguan Government dis­
criminate against certain Amencan citizens by providing the Gov­
ernment with the date an American became a citizen. 

All Americans with property claims are now required to fill out 
a two page form and submit it to the United States Embassy~ This 
form requires that the individual provide the exact date United 
States citizenship was acquired. The form is then passed on to the 
Government of Nicaragua. (The form does include a section where 
the individual grants consent to provide the complete form to the 
Nicaraguan Government.) However, the Nicaraguan Government 
will not consider returning the confiscated property until the claim­
ant has answered each question on the questionnaire. This puts 
the claimant in a catch-22 situation-either you provide the infor­
mation knowing it will be used to discriminate against you, or you 
do not answer the question with the result that the claim will not 
be considered at all. 

In short, the Embassy is passing information to the Government 
of Nicaragua that the Nicaraguans have said publicly will be used 
against claimants who were not American citizens wlien their prop­
erty was confiscated. The Miami-based Committee to Recover Con­
fiscated American Properties in Nicaragua has written the State 
Department to protest this policy, and has asked that the question 
regarding date of citizenship be deleted from the questionnaire. 
Dozens of other Americans with property claims have also called us 
to register their disdain for that policy. 

------,-.--~-.---, 
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The U.S. Embassy in Man~a is defending the right of the Nic­
araguan Government to discnminate against categories of Ameri­
cans. In a letter of July 1992, the State Department wrote: "Re­
garding the decision of the Nicaraguan Government to prioritize
the processing of U.S. citizens' claims, the Government is within its 
discretion under international and domestic law to begin focusing 
on any particular group of claims . . . We will continue to press
for the resolution by the Nicaraguan Government of all U.S. citizen 
claims." 

We find this approach by the State Department to be dis­
ingenuous at best. The U.S. Embassy in Mana~ is passing infor­
mation in a manner that it knows will be used to discriminate 
against certain Americans-while at the same time claiming its 
commitment to the resolution of all claims. . 

We have raised this issue on three separate occasions with the 
Charge D'Affaires at the United States Embassy, Mr. Ronald 
Godard, (twice in Nicaragua and once from Washington), as well as 
with high level State Department officials in Washington. 

I. THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE RIGHTS OF 

NATURALIZED CITIZENS 


The SFRC Republican staff has obtained a copy of an Analysis
and Interpretation of the Constitution of the United States ofAmer­
ica prepared by the Congressional Research Service of the Library 
of Congress. This legal opinion states: "Clearly, naturalized citizens 
are fully entitled to all the rights and privileges of those who are 
citizens because of their birth here." 

Chief Justice of the United States John Marshall stated in dic­
tum that "[a] naturalized citizen . . . becomes a member of the so­
ciety, possessing all the rights of a native citizen, and standing, in 
the view of the Constitution, on the footing of a native." 

A similar idea was expressed in Knauer v. United States: "Citi­
zenship obtained through naturalization is not a second-class 
citizenship . . ." 

The Supreme Court stated the same opinion in Luria v. United 
States (231 U.S. 22.) This opinion says, "Under our Constitution, a 
naturalized citizen stands on equal footing with the native citizen 
in all respects ..." And finally, the Fourteenth Amendment to the 
United States Constitution confirms that native citizens and nat­
uralized citizens enjoy equal rights. 

J. THE HICKENLOOPER AMENDMENT 

Section 620(e)(1) of the Foreign Assistance Act of 1961 as amend­
. ed-known as the Hickenlooper Amendment-requires that the 

President: 
"suspend assistance to the government of any country 

. . . when the government of such country has national­
ized or expropriated or seized ownership or control of prop­
erty owned by any United States citizen or by any cor­
poration, partnership, or association not less than 50 per 
centum beneficially owned by a United States citizen . . . 
and such country . . . fails within a reasonable time (not 
more than six months after such action . . .) to take ap­
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propriate steps . . . to dischat;.e its obligations under 
mternational law toward such cItizen or entity . . . and 
such suspension shall continue until the President is satis­
fied that appropriate steps are being taken, and the provi­
sions of this subsection shall not be waived with respect to 
any country unless the President determines and certifies 
that such a waiver is important to the national interest of 
the United States." 

To date, the administration has not invoked Hickenlooper. In re­
sponse to a GAO inquiry earlier this year, the State Department
wrote: "the Government of Nicaragua is in the process of taking ap­
propriate steps to discharge its obligations under international law 
and the prohibition in Section 620(e) of the Foreign Assistance Act 
does not apply (at this point)." 

In July 1992, after the erroneous lists anabrzed earlier in this 
chapter (of Americans who allegedly have had property returned) 
were provided by the Government of Nicaragua, the State Depart­
ment continued to contend that Hickenlooper was not applicable. In 
a letter to the President of the Committee to Recover Confiscated 
American Properties in Nicaragua, the State Department wrote: 
''The Amendment does not apply if the country in question is tak­
ing appropriate steps to discliarge its obligations under inter­
national law toward claimants. The Nicaraguan Government has 
set up and is about to reinforce a mechanism to resolve the claims. 
We have been assured that the Government is committed to the 
resolution of this issue." 

It is important to note that the Government of Nicaragua had 
been assuring the State Department since President Chamorro 
took power that they were committed to the resolution of this issue. 
On a trip to Washington in July the Foreign Minister of Nicaragua 
told staff that they are "still in the process of establishing a mecha­
nism to return property." So on the one hand the State Department 
asserts that the Government of Nicaragua "has set up and is about 
to reinforce a mechanism to return confiscated property," and on 
the other hand the Nicaraguan Government says that after two 
years they are still "setting up a mechanism." 

On June 24, 1992 the State Department wrote to Senator Helms: 
"the Department has been informed by the Government of Nica­
ragg.a that partial progress on a limited number of property claims 
of United States citizens has been made ... we seek to confirm 
such reports ..." However, a senior United States Government 
official told staff that the effort to confirm the veracity of the infor­
mation provided by the Government of Nicaragua did not begin 
until the last week of July 1992. We believe that the United States 
Government must make every effort to verify independently every 
claim made by the Government of Nicara~a regarding the resolu­
tion of the property claims of American citIzens. 

Both the Charge at the United States Embassy and the head of 
the AID mission in Managua informed us in a meeting on July 17, 
1992, in Managua, that the American Government probably would 
have suspended assistance to the Government of Nicaragua had it 
not been suspended by Congress. They explained that the Embassy 
was seeking further commitments from the Government of Nica­
ragua. We have found little evidence to support their statements 
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considering that the entire period that aid has been suspended the 
State Department has been issuing statements and letters indicat­
ing its belief that the Government of Nicaragua is committed to 
solving the property issue. 

This is reflected in the letter of July 1992 to the Committee To 
Recover Confiscated American Properties in Managua, in which the 
State Department argues against invoking Hickenlooper. As re­
cently as July 27, 1992, AID Administrator Ronald W. Roskens 
wrote: "We remain confident, however, that she (President 
Chamorro) and her senior officials will soon take the difficult but 
necessary steps needed to address the political issues that stand in 
the way of economic recovery and social reconciliation." . 

K STATE-OWNED ENTERPRISES 

It has been stated repeatedly to us that in order to reactivate the 
economy of Nicaragua, all private property rights must be re­
spected. The Government of Nicaragua has made minimal progress 
in returning all state-owned enterprises, and confiscated companies 
to their rightful owners. 

The National Privatization Corporation (CORNAP) was created 
by the Government of Nicaragua to privatize all of the state-owned 
enterprises. The government claims that CORNAP has thus far 
"privatized" 48 percent of all state-owned enterprises. 

The Committee Republican staff was told by the Comptroller 
General of Nicaragua that there were at least 600 state-owned en­
terprises in Nicaragua when the Chamorro Government carne to of­
fice. He finds it strange that CORNAP included only 351 companies 
under its jurisdiction. He believes that the other 250 companies 
may still be run by the Sandinista military. Many other knowledge­
able sources agree. 

For a period of three months the SFRC Republican staff has been 
requesting from the Nicaraguan and United States Governments a 
complete list of all 160 companies which allegedly have been 
''privatized." We repeatedly requested that both governments pro­
vide us with names of the original owners of each nationalized com­
pany and the name of the person(s) to whom it was returned. If 
it was not returned free of charge, we requested the information re­
garding the price of the sale. 

To date, we have received none of this information from either 
government. However, we have information from numerous sources 
that some of the so-called privatized companies have not been re­
turned to their original owners, rather have been given away to 
Sandinista cooperatives, or sold to a new owner. In fact, those own­
ers which have had companies returned have received approxi­
mately 75 percent of the stock. The other 25 percent is being given 
to the workers. 

UntH SFRC Republican staff is provided with complete informa­
tion on the so-called privatization of state-owned enterprises, it is 
impossible to verify the claims of the Government of Nicaragua 
with regard to this issue. 
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L. PRECEDENTS FOR WITHHOLDING AssISTANCE OVER PROPERTY 

CLAIMS OF U.S. CITIZENS 


It is perplexing that the United States Government did not with­
hold even a portion of the assistance to Nicaragua considering the 
fact that the State Department is currently doing so in Costa Rica. 
The United States has withheld US$10 million in economic assist­
ance to the Government of Costa Rica for more than two years dur­
ing the arbitration of property claims lodged by seven American 
citizens. All of those claims are still in arbitration, however they 
appear to be close to resolution due to the pressure of the withhold­
ingof aid. 

Congress voted to cut off economic assistance to Honduras in 
1985 due to the property claims of one United States citizen. Aid 
was suspended over a period of five years until the property claim 
was resolved to the satisfaction of the claimant. 

M. FINIQUITOS 

Citizens with confiscated properties in Nicaragua have told us 
that when they are completely satisfied with the resolution of their 
claims, they will sign a "fimquito," or the equivalent of a sworn 
statement. The SFRC Republican Staff believes that a signed
"finiquito" is the only true proof that a property claim is completely 
resolved. 

The Committee Republican staff asked the Nicara~n Foreign
Minister if he could provide us with signed "finiquitos, rather than 
a list of names of cases allegedly resolved. The Foreign Minister as­
sured us that he would send us "finiquitos" the following day. To 
this date, the Government of Nicaragua has not sent a single
signed "finiquito" of an American citizen. 

N. CONCLUSION 

A United States Government source in Washington, involved in 
the Nicaraguan issue, told the staff that "not one American case 
has been properly solved." Our own investigation leads us to the 
same conclusion as of this date. 

On the issue of return of property versus compensation, we be­
lieve that the claimant should have the option of recovering his 
property if he or she so desires, rather than be compensated for the 
property. But the evidence thus far leads us to conclude that the 
Government of Nicaragua has no intention of enforcing the expul­
sion of well-known Sandinista leaders, or influential Government 
employees from confiscated homes. In fact, our staff has evidence 
that the Government of Nicar~a has refused to even consider the 
claims of persons when their nome is illegally occupied by promi­
nent Sandinistas, current government officials, or government
agencies.

It is of particular concern that many Nicaraguan Government of­
ficials and Government offices are illegally occupying homes and 
businesses of American citizens. We believe that the Government 
of Nicaragua could begin to demonstrate the political will to return 
confiscated properties by vacating these properties and returning 
them to their lawful owners. 
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In conclusion, the staff who conducted this investigation believes 
that the property issue will not be resolved until the Nicaragwl!l 
Government returns all confiscated homes, businesses, and lands 
of American and Nicaraguan citizens, as well as those belonging to 
citizens of other nationalities. Furthermore, all nationalized or con­
fiscated businesses must be returned to their legitimate owners. 
Without the respect for basic private property riglits, no other eco­
nomic reforms in Nicaragua will be meaningful or lasting. 



III. Who Stole What 
All the information on this list was compiled from the Nica­

raguan and American citizens who had their properties confiscated. 
It was current as of August 1, 1992. 
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Who Stole What 
[Illustrative List of Properties Confiscated By Sandinista Military And Party Members, Government 

Leaders And Agencies, And Foreign Governments] 

Conf'lScator or Occupant Original Owner 

1) General Humberto Orte~a, Commander-in-Chief of the Armed Forces/one of 
nine original Sandinista Commanders 

2) General Ortega's wedding gift to dal.!ghter Elizabeth 
3) General Joaquin Cuadra Lacayo, Chief, Joint Chiefs of Staff, Sandinista 
Army 

4) General Joaquin Cuadra Lacayo 
5) Daniel Ortega, Secretary, Directorate of Sandinista National Liberation 
Front (FSLN) 

6) Ramon Romero Alonso, Supreme Court Justice 
7) Sandinista Commander Lenin Cerna, Chief, New State Security/one of nine 
original Sandinista Commanders 


8) Sandinista Commander Lenin Cerna; Inhabited by his sister 

9) Rene Vivas, Chief of National Police 


10) Alvaro Guzman Cuadra, National Deputy Chief of Police/Chief of Police for 
Managua

11) Sandinista Commander Jaime Wheelock, One of nine original Sandinista 
Commanders 

12) Lt. Col. Ricardo Wheelock, Spokesman and Head of Public Relations, Sandi­
nista Popular Army 

13) Esperanza Roman, mother, Jaime and Ricardo Wheelock 
14) Colonel Salvatierra; Chief Commander Nicaraguan Air Force 
15) Colonel Antenor Rosales, Chief of Intelligence, Sandinista Army 
16) Sandinista Commander Tomas Borge, ODe of nine original Sandinista Com­

manders, used by Office of Agrarian Reform (in name of nephew, Fernando 
Solis Borge) 

Guillermo and Gloria Cano 

Sandra Leets de Montenegro 
Bruce Cuthbertson * 
Indiana Lacayo de Pereira * 
Jaime and Amparo Morales 

Carazo 
Raul Alberto Rios ~ 

Eduardo Roman 00 

Ivan Osorio * 
Alfredo Montealegre 
Fatima Lacayo de Saenz * 
Donald Spencer 

Mangui Sengelmann * 
Alexis Arguello 
Ramon Pais * 
Michael Spencer * 
Leandro Marin-Abaunza * 
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17) Sandinista Commander Bayardo Arce, One of nine original Sandinista Com­
manders 

18) Sandinista Commander Luis Carrion, One of nine original Sandinista Com­
manders (Registered under his wife's name, Ana Patricia Lacayo de Carrion) 

19) Maria Lourdes Nunez Vargas, widow of Carlos Nunez (Former President of 
National Assembly! one of nine original Sandinista Commanders,) alternate 
FSLN Congresswoman 

20) Emilio Rappaccioli, Sandinista Minister of Energy 
21) Sandinista Commander Juan Jose Ubeda Herrera, Chief of Security, Na­

tional Police, Former Sandinista Deputy Chief of Secret Police 
22) Ambassador Fernando Ravelo, Ambassador from Cuba (Indicted in the U.S. 

on narcotics charges) 
23) Roberto Rondon Sacasa, Minister of Agriculture (He is building a house on 

her property.) 
24) Sandinista Commander Alvaro Baltodano Cantarero, General Ortega's Top 

Aide 
25) Sandinista Commander Dora Maria Tellez, FSLN Congresswoman/former

Minister of Health 
26) Sandinista Commander Dora Maria Tellez 
27) Sandinista Commander Doris Tijerino Haslam, FSLN Congresswoman,

former Sandinista Chief of Police 
28) Sandinista Commander Charlotte Baltodano Egner 
29) Sandinista Commander Adolfo Chamorro Tefel 
30) Sandinista Commander Antenor Ferrey Pernudi, Former Ambassador to 

Panama 
31) Sandinista Commander Antenor Ferrey Pernudi 
32) Juan Gaitan-Ramirez, Secretary General, Ministry of Government, Socialist 

Party Congressman (Alternate) 
33) Jose Pasos Marciaq, Director, International Relations for the FSLN (Sandi­

nista National Liberation Front) 
34) Miguel D'Escoto, former Secretary of State 

Roberto Arguello Tefel * 

Thelma Gallo 

Fern Kettel* 

Maria Lourdes B. de Teran * 
Gaye Whitsell de Llanes * 

Nestor Teran * 
Maria Louisa Labro * 

Floyd Jones * l\:) 
~ 

Salvador and Argentina 
Morales * 

Juan Zavala 
Evangelina Sacasa de la Selva 

Carlos Telleria * 
Bruce Cuthbertson * 
Elsa Bermudez (Mrs. Enrique 

Bermudez)
Ernestina Leal de Voguel 
Nicolas LOpez-Maltez 

Maria Lourdes Sanchez de 
mvert 

Roberto Incer Barquero 



Who Stole What-Continued 
[Illustrative List of Properties Confiscated By Sandinista Military And Party Members, Government 

Leaders And AgenCIes, And Foreign Governments] 

Confiscator or Occupant Oriainal Owner 

35) Lt. CoL Oscar Cortez Marin, Vice-Chief, Nicaraguan Air Force 
36) Amoldo Aleman' Lacayo Mayor of Managua, (Former President of 

BAVINIC, govemmentlHUD bank) 
37) Colonel Aldo Gutierrez, Cuban Military Attache (Registered under Sandi­

nista Popular Army) 
38) Commander William Ramirez Solorzano, FSLN Congressman 
39) Jose Leon Talavera, former Vice-Minister for Foreign Affairs, current FSLN 

Congr.essman
40) Lt. CoL Ramiro Contreras (owner,) General Ortega's Aide 
41) Russian Embassy Personnel 
42) Benedicto Meneses, Former Sandinista Minister of Labor 
43) Augusto Cesar Zamora, Legal Advisor to Sandinista Foreign Ministry 
44) Martha Aratiz, former Ambassador to Cuba 
45) Mayra Pasos, "purchased" by ex-husband Emilio Rappaccioli, Minister of 

E
) nCelrgy dRiP' S d" A t' .46 ansa e vas amagua, an Imsta c 1Vlst 

47) Jorge Huezo, former &ndinista Ambassador to Japan 
48) Paul Atha Ramirez, former Mayor of Managua 
49) Javier Chamorro Mora, former Vice-Minister for Foreign AffairslSandinista 

Ambassador to U,N. 
50) Dr. Ulises Gonzalez, Mayor of Esteli 
51) Dr. Ulises Gonzalez, Mayor of Esteli 
52) Luis Perez Caldera, Mayor of Leon 
53) Vilma Larios Garay, Reporter for Barricada (Sandinista newspaper) 
54) Lily Soto, Manager, Sandinista owned Channel 4 

Heidi Mohrke * 

Delia Wehmeyer de Villalta * 


Alberto Jose Arguello Choiseul 


Norman Downs * 

Armando and Gaye Llanes * 


Carlos Grana CA:I 
oMathelda Muniz de Molina * 


Jorge Sacasa 

Marcel Langrand Belhome 

Jose Fernandez 

Edith Cohen * 


Christianne Bunge de Marin * 

Charles and Rita Kettel * 

Heinz Luedecking* 

Maria Tefel 


Isabel Turner 

Maria Cifuentes 

Miguel Solis 

Christian Machado 

Manuel Midence Montiel 
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55) Jimmy Gonzalez, Sandinista State Security (gift from Commander Tomas 
Borge) 

56) Naftali Matus, Manager, government owned Compania de Arroz 
57) Francisco Xavier Alvarado, Sandinista military official 
58) Alvaro Reyes Portocarrero, Delegate, Ministry of Agrarian Reform, Northern 

District; brother of Rodrigo Reyes, Supreme Court Justice 
59) Juan Sanchez Flores, Lawyerl Professor 
60) Commander Julio Calero Reyes, Secretary to General Joaquin Cuadra 

Lacayo
61)Commander Amin Gurdian 

Government agency 
62) Attorney General's Office (until August 7, 1992)

63) Attorney General's Office (since Augtlst 7, 1992) 

64) Office of Press and Information for Chamorro Government 


65) Ministry of Education 

66) Ministry of Health 

67) Sandinista National Liberation Front (FSLN) 

68) FSLN offices in Granada 

69) Proyecto Quimal (government sugar plantation, materials donated by Fidel 

Castro) 
70) Sandinista Defense Committee 

71) Sandinista Popular Army guest house 
72) Sandinista Popular Army's Protocol House 
73) Sandinista Popular Army (Military Draft Office) 
74) Sandinista Popular Army offices 
75) Sandinista Popular Army 
76) Sandinista Popular Army 
77) Sandinista Popular Army living quarters 

Ernesto and Coco Rivas 

Sonia Rosales 
Enrique and Ruth Tijerino 
John Spencer Fraunberger 

Ana Mana Morejon * 
Jorge A Cardenas 

Savador Morales * 

Aristides and Cecilia Sanchez 
Mana Reyes de Noguera 
The Sengelmanns, ~ettels and CI.) 

Spencers ~ 
Olga Perez Fonseca 
Cesar Garcia 
W. Hermann and Teresa Hueck 
Alberto Jose Arguello Choiseul 
Melba Fuentes 

Watch Tower Society (Jehovah's 
Witnesses) 

Luis Mejia Gonzalez * 
Elga de la Rocha de Vaca * 
Edmundo Barquero 
Inge Sengelmann Bunge 
Soledad Midence 
Alberto Jose Arguello Choiseul 
Ileana Sengelmann * 



Who Stole What-Continued 
[Illustrative List of Properties Confiscated B)' Sandinista Military And Party Members, Government 

Leaders And AgenCIes, And Foreign Governments] 

CoDfiseator or Occupant 0rIeinal Owner 

78) Sandinista National Police 

79) Sandinista National Police 


80) Social Security. Administation (INSBBI) 

81) National InstItute of Agrarian Reform (INRA.)

82) National Institute of Agrarian Reform (MIDINRAlINRA.)

83) Sandinista Youth (Juventud Sandinista) 

84) Sandinista Youth (Juventud Sandinista) 

85) COIP-People's Industrial Corporation (government agency) 

86) Banco de la Vivienda (govemmentJHUD bank) 

87) United National Farmers and Ranchers (UNAG) (Sandinista Labor Union) 

88) AGROMAC/CORNAP (state-owned enterprise) 


Foreign entity 
89) Soviet Embassy (1979-1991) 
90) Soviet Embassy 
91) Soviet Embassy 
92) Soviet Emba.ssy parking lot 
93) Cuban G-2 Offices (Secret Police-1979-1990) 
94) Libyan Government 
95) North Korean Embassy 

96) Mexican Embassy 
97) Cuban Embassy's Protocol House 

Cesar Rorison 
Jose Andres and Esther 

Mairena de Peralta 
Flor Barguero 
Alfredo Gasteazoro 
Guillermo Barquero 
Armando Salazar 
Gloria Gasteazoro 
Charles and Rita Kettel * ~ 

t..:>Carlos Grana 
Otto and Harry Moller * 
The Sengelmanns, Kettels and 

Spencers 

Jose Guerrero 
Leonor de Somoza 
Alexis Arguello 
William Montiel * 
Juergen Sen~elmann * 
Haydee Mann * 
Myriam Montenegro de 

Sanchez 
Josefina Sanchez 
Alfredo Osorio * 
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98) German Embassy Gilberto and Bertha 
Perezalonzo 

99) OXFAM of Canada (occupying lobster receiving plant/dry dock) Norman Downs· 

• Indicates that the original owner of the property is an American citizen. 

co 
co 



IV. Sandinista Control and nlicit Activities 

A major theme of Violeta Chamorro's 1990 campaign for the 
Presidency of Nicaragua was her promise to reform the Sandinista 
Popular Army and the National Police. Since her election, however, 
Mrs. Chamorro has failed to address this important issue. The San­
dinista Popular Army continues to represent the interests of only 
the Sandinista National Liberation Front and not the interests of 
the Nicaraguan people. 

The Senate Foreign Relations Committee (SFRC) Republican 
staff's investigation confirmed that the Sandinista Popular Army 
continues to supply arms and training to terrorist groups through­
out the Western Hemisphere. The Sandinistas continue to be in­
volved in other illicit activities as well. 

A. THE SANDINISTA POPULAR ARMY FIVE YEAR SECRET PLAN 

Senate Foreign Relations Committee Republican staff has ob­
tained a copy of the Sandinista Popular Army Five Year Secret 
Plan for 1991 through 1995. The Secret Plan, which was provided 
to us by a source within the Sandinista Army, demonstrates clearly 
that the Sandinista Popular Army has no intention of downsizing, 
separating itself from the Sandinista National Liberation Front or 
providing for the defense of all Nicaraguans. The only significant 
changes outlined by the plan include the reassignment of personnel 
and a diversification of the armament base. There are three major 
branches of the Sandinista security forces: The Sandinista Popular 
Army, the Territorial Militias, and the "Active Retired" Services. 

B. ARMY 
The Sandinista Popular Army is the official military institution 

of Nicaragua, and is an integral part of the Sandinista National 
Liberation Front. The Sandinista Popular Army Five Year Secret 
Plan directly contradicts the information the Chamorro Govern­
ment is supplying regarding the Sandinista Popular Army. Nica­
raguan military authorities have confirmed to the SFRC Repub­
lican staff that the Sandinista Popular Army is as much as two 
times larger than the Chamorro Government claims. The plan 
shows that the Sandinistas intend to increase, rather than de­
crease, the number of personnel carrying arms. 

C. TERRITORIAL MILITIAS 

The Sandinistas plan to augment significantly their Territorial 
Militias by filling their ranks with troops from the Sandinista Pop­
ular Army. The Militias have the advantage of being less costly to 
maintain, and are less visible. The Militias are comprised of men 
and women, often in uniform, who are armed, and are well trained 

(35) 
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by the Sandinista Popular Army. It is estimated that there are 
more than 75,000 members of the Territorial Militias. 

The Sandinista Territorial Militias operate throughout rural 
Nicaragua. They were founded in 1980 as the "Sandinista Popular 
Militias." In 1981 members of the "Popular Militias" were given vo­
cational training in agricultural skills. Since that time, the Militias 
have performed military functions first and agricultural work sec­
ond. Every member of a Sandinista cooperative receives military 
training after which the members form a battalion. The Territorial 
Militias operate in coordination with the Sandinista Popular Army 
and are under the orders of General Humberto Ortega. 

Territorial Militias are a paramilitary organization whose mem­
bers are often those who form part of the Sandinista cooperatives. 
Sandinista cooperatives leaders are the regional commanders for 
the Territorial Militias. Some of the Sandinista cooperatives, which 
form part of the Territorial Militias, are: UNAG (a Sandinista agri­
cultural union), Dalia, Zahifio, Tamarindo, Wiwili, Wiliquito, and 
the Cooperative of Nueva Guinea. 

A high ranking Nicaraguan Government official claims that 
these troops are being used to wage the "dirty war" of assassina­
tions against the former Nicaraguan Resistance members so that 
the Sandinistas can maintain control of the rural areas. The 
Chamorro Government claims that the Sandinista Popular Army is 
reducing in size. What is actually happening is that the forces are 
merely being transferred to the Territorial Militias, and the troops 
are still under orders from General Ortega and the Sandinista Pop­
ular Army. Therefore, the alleged reduction in Sandinista Popular 
Army troop size is a reduction in name only. Between 1990 and 
1995, the Sandinista leadership plans to almost triple the size of 
the Territorial Militias, according to the secret plan. 

D. ACTIVE RETIRED 

The Nicaraguan Government uses the unusual term "Active Re­
tired" to describe the third branch of the Sandinista security forces. 
According to Nicaraguan milital1' authorities, General Humberto 
Ortega has promised the "Active Retired" personnel their full sala­
ries for several more years. These officers are still in uniform, they 
are still armed, and they still have their military credentials and 
privileges. 

Radio Ya, a Sandinista radio station, verified this association on 
July 24, 1992, reporting that the Commission of Retired Military 
Officers had demanded that the Chamorro Government continue to 
pay their full salaries for an additional four years. Nicaraguan 
Government sources told SFRC Republican staff that the Chamorro 
Government has acquiesced to these demands. Furthermore, on 
July 22, 1992 General Humberto Ortega stated on Radio Sandino, 
another Sandinista radio station, that the Sandinista Popular 
Army would not be reduced further. 

E. ONE OF THE MOST SOPHISTICATED ARsENALS IN LATIN AMERICA 

According to the Five Year Secret Plan, the Sandinista Popular 
Army also intends to increase its armored troop units and obtain 
new sophisticated weapons systems. By 1995, the Sandinista Popu­
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lar Army intends to add light infantry brigades, anti·aircraft. and 
heavy artillery battalions, and tank battalions to its arsenal. 

These Sandinista Popular Army secret documents show that 
Nicaragua already possesses the most sophisticated arsenal in the 
region. Included in Nicaragua's current arsenal are: vehicular and 
stationary multiple rocket launching systems (BM21s); hundreds of 
SA-7, SA-14 and SA-16 surface-to-air missiles (SAM missiles are 
the most sophisticated in Latin America); D-20, 152 mm cannons, 
(the most powerful artillery pieces in the region); and Hind D (MI­
24) attack helicopters (one of the most advanced helicopters in the 
world). 

The plan reveals that the Sandinista Popular Army has approxi­
mately 130 T-55 Soviet tanks, and 22 Pr-76 amphibious recon­
naissance tanks, which are to be replaced with BMP reconnais­
sance vehicles. The Sandinista Popular Army amphibious armored 
personnel carriers are called BTR-60PB and are standard equip­
ment in the Soviet Naval Infantry. 

Its reconnaissance vehicle, the BRDM, is standard equipment 
with the former Soviet and Warsaw Pact ground forces. The BRDM 
has already been upgraded to a BRDM-2. According to the Secret 
Plan, the Sandinistas already have five times as many BRDM-2s 
as BRDMs. The Sandinistas also have one of the most sophisticated 
radar and communication systems outside of those possessed by 
major powers. 

The Sandinista Popular Army has five versions of the BRDM-2 
armored vehicles: 1.) Radiological chemical reconnaissance vehicles; 
2.) SA-9 SAM Missile Launch vehicles; 3.) command vehicles with­
out gun turrets; 4.) ATGM vehicles; and 5.) Basic reconnaissance 
vehicles. The BTR Armor Plated Trucks of the Sandinista Popular 
Army are the same as those found in motorized rifle units in the 
former Warsaw Pact. 

A high-ranking Nicaraguan Government source confirmed that 
hand-grenades and rocket propelled grenade launchers are bought 
and sold at local markets with no required permits. The Sandi­
nistas have hundreds of thousands of assault weapons, side arms, 
and millions of rounds of ammunition, as well as hundreds of can­
nons and rocket launchers. These are among the weapons that the 
Sandinista Popular Army has shipped regularly to terrorist groups 
around the region. (These illegal shipments are discussed in detail 
later in this chapter.) 

F. THE LARGEST MILITARY IN THE REGION 

According to a respected Nicaraguan military authority, the San­
dinista Popular Army is constructed to meet two basic objectives: 
to put down domestic insurrections, and to provide support for 
Communist insurgencies and terrorist organizations abroad. Other 
armies in the region are designed solely for territorial defense. 

During the 1980s, the Sandinista Popular Army, under the lead­
ership of General Humberto Ortega, aUg'!I!ented its resources and 
personnel to meet these two objectives. While the Chamorro Gov­
ernment claims it has reversed this process and bills the Sandi­
nista Popular Army as the smallest army in the region, Latin 
American intelligence sources strongly dispute those claims. Ac­
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cording to these analysts, Nicaragua is the most militarized society 
in Latin America, with the exception of Cuba. 

The size of the Sandinista military is even more astounding
when comparing military strength and population in all Central 
American countries. No census figures have been taken in Nica­
ragua since the Sandinistas came to power, however reliable esti­
mates place the population of Nicaragua at approximately three 
million people. Another one million people are believed to be in 
exile. In comparison, EI Salvador and Honduras have approxi­
mately double the population and Guatemala has at least three 
times as many people as Nicaragt!a. 

According to information provided to the SFRC Republican Staff 
by Latin American intelligence agencies and regional military au­
thorities, the other security forces of Central America are far small­
er than the Sandinista security forces. Panama and Costa Rica do 
not have armies. EI Salvador is making radical reductions in its 
army since peace talks with the Salvadoran guerrillas in January
1992. 

Guatemala has approximately one-fourth the number of secu­
rity forces of Nicaragua-not counting the Sandinista Territorial 
Militias. Honduras has twice as many people as Nicaragua, but it 
has only one-fifth the total number of security forces-not count­
ing_Sandinista Territorial Militias. 

The SFRC Republican staff has compiled extensive data from 
many Latin America intelligence agencies regarding the number of 
military forces in all Latin American countries. Inasmuch as Hon­
duras shares the longest border with Nicaragua and has approxi­
mately the same land mass, we have compared the size of the secu­
rity forces of both countries. These figures do not include Nica­
raguan Territorial Militias. 

Compari.Nicaragua Honduras son 

Army ............................................ . 34,825 11,000 3.16 to 1 

Na~ .......................................... . 800 1,225 1 to 1.5 

Air Force .................................... . 500 2,500 1to5 

Police .......................................... . 10,900 7,500 1.45 to 1 


Sub-total ......................... . 47,025 22,225 2.12 to 1 


Reserves or "Active Retired": 
EPS .......................................... . 147,650 20,000 7.38 to 1 
N8'VY ................................................................ .. 5,699 
Air Force ................................ . 2,500 

Sub-total ......................... . 155,849 20,000 7.79 to 1 


Grand total ............................. 202,874 42,225 4.8 to 1 


While the Government of Nicaragua claims that the Sandinista 
Popular Army has undergone a reduction of 60,000 troops, Latin 
American intelligence authorities have told SFRC Republican staff 
that many of these troops were simply transferred to the Active Re­
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tired, the Territorial Militias, the National Police or other para­
military forces. These experts say that the Sandinistas did not re­
duce the number of men-in-arms, but rather counted as reductions 
those men who deserted the security forces and those who were 
transferred to other forces after Mrs. Chamorro came to power. 
Well-informed Nicaraguan military authorities confirm that the 
majority of people who were retired, had been serving in the man­
datory draft. 

These same people have also confirmed that the officer corps is 
substantially the same as it was during the Sandinista regime. 
SFRC Republican staff was told that officers have either been ro­
tated within the Sandinista Popular Army, or have been trans­
ferred to other elements of the security forces. Few high ranking 
officers have actually retired. 

The Nicaraguan National Guard under the command of 
Anastasio Somoza had fewer than 7,000 troops in times of peace. 
According to Shirley Christian's Nicaragua: Revolution in the 
Family, Somoza's National Guard reached a maximum of 10,000 
men at the height of the civil unrest in 1979. The single elite bat­
talion of the Somoza National Guard had fewer than 800 men. 
Comparativel.}", each Sandinista Rapid Response battalion has be­
tween 500 and 800 men and is better equipped than Somoza's unit. 
The Sandinista Popular Army Secret Plan reveals that the Sandi­
nista Army has thirty-five of these elite battalions. 

G. MILITARY AND POLICE BUDGET EQUALS TwENTY-FIvE PERCENT 
OF TOTAL BUDGET-CHAMORRO VETOES LAw TO REDUCE BUDGET 

For years, the Sandinista Popular Army has amassed resources 
necessary to finance its arsenal. After the Nicaraguan elections of 
1990, the National Assembly voted to reduce the military's budget. 
In a highly controversial move, Mrs. Chamorro vetoed the bill to 
reduce the 1992 Sandinista Popular Army budget. 

Official Nicaraguan Government documents place the total budg­
et for the Sandinista Popular Army and the Interior Ministry at 
slightly more than 15 percent of the total national budget. Nica­
raguan military sources, however, have told SFRC Republican staff 
that the actual budget for the Sandinista security forces is closer 
to 25 percent of Nicaragua's overall national budget. In compari­
son, Honduras earmarks a mere 1.8 percent of its national budget 
for all of its security forces. 

Two colleagues of General Humberto Ortega have confirmed that 
the General and his cronies have relied on legal and illegal busi­
ness enterprises, and on arms sales to countries and terrorist 
groups in the region, for additional profits. The budget of the San­
dinista Popular .Army submitted by the Chamorro Government to 
the National Assembly does not reflect money the military earned 
on arms sales in the region or profits earned from the companies 
it controls. 

H. SECRET BANK ACCOUNTS 

The SFRC Republican staff was told by several Nicaraguan Gov­
ernment officials that the Sandinista Popular Army and General 
Humberto Ortega have secret bank accounts overseas. One Nica­
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raguan Government source very close to President Chamorro al­
leges that General Humberto Ortega has secret bank accounts in 
Canada in which US$l million were deposited monthly in 1991. 
US$500,000 allegedly have been deposited monthly in 1992. 

The June 15, 1991 edition of The Miami Herald reported that 
during the 1980s, Humberto Ortega amassed a personal empire 
worth approximately US$100 million. According to his colleagues, 
General Humberto Ortega controls businesses both in and outside 
of Nicaragua. Among his business interests are shrimp production, 
a meat-packing company, real estate and transportation. His part­
ner in some of these ventures is Antonio Lacayo, son-in-law of Mrs. 
Chamorro and Minister of the Presidency. 

L ARMS SHIPMENTS AND SALES 

Since Mrs. Chamorro was elected, the news media frequently re­
ports the capture of arms being shipped clandestinely to terrorist 
groups in Latin America from the Sandinistas in Nicaragua. At 
least five different highly credible sources, including two Latin 
American presidents and several Nicaraguan Government officials, 
confirm that the Sandinista Popular Army continues to this day to 
export arms and assist terrorist groups throughout the Western 
Hemisphere. 

According to these sources, General Humberto Ortega personally 
authorizes these shipments of arms and ammunition. SFRC Repub­
lican staff was told repeatedly that the magnitude of these ship­
ments requires personal attention and authorization from the high­
est authorities in the Sandinista Popular Army. 

Information from Latin American intelligence sources, which has 
been corroborated by respected Nicaraguan military authorities, in­
dicates that the Sandinista Popular Army continues to supply the 
Salvadoran guerrillas. The weapons continue to flow to the guerril­
las in spite of the fact that a January 1992 peace treaty was signed 
between the Government of EI Salvador and the Salvadoran guer­
rillas and a cease-fire is in effect. 

These same sources say that several Guatemalan terrorist 
groups, the Cinchoneros in Honduras, the M-20 in Panama, and 
the "Free Fatherland" Guerrilla Army of the Poor Faction of the 
Movement of the Revolutionary Left in Chile, receive training and 
arms from the Sandinista Popular Army. 

J. ARMS TRAFFICKING ROUTES 

According to Nicaraguan and Latin American military authori­
ties, the Salvadoran guerrillas receive arms from the Sandinista 
Popular Army via two main trafficking routes. One route is by sea 
from Punta Nata, Nicaragua across the Gulf of Fonseca and into 
the Salvadoran coast, near La Union. The other route is by land 
through Honduras following the Rio Negro, near the village of 
Triunfo, Honduras (on the Honduras-Nicaraguan border) and then 
into El Salvador. 

These same sources say that the Sandinista Popular Army sup­
plies the Honduran Cinchoneros terrorist group through one major 
land route: from Jinotega, Nicaragua crossing the Rio Coco to EI 

---------------------------- ------._-------­
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Paraiso, Honduras. From there the weapons are taken to Olancho, 
Honduras. 

Guatemalan terrorists receive shipments of arms by sea on the 
Atlantic Coast. Shipments al1egedly leave Nicaragua from the port 
of Puerto Cabezas and travel northwest to Guatemala. 

K. ARMs TRAFFICKING INCIDENTS 

SFRC Republican staff has gathered information from inter­
national media reports and Latin American intel1igence sources 
showing that the Sandinista Popular Army pursues a consistent 
pattern of exporting revolution abroad. The fol1owing is a partial
list of arms trafficking incidents that have occurred since the elec­
tion of Mrs. Chamorro. 

• 	August 6, 1992-Two Guatemalans were arrested in EI 
Guasaule, Honduras, carrying arms and ammunition from 
Nicaragua, to communist guerrillas in Guatemala. (Associated 
Press) 

• 	July 31, 1992 and June 1992-An EI Salvadoran official, 
Ernesto Altschul, confirms that the Salvadoran guerrillas con­
tinue to receive weapons from the Sandinista Popular Army. 
Guerrilla spokesman, Joaquin Villalobos, does not deny tlie 
charges. (Univision T.V.) 

• 	June 1992-According to Latin American intel1igence sources, 
the Sandinista Popular Army __ gave significant assistance to 
Noriega and Castro loyalist. The Sandmistas provided trans­
portation, false passports, and weapons to terrorists who car­
ried out violent demonstrations against President George Bush 
in Panama City on June 11, 1992. 

Among those involved in the orchestration of the violence di­
rected against President Bush were: Noriega confidante Eliecer 
Gaitan (Chief of Counter-Intelligence for the Panamanian De­
fense Force under Manuel Noriega), Luis Quiel (another
Noriega loyalist), and two Cuban veterans of the Angolan War. 
These same men are allegedly involved in the M-20 terrorist 
organization in Panama-also a group receiving assistance 
from the Sandinistas. 

• 	June 1992-Latin American intelligence sources say that 
rocket-propel1ed grenade launchers and rifles destined for Gua­
temalan terrorists were seized in Honduran territory on the 
Honduran-NicaragtUln border. 

• 	Mar 28, 1992-·The Colombian terrorist gro,!p, the Simon 
Bobvar Guerrilla Coordinating Committee (CGSB), received 
more than 1,000 rifles from arms traffickers in Nicaragua, EI 
Salvador, and Guatemala. (Notimex, May 28, 1992) 

• May 	2, 1992-Alfredo AugUsto Canales Moreno, a militant 
from the Movement of the Revolutionary Left "Free Father­
land" Gueril1a Army of the Poor Faction in Chile, admitted 
that his organization receives paramilitary and urban guerrilla 
training by clandestine commando units of the Sandinista Pop­
ular Army in Nicaragua. (El Mercurio, May 2, 1992) 

• 	June 1992-An arms cache was found in a warehouse owned 
1?Y the former Chief of Immigration, Luis Armando "El Chiri" 
Guzman. According to a source in the Ministry of the Presi­
dency, Antonio Lacayo was informed in an August 1991 con­
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fidential letter that Guzman, Bayardo Arce (one of the nine 
original commanders), and Lenin Cerna (the Sandinista intel­
ligence chi eO, were engaged in arms trafficking. 

Government authorities did not move to expose the Immigra­
tion Chief's arms cache until more than ten months later. No 
charges have been filed against Guzman and there is no war­
rant for his arrest. 

• 	March 6, 1992-Honduran Customs and local police seized a 
large shipment of arms in Honduran territory on the Hon­
duran-Nicaraguan border that was believed to be destined for 
Mexico via EI Salvador. Honduran authorities, however, did 
not discount the possibilitY' that the weapons could have been 
destined for terrorists in Honduras. The occupants of the van 
testified that the "Sandinista Army" was protecting them. 
(BBC, March 6, 1992) 

• 	November 11, 1991-According to Latin American intel­
ligence sources, Honduran Police seized M-16 and AK-47 am­
munition and radio equipment en route to Salvadoran Guerril­
las at the Guasaule, Honduras customs post on the Honduras­
Nicaragua border. 

• 	September 1991-The Sandinista Popular Army revealed 
that five Sandinista "retired" solders and one Colombian guer­
rilla tried to export 20 missiles and 700 mortar shells. (EI
Nuevo Herald, August 4, 1992) 

• 	April 18, 1991-In a Senate Foreign Relations Committee 
Hearing Assistant Secretary of State Bernard Aronson con­
firmed that there "are still a lot of weapons in the hands of the 
former [Sandinista] militias, and some of the [Sandinista] co­
operatives remain armed." 

Aronson also acknowledged that the Cinchoneros, a Hon­
duran terrorist organization, had been receiving arms ship­
ments from the Sandinista Popular Army. 

• 	April 15, 1991-Antonio Lacayo, Nicaraguan Minister of the 
Presidency, defended the Chamorro Government's refusal to 
throw out the Salvadoran guerrillas headquartered in Mana­
gua. He stated that "the sooner the Salvadoran Government 
learns that it must open a space for the FMLN [Farabundo 
Marti National Liberation Front] in political life, the better it 
will be for EI Salvador, Nicaragua, and all of Central America." 
(New York Times, April 15, 1991) 

• FebruaI"y 22, 1991-Honduran Armed Forces seized 35 fP"e­
nades, about 40 grenade launchers and additional explOSIves
and arms supplies from a truck in EI Paraiso, Honduras near 
the Nicaraguan border. (Reuters, February 22 1991)

• 	January 3, 1991-A Nicaraguan SA-7 surlace-to-air missile 
was used in the downing of a U.S. helicopter by Salvadoran 
gl!errillas in which three United States military advisors were 
killed. Salvadoran guerrillas continue to operate from Nica­
raguan territory. (New York Times, April 15, 1991) 

• 	January 2, 1991-Sandinista Popular Army spokesmen ad­
mitted that four Sandinista officers had sold 28 SA-7 and SA­
14 surface-to-air missiles to the Salvadoran guerrillas. In a 
three-page communique, the Sandinista General Command as­
serted that "preliminary investigations showed that the [Salva­
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doran guerrillas] had purchased the weapons in October 1990." 
(Washington Post, January 3, 1991, New York Times, February 
3, 1991) 

• 	September 20, 1990-Mrs. Chamorro admitted that weapons 
were still being sent to the Salvadoran guerrillas by members 
of the Sandinista Popular Army. (New York Times, September
20, 1990) . 

• 	June 6, 1990-Honduran police seized an arms cache in 
Potrerillos, Honduras intended for the communist guerrillas in 
EI Salvador. Small rifles, an unidentified number of Uzi 
submachine guns, grenades, and dozens of rounds of ammuni­
tion were captured. (Reuters, June 6, 1990) 

• 	May 17, 1990-A top aide to the President Alfredo Cristiani 
of EI Salvador disclosed that Honduran authorities had discov­
ered nineteen arms shipments after the recent Sandinista 
electoral defeat. (Washington Times, May 17, 1990) 

• 	May 2, 1990-The Chamorro Government agreed to let the 
Salvadoran guerrillas maintain their offices in Managua. (The
Christian Science Monitor, May 2, 1990) 

L. THE PERUVIAN ARMS SALE 

According to unclassified United States Department of Defense 
documents, the Sandinista Popular Army sold armored personnel 
carriers to Peru in 1991. Furthermore, it is in the process of selling 
to Peru some of its Soviet-made helicopters and airplanes. One in­
telligence source with intimate knowledge of the arrangement has 
told SFRC Republican staff that the Sandinista Popular Army will 
receive US$100 million on the sale. This will be one hundred per­
cent profit for the Sandinistas, considering that Nicaragua origi­
nally received the aircraft as a gift from the Soviet Union. 

The British Virgin Island Association was established on Septem­
ber 27, 1989~ (with the registration number 19779), in the British 
Virgin Islands to transact the helicopter sale. The deal was bro­
kered by a Nicaraguan official in Hong Kong. Mario Cardenal 
Chamorro, the Sandinista Popular Army Finance Director, is rep­
resenting General Ortega in the transaction. 

According to a Diario Las Americas report published August 4, 
1992, the Nicaraguans are also in the process of buying Bell Heli­
copters from Canada. According to a August 1, 1992 report by 
Notimex news service, the U.S.-produced Bell helicopters' replace­
ment parts are easier to obtain than the Soviet-made parts. Some 
of the US$100 million profit from the sale of aircraft to Peru will 
reportedly go to finance the Bell helicopter purchase. The rest of 
the profit is expected to go directly to the top Sandinista officials. 

M. THE ORTEGA BROTHERS 

General Humberto Ortega's official title is General of the Army, 
which is the same title held by Fidel Castro. He has served as 
Commander-in-Chief of the Sandinista Popular Army for the past
thirteen years. Ortega is also Chief of the Sandinista Military 
Council. Prior to 1990 he was a member of the Sandinista Execu­
tive Commission and the Sandinista Defense and Security Commis­
sion, and was Minister of Defense (1979-1990). 
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According to unclassified United States Department of State doc­
uments, Humberto Ortega was born around 1942. After leading the 
Nicaraguan Patriotic Youth in 1962, he founded the Sandinista 
Brigades. He was actually suspended from the Sandinista National 
Liberation Front in the 1960s for "ultra-leftist tendencies." He re­
ceived military training in Cuba, North Korea, the Soviet Union, 
and with the PLO in the Middle East. During the 1980s, he advo­
cated hard-line security policies, closer ties with the communist So­
viet Union, and the formation of a 600,000 man army. 

General Ortega has been assisted by his brother Daniel Ortega, 
the former President of Nicaragua during the Sandinista regime. 
Daniel Ortega has made threats as recently as July 10, 1992 
against those who advocate the removal of General Humberto Or­
tega as head of the Sandinista Popular Army. A Diario Las Ameri­
cas article on July 11, 1992 quoted Daniel Ortega saying that "all 
those who ask for the head of General Ortega, are asking to have 
their own heads cut off." In the same article, Daniel Ortega also 
threatened to spark an armed uprising if General Humberto Or­
tega is fired as Commander-in-Chief of the Sandinista Popular 
Army. 

N. No ROLE FOR THE MINISTER OF DEFENSE 

The Chamorro Government has done nothing to curb General 
Ortega's power. In fact, the Chamorro Government has reinforced 
General Ortega's position using Presidential Decrees. A very high­
ranking Nicaraguan Government official close to Mrs. Chamorro in­
formed the SFRC Republican staff that prior to Mrs. Chamorro's 
inauguration in 1990, Antonio Lacayo told his mother-in-law that 
if General Ortega was not retained as the Commander-in-Chief of 
the Sandinista Popular Army, he (Lacayo) would not serve in the 
government. 

Despite the overwhelming opposition to have General Ortega 
stay in power, and in contradiction to many of her own promises, 
Mrs. Chamorro has decided to keep General Humberto Ortega in­
definitely. According to Nicaraguan Government sources, there has 
been no discussion of removing General Ortega. 

Rather than exerting civilian control over the military, Mrs. 
Chamorro has left authority with General Ortega by signing de­
crees into law . 

• Decree number 1-91 gives the Commander-in-Chief authority 
over all promotions under the rank of Brigadier General. 

• Decree 2-91, entitled "Reform of the Law Governing the Mili­
tary Organization of the Sandinista Popular Army," gives Gen­
eral Ortega "the command and administration" of the Sandi­
nista Popular Army . 

• President Chamorro also confirmed General Ortega's authority 
to procure and produce arms, enter into private contracts, ana. 
decide all military promotions. 

Mrs. Chamorro personally has assumed the title of Minister of 
Defense, but the Ministry of Defense is the only Ministry in the 
Nicaraguan Government with no Vice Ministers and no employees. 
There are no Defense Ministry offices. After extensive research, 
SFRC Republican staff could find no substantive role for the Min­
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ister of Defense (Mrs. Chamorro), other than consultations with 
General Ortega regarding the appointments of Military Attaches. 

O. INTELLIGENCE APPARATUS 

The Sandinista National Liberation Front controls the only intel­
ligence agency in the Government of Nicaragua. According to a No­
vember 4, 1990 New York Times article, "the main elements of the 
Sandinista domestic espionage network, including key secret police 
officials, have been transferred intact to the Nicaraguan Army." 

In April 1990, the Sandinista State Security was transferred 
from the Ministry of Interior to the Sandinista Popular Army, and 
was renamed the Defense Information Directorate. Lenin Cerna, 
who ran the agency under Daniel Ortega, was given an army rank, 
and still runs the state security apparatus. According to one high­
level Nicaraguan Government source, Mrs. Chamorro receives daily 
intelligence briefings from this Sandinista intelligence service. 

Lenin Cerna's father was a Communist activist. In fact, Cerna's 
brother's name is Engels. Lenin Cerna was trained in Cuba and 
joined the Sandinista National Liberation Front (FSLN) in 1963 as 
a member of Tomas Borge's "Prolonged Popular War" faction. 
Cerna personally recruited Daniel and Humberto Ortega into the 
FSLN. 

According to an August 7, 1990 Washington Post article, Cerna 
is alleged to have directed the October 1979 torture-killing of Pablo 
Emilio Salazar. According to his unclassified State Department bi­
ographYk

Cerna has participated in guerrilla training, sabotage, 
and ban robberies. 

The unclassified United States Department of State document 
says, "after the fall of Somoza, he [Cerna] was assigned to the Nic­
araguan Embassy in Honduras, where he directed assassinations of 
Sandinista re~me opponents in exile." The same document says 
that Cerna is widely believed to have personally tortured civil op­
position activist, including Sofonias Cisneros, President of tile 
Union of Christian School Parents." 

P. THE MINISTRY OF THE INTERIOR 

During the 1980s, the Ministry of Interior was the principal in­
strument of Sandinista repression. Tomas Borge, the last surviving 
founder of the Sandinista National Liberation Front, was chief of 
the MinistrY of Interior., The Ministry was condemned by several 
human riglits organizations for engaging in torture, murder, and 
intimidation of opponents of the Sandinista regime. These same or­
ganizations blame the Sandinista Police and State Security for 

. these acts of torture. After the Chamorro Government was elected, 
the Ministry was renamed the Ministry of the Government, but 
Borge loyalists still hold many of the top positions in the Min­
istry-and Nicaraguans still refer to it as the Ministry of the Inte­
rior. 

According to an August 7, 1990 Washington Post article, six 
months after President Chamorro was elected, there were esti­
mates that the Chamorro Government had appointed only 20 new 
officials out of approximately 11,700 employees in the MInistry of 
the Government. Administrative personnel still had military uni­
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forms and ranks. The Minister of the Government, Carlos Hurtado, 
was able to establish special brigades to handle the disarmament 
of the Nicaraguan Resistance, but no comparable commission was 
established to dismantle the Sandinista Popular Army, the Na­
tional Police or the Sandinista intelligence apparatus. 

According to Nicaraguan Government officials Carlos Hurtado 
was blocked last year oy Antonio Lacayo in his efforts to fire Rene 
Vivas, the long-tIme Chief of the Sandinista National Police. Ac­
cording to these same sources, Hurtado was allegedly forced out of 
the GOvernment due to his desire to implement police reforms~ 
even thou~h the Chamorro Government claimed that he resignea
for "health reasons. 

Hurtado was replaced by_Alfredo Mendieta on April 3, 1992. Ac­
cording to people close to Mr. Mendieta, he was an agent for Coca­
Cola in Jinotega, Nicaragua during the 1970s. He then moved to 
Costa Rica and continued to work as a Coca-Cola distributor. These 
same sources claim that both Daniel and Humberto Ortega used 
Mendieta's father-in-laws' home in Costa Rica as a safe house 
throughout the Sandinista Revolution. 

After the 1990 election, Mr. Mendieta returned to Nicara~a and 
worked in the National Assembly as a staff employee. According to 
a high-level Nicaraguan Government official, he was relieved of his 
duties because he mismanaged government funds. This was con­
firmed by two sources in the Nicaraguan National Assembly. 

Mendieta claims that he was a Nicaraguan Resistance "fighter" 
during the 1980s. After extensive inquiries into his background, 
SFRC Republican staff has been able to confirm only that Mendieta 
served as a bodyguard for a minor Nicaraguan Resistance figure in 
Costa Rica. 

Minister Mendieta assured SFRC Republican staff in Washing­
ton that he is head of the National Police, and that he personally 
is in charge of eliminating Sandinista influence from the National 
Police. However, high-ranking Nicaraguan Government sources, in­
cluding sources in the Ministry of the Government confirm that 
the National Police res~onds directly to General Ortega, rather 
than to the Minister of the Government. This may account for the 
fact that reforms have not yet been implemented. 

Q. NATIONAL POLICE RESPONDS TO GENERAL ORTEGA 

The 11,000 man National Police is nominally under the control 
of the Ministry of the Government, but in actuality is completely 
autonomous and remains firmly in Sandinista hands. Rene Vivas 
was the head of the National Police throughout the Sandinista re­
gime and remains its chief today. An inside Nicaraguan source 
told SFRC Republican Staff that Rene Vivas responds to the Sandi­
nista National Liberation Front and considers the Minister of the 
Government to be irrelevant. 

Vivas is a protege of Tomas Borge, former Sandinista Minister 
of the Interior, and he was trained with the PLO in Lebanon dur­
ing the 1970s. Vivas was in charge of Sandinista surveillance of 
Mrs. Chamorro during the Nicaraguan Presidential campaign. Fur­
thermore, he is accused of having personally tortured Nicaraguan 
Resistance leaders. Evidently, the Chamorro Government has 
never questioned his record. 
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Personnel changes in the National Police have consisted of shuf­
fling Sandinista lo.yalists from one post to another. While both the 
Army and the NatIonal Police are controlled by the Sandinistas, it 
should be noted that Rene Vivas does not belong to General 
Humberto Ortega's faction. Recent press reports have indicated 
that Vivas might be asked to retire in the near future. 

Nicaraguan military authorities have told SFRC Republican staff 
that Vivas is expendable because he is more loyal to Borge than to 
General Ortega. General Ortega could use the retirement or dis­
missal of Vivas to consolidate his hold on the National Police by re­
placing Vivas with someone from his own faction. A source very 
close to the Sandinista National Police warned SFRC Republican 
staff that possible upcoming changes could be purely cosmetic. 
These same sources indicate that merely changing civilian leader­
ship in the Ministry of the Government would have no effect on the 
Sandinista National Police. 

R. SANDINISTA CONTROL OF OTHER MINISTRIES 

The Sandinistas continue to control most of the Nicaraguan Gov­
ernment Ministries below the level of Vice Minister. This is be­
cause the Chamorro Government has often appointed a Minister 
and several other top officials while leaving intact the Sandinista­
controlled bureaucracy. In some cases, Sandinista Ministers actu­
ally have retained the positions they held under the Sandinista re­

gimI e.. t' Th h d fl' t' . C ' IDUUgr&. lon- e new ea 0 mmlgra Ion IS esar 
Delgadillo. a long-time friend of General Humberto Ortega. 
Delgadillo's son is Julio Cesar Del~adillo, the Sandinista Popular 
Army Commander of the Fifth Mihtary Region. According to offi­
cials in the Chamorro Government, Cesar Delgadillo replaced LUIS 
Armando "Chiri" Guzman who was loyal to Tomas Borge. 

SFRC Republican staff has been told that this has become a fa­
miliar pattern: Borge loyalists are being replaced by Ortega loyal­
ists, but government ministries remain under the control of the 
Sandinista National Liberation Front. 

The second in command at Immigration is Commander Ana Mo­
rales). a militant Sandinista. Intelligence sources in the retPon have 
told ~FRC Republican staff that Nicaraguan Immigration IS provid­
ing false passports for Libyan, PLO, Iraqi, Cuban, and Panamanian 
terrorists. 

Electrical Energy-This Ministry controls oil and petroleum as 
well as electricity. Nicaraguan Government officials say that this 
Ministry is completely controlled by the San dinistas. Mrs. 
Chamorro's Minister, Emilio Rappaccioli was also the Minister 
under the Sandinista regime. (He currently lives in the confiscated 
home of a U.S. citizen.) It is important to note that this Ministry 
is of strategic importance to Nicaragua's national security because 
it controls the energy supply, and the workers can easily paralyze 
the entire country. 

Customs-Nicaraguan Customs is currentbr the subject of a bit­
ter internal dispute. Leonte Lola is currently the acting chief of 
Customs. While he is not a Sandinista, the majority of the Customs 
bureaucracy is in the hands of the Sandinistas. All entry points 
into Nicaragua are controlled by Sandinistas. Government of Nica­
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ragua officials claim that the Sandinistas do not have total control 
over Customs. Nevertheless, every Nicaraguan port is completely 
controlled by the Sandinista Navy. 

Construction and Transportation-Sandinista workers at the 
Construction and Transportation Ministry have paralyzed industry 
with strikes as late as August 1992. According to an August 4, 
1992 broadcast over Radio Corporacion, Minister Jaime Icabalceta 
offered to request 1.2 million cordobas for the workers from the Fi­
nan.ce Ministry in an attempt to persuade them to begin working 
agam. 

Ministry of the Presidency-Antonio Lacayo, son-in-law of 
Mrs. Chamorro, is the Minister of the Presidency. He controls the 
entire civilian government from his office. According to a source in 
Laca~o's office, 70 percent of the employees in the Ministry of the 
PresIdency are Sandinistas. SFRC Republican staff was told that 
the same security personnel that guarded Daniel Ortega now 
guards Mrs. Chamorro and Antonio Lacayo. 

According to documents from the Nicaraguan Government, the 
Ministry of the Presidency (which is equivalent to the office of 
White House Chief of Staff) has a US$8 million annual budget.
This seems to be a disproportionate amount when compared with 
the budgets of other government agencies. For example, the total 
budget for the National Assembly is US$7 million. The total budget 
for the judicial system, including salaries and expenses nationwide 
is US$8 million. The budget for the Comptroller General is only 
US$1.3 million. 

S. THE CONSTITUTION AND THE JUDICIARY 

The Sandinista Constitution of 1987 institutionalizes the Sandi­
nistas' power. It does not establish a framework for a true democ­
racy. 

• The Sandinistas' Constitution permits state intervention in the 
most intimate affairs of the Nicaraguan people; 

• The Sandinistas' Constitution contains 	no guarantees for au­
tonomous control over private property. (The agrarian reform 
clauses specifically violate the sanctity of private property); 

• The Sandinistas' Constitution specifically states that many in­
dustries and natural resources are off limits to competitive pri­
vate enterprises; 

• The 	 Sandinistas' Constitution mandates that the financial 
structures of the country are to be controlled by the Nica­
raguan State; and 

• The Sandinistas' Constitution gives extraordinary powers 	and 
privileges to the Sandinista Popular Arm~ and actively encour­
ages the militarization of Nicaraguan SOCIety.

To date, President Chamorro has not presented a package of con­
stitutional amendments to the National Assembly, in spite of the 
fact that her coalition campaigned on 17 reforms to the Con­
stitution. 

Furthermore, there are many laws not in the Nicaraguan Con­
stitution which reinforce the privileged legal standing of the Sandi­
nista National Liberation Front and the Sandinista Popular Army. 
Laws 85, 86 and 88, which established the Pinata property sei­
zure, as weIt as laws regulating the military, media, and private 
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enterprise, continue to benefit the Sandinistas. These laws remain 
on the books, and have been reinforced by Presidential Decrees 
signed by Mrs. Chamorro. 

The Judiciary is a legacy of the Sandinista regime because the 
Chamorro Government has allowed it to remain dominated by the 
Sandinista National Liberation Front. Despite the ideological dif­
ferences which should have emerged between the Chamorro ap­
pointees and the standing justices, SFRC Republican staff was told 
l?y the Nicaraguan Foreign Minister, Ernesto Leal, that "Mrs. 
Chamorro does not find it necessary to make any changes because 
all decisions are made by consensus." 

Currently, five of nine Supreme Court justices are Sandinistas. 
The other four justices, appointed by Mrs. Chamorro, vote with the 
Sandinistas. President Chamorro has the constitutional right to in­
crease the number of justices and to name new justices to the 
court. She has the power to put the Sandinista justices in the mi­
nority, but she has chosen not to depoliticize the Supreme Court 
and has refused to increase the size of the Court in order to take 
control away from the Sandinistas. The status of the judicial sys­
tem is evidence that Mrs. Chamorro lacks the political will to drive 
the Sandinistas out of power as she promised when she was elect­
ed. 

T. CONCLUSION 

There is little evidence that the Chamorro Government has ever 
acted to curtail the power of the Sandinistas in Nicaragua. Instead, 
the Sandinistas have been able to maintain absolute control over 
the Sandinista Popular Army, the National Police, and other para­
military forces in the country. Mrs. Chamorro has not been able to 
accomplish her desired plan of "National Reconciliation" with the 
Nicaraguan people in large measure because she has not carried 
out the following refonns: 

• Investigated Sandinista war crimes; 
• Professionalized the Sandinista Popular Army; 
• Removed Sandinistas from the Government bureaucracies; 
• Passed laws to make the Sandinista Popular Anny accountable 

to the civilian authorities; 
• Proposed any package of Constitutional Amendments; 
• Changed the name of the Sandinista Popular Army; and 
• Removed an:y high-ranking officers of the Sandinista Popular 

Army or NatIonal Police. 
Before true and lasting democracy comes to Nicaragua, govern­

ment institutions should reflect the will of the Nicaraguan people. 
The evidence suggests that Mrs. Chamorro is merely the titular 
head of state. General Ortega and the Sandinistas, in partnership 
with the Minister of the Presidency, Antonio Lacayo, hold the real 
power in Nicaragua. 



v. Command Structure of the Sandinista Popular Army
(EPS) 

All officers of the General Staff have been members of the Sandi­
nista National Liberation Front (FSLN) since at least 1979. This 
information was compiled from documents of the United States 
Government and the Sandinista Popular Army. 

(51) 



Command Structure of the Sandinista Popular Army (EPS) 


Name Pre-Chamorro position Current position 

General Humberto Or­
tega 

Major General Joaquin 
Cuadra 

Minister of Defense 

Chief of Staff, General Command 
Chief of the Army 

Commander.;in-Chief, Chief of Military 
Council, General of the Army 

Same Position 

Co) Oswaldo Lacayo Deputy Chief of Staff Same Position 
Col Javier Carrion Deputy Chief of Staff Same Position 
Col Manuel Salvatierra Commander, Region VI Commander of the Air Force 
LtCo) Manuel Rivas Commander of the Navy Same Position 
Col Lenin Cerna Chief of State Security Directorate, Ministry 

of the Interior 
Chief of Defense Information Directorate 

(formerly State Security) 
Col Antenor Rosales Commander, Military Region I Chief of the Military Intelligence Direc­ ~ 

torate 
Col Omar Halleslevens Chief of Military Counterintelligence Direc- Same Position 

torate 
Col Alvaro Baltodano Combat Readiness Chief General Secretariat 
LtCol Jose Arauz Commander, Motorized Infantry Brigade Same Position 
LtCol Ricardo Chief of Military Intelligence Chief of Public & Foreign Relations Di­

Wheelock rectorate 
Col Roberto Calderon Commander, Military Region V Chief, Logistics Directorate 
Col Hugo Torres Chief, Personnel Directorate Chief, Political Directorate 

'~~;j:,~,,±S:~':.::::,:.:.::;:.~~::;.~~:='~.~-::::=---~ 



VI. The Nicaraguan Resistance 

The members of the former Nicaraguan Resistance are among
those who have sacrificed the most yet gained the least from the 
changes in Nicaragua since 1990. It was the Resistance that sac­
rificed some 25,000 lives to pressure the Sandinistas into permit­
ting elections and to bring democracy to Nicaragua. 

The Chamorro government, elected lar~ely as a result of the 
struggle of the Nicaraguan Resistance, has Ignored the plight of the 
former members of the Nicaraguan Resistance while forming a co­
government with the Sandinistas. The Government has auth.orized 
the Sandinistas to arrest, detain, and imprison Resistance mem­

. bers on specific occasions. 
An average of two former Resistance members have been mur­

dered each week since the Chamorro Government came to power, 
and after the combatants had disarmed. In recent months ilie rate 
of the murders has been increasing. The Chamorro Government 
has undertaken no specific initiatives to prevent the killings or en­
sure that they are investigated thoroughly. 

An Associated Press story of August 22, 1992 states that the Or­
ganization of American States received 1,400 complaints of abuses 
against former Resistance members in 1991 alone. The AP story 
qll.otes. a leading human rights activist in Nicaragua as saying,
'The Sandinistas are simpJy cutting off the head of the Resistance. 
No one is being punished. The law does not exist." 

To date, the SFRC Republican staff has compiled a list of 217 
members of the Nicaraguan Resistance who have been assassinated 
since President Chamorro came to power. Among those assas­
sinated are five former commanders of the Resistance General 
Command staff. On~ half of the commanders of the General Com­
mand staff are still living. Also assassinated were seven former re­
gional commanders of the Resistance forces. 

In Nicaragua today, there are more than 130,000 former Resist­
ance members and their families. During our investigation we car­
ried out extensive interviews with former leaders and combatants 
of the Resistance forces, and visited with some of them in Nica­
ragua. All of them recounted stories of gross violations of human 
rights against Resistance members and their families. They told us 
tnat they are increasingly concerned about their personal security. 

The following .chapter reveals the current situation with the 
former Resistance, as explained by the former Resistance members 
themselves, representatives the Organization of American States, 
various human rights organizations and other independent sources. 

A. THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE NICARAGUAN RESISTANCE AND 
THE CHAMORRO GoVERNMENT 

Short1Y before Violeta Chamorro was sworn into office, the Nica­
raguan Resistance signed an agreement (March 23, 1990) known as 

(58) 
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the Toncontfn kreement. In this agreement the Resistance 
pledged a "generaf demobilization of our forces no later than next 
April 20 (1990)." The agreement also called for a cease-fire, month­
ly pensions for the resistance and others affected by the war, and 
a "special transition commission ... composed of members of the 
incoming government and the Nicaraguan Resistance." (See Appen­
dix) 

The last accord between the Resistance and the Government was 
signed May 30, 1990, and entitled ''The Managua Protocol on Dis­
armament." It was known by the Resistance as the "Mother's Day 
Accord." Although a translation of the full text of each of these ac­
cords is included in the Appendix of this Report, it is important to 
highlight certain major commitments made by both sides. 

The central commItments by the Resistance included full demobi­
lization, a unilateral cease-fire, concentration of armed forces in se­
curity zones and a role for the Organization of American States 
Internationai Commission of Support and Verification in the demo­
bilization and resettlement of the former combatants. By all ac­
counts the Resistance has complied with its commitments. 

The Government of Nicaragua has publicized widely, the destruc­
tion of the weapons turned in by the Resistance. WIth the excep­
tion of a small group of Resistance members who have recently re­
armed, all evidence shows that the Resistance has complied fully 
with its commitments. In fact, several months after Mrs. Chamorro 
was elected all Resistance troops demobilized" and they turned in 
20,000 wel!pons. Cardinal Obando y Bravo ana the Organization of 
American States verified the demooilization and disarmament proc­
ess. 

The Government repeatedly pledged to protect the security of the 
former Nicaraguan Resistance. On April 18, 1990, an agreement
was signed by representatives of the incoming Chamorro Govern­
ment, the Sandinistas and the Resistance. Point No. 11 of that 
agreement states that "the Government of Nicaragua agrees to re­
spect the freedom, security, and physical and moral integrity of the 
members of the RN [Nicaraguan Resistance] and their famihes." 

In a declaration on May 4, 1990, between the Resistance and 
President Chamorro, the President reiterated "her commitment to 
~arantee the physical and moral integrity of each and every one 
of the combatants of the RN, their family and the civilian popu­
lation accompanying them." In this accord, the Government agreed 
to create "development areas" for the demobilized, "in order to meet 
their material needs." 

That commitment was reiterated on May 30, 1990, in the "Mana­
gua Protocol on Disarmament" signed by President Chamorro, the 
Resistance and Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo. In this accord, 
the Government agreed to provide economic assistance to each de­
mobilized member of the Resistance. This agreement "guarantees 
the security of the ex-combatants who are demobilized and leave 
the security zones to go settle in the [development] areas." 

B. BROKEN PROMISES 

Independent observers agree that the Nicaraguan Resistance has 
complied fully with its commitments, but that the Chamorro Gov­
ernment has not fulfilled its part of the bargain. The following is 

,----,-,........_.---------------------_.'--_.. 
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a list of the written promises agreed upon by the Government of 
Nicaragua and the Resistance more than two years ago, and an ex­
planation of the current status of each promise. 

1.) The Government of Nicaragua promised to integrate into 
various government agencies representatives appointed by the 
Resistance. One former Resistance political advisor was named 
as Minister of Agrarian Reform, but he was not chosen by the 
Resistance to represent them. He was chosen by the Govern­
ment. No former combatants have been selected by the Resist­
ance to represent them in Government ministries. 

2.) The Government of Nicaragua promised to demobilize 
and disarm all civilians in national territory. According to two 
high level Nicaraguan Government sources, a large portion of 
the population is armed. All members of the Sandinista Na­
tional Liberation Front and members of the Sandinista co­
operatives are armed with war weapons such as AK-47s. Noth­
ing has been done to recover these automatic rifles. In fact~ 
many sources told us that you can buy such weapons-ana 
more advanced weapons-all over Nicaragua, including in the 
market. 

3.) The Government of Nicaragua promised to return all con­
fiscated properties owned by former Resistance members. The 
Resistance members compiled a list of 5,400 confiscated prop­
erties that were registered with the Government at the time of 
demobilization. These properties include homes, farms, other 
lands, and personal possessions such as vehicles. Knowledge­
able sources indicate that not more than 2 percent of these 
properties have been returned to the former combatants. 

In many cases, armed Sandinistas are illegally occupying 
these homes and farms. Most of the confiscations took place in 
Jinotega, Esteli, Boaco, Matagalpa, Nueva Segovia,
Chinandega and Zelaya. 

4.) The Government of Nicaragua guaranteed both rehabili­
tation and social readaptation to those affected by the war, in 
addition to pensions for widows, the maimed and the wounded. 
The Government promised to provide education and training 
for technical skills. Only about one half of the former Resist­
ance members are receiving pensions. They are receiving ap­
proximately US$20 per month. This is much less than the Gov­
ernment had promised they would receive. 

One half of those eligible have never received pensions. The 
Resistance members must apply to the local Government for 
the pension, and the Government has made the process so bu­
reaucratic that it is very difficult to receive the pension. Fur­
thermore, the Government officials at the local level are over­
whelmingly Sandinista, and these officials simply block the 
pensions for former Resistance members. 

The Government never initiated the rehabilitation or social 
readaptation programs for the demobilized combatants. 

5.) The Government of Nicaragua promised to give parcels of 
land with titles to demobilized Resistance members. With this, 
they were guaranteed financing, housing, health and edu­
cation. 
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The Government of Nicaragua gave parcels of land to ap­
proximately 45 percent of the former Resistance members. 
However, they have received no legal titles to the land. The 
vast majority of land received by the Resistance has either not 
been arable, or has lacked tlie necessary infrastructure to 
farm. Many of the towns where land was given to the former 
combatants have no potable water, no sewage system, no ac­
cess roads, and no schools. In many cases where arable land 
was provided, the Sandinistas had destroyed all of the infra­
structure. 

The Government of Nicaragua has communicated to the Re­
sistance that there is no land left for the other 55 percent of 
the Resistance who has not yet received land. The Resistance 
was told that there is no more land available, and that the 
Government has no money to buy more property. 

No housing has been provided to the former Resistance 
members, with the exception of some housing projects com­
pleted by the Organization of American States. 

Inasmuch as no legal titles were given to the demobilized Re­
sistance members it has been impossible for them to get fi­
nancing from the banks. In May of 1992, the leadership of the 
former Nicaraguan Resistance met with Antonio Lacayo, Min­
ister of the Presidency (and son-in-law of President Chamorro) 
to discuss their inability to obtain financing. Lacayo promised 
them that he would take care of everything, but to date, there 
has been absolutely no financing.

6.) The Nicaraguan Government promised to create "develop­
ment zones". These zones have not been created due to lack of 
any infrastructure and lack of cooperation from the Govern­
ment. It is widely known that the Sandinistas pressured the 
Government not to create these zones. 

7.) The Government promised representation and participa­
tion by the former Resistance at the municipal government 
level. According to independent sources, the Resistance has 
sent lists of candidates for these jobs in the local Government, 
and every name has been rejected by the Government. 

S.) The Nicaraguan Government pledged all support nec­
essary to help the demobilized combatants inte~ate into civil­
ian life. The Government also promised economIC assistance to 
every combatant who turned in a war weapon. To date, the 
Government has not provided the necessary economic assist­
ance in order to build the infrastructure required in their vil­
lages to create the "development zones" 

More than five months after 20,000 Resistance members de­
mobilized, each member did receive a one time payment of 
ten dollars. This was enough money just to return to their 
homes. During negotiations, the Government of Nicaragua 
promised the Resistance that they would provide financial as­
sistance for a couple of years to those who turned in their 
weapons and demobilized. The Government has awarded full 
salaries for several years to members of the Sandinista Popu­
lar Army who were transferred to the "Active Retired" service, 
yet will not provide equal treatment for the Resistance mem­
bers. 
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9.) The Government pledged to remove all mines in Nica­
raguan territory which had been placed there by the Sandi­
nista Popular Army. To date, these mines have not been re­
moved and have resulted in many persons wounded or dead. 
Now the Chamorro Government is requesting financial assist­
ance from the United States to remove mines planted by the 
Sandinistas. It has been suggested that it would be wiser to 
ask an international team of technical experts to find and re­
move these mines. 

10.) Finally, the Chamorro Government guaranteed indem­
nification to former members of the Nicaraguan Resistance for 
material losses sustained during the Sandinista regime. Inde­
pendent sources tell SFRC Republican staff that there has 
been no indemnification. 

C. AssAssINATIONS AND HUMAN RIGHTS ABUSES OF FORMER 
RESISTANCE MEMBERS 

What the Nicaraguan Resistance and most people of Nicaragua 
did not know at the time the accords were signed was that the se­
curity forces", the police, the intelligence apparatus and the judicial 
system WOUld remain in the hands of the Sandinistas. Con­
sequently, President Chamorro's pledges to protect the Resistance 
are bein~ "enforced" by the very same people who have sought the 
eliminatIon of the Resistance for the last 12 years. The result is 
that there is no security for the Resistance members and their fam­
ilies. 

We have compiled a list of 217 former members of the Resistance 
who have been assassinated since President Chamorro took office. 
Cardinal Obando y Bravo told the SFRC Republican staff in Nica­
ragua that "there is evidence that there is a campaign to eliminate 
members of the Nicaraguan Resistance." Many more former com­
batants have been harassed, detained or tortured. 

One senior Nicaraguan official told us that he has seen no effort 
by the Government to place a priority on the protection of the 
former Resistance forces. This same source told Committee Repub­
lican staff that an effort to investigate the assassination of the 
former combatants was "not on the agenda of the Government." 
That statement is supported by the fact that not one individual has 
been convicted to date in conjunction with the murders of any of 
the Resistance members. 

The most notorious assassination was that of former Resistance 
General Commander, Enrique Bermudez, on February 16, 1991. 
Bermudez was assassinated in the parking lot of the Interconti­
nental Hotel in Managua at night as he tried to enter his car. Ac­
cording to someone who had been with Mr. Bermudez that same 
evening, he was alone and unarmed at the time he was shot and 
killed. According to his widow, Elsa, he had asked the Government 
for an armed bodyguard. The Government told him he could have 
any bodyguard he wanted, but that the guard could not be armed. 

Although the Government of Nicara~a had promised the Resist­
ance members that it would proVlde for their security, the 
Bermudez case shows a failure by the Government to provide secu­
rjo/ for even the highest military commander of the Resistance. 
(Meanwhile, Humberto Ortega is surrounded at all times by an en­
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tourage of bodyguards.) We were unable to find any evidence sug­
gestinf:t that there has been a credible investigation of the 
Bermudez murder. The assassination of Enrique Bermudez is dis­
cussed in greater detail in the Human Rights Chapter. . 

We have listened to hundreds of stories detailing the gross 
human rights violations against the former Resistance members al­
legedly carried out by the Sandinista security forces. The following 
are a few of these cases as described by various human rights orga­
nizations, or family members of the Resistance. 

• According to 	the Nicaraguan Pro-Human Rights Association, 
on April 12, 1991, a Sandinista patrol composed of ten heavily
armed soldiers under the command of Sandinista Lieutenant 
Luis Urbina arrived at the house of former Nicaraguan Resist­
ance member Rosario Mairena in Matagalpa. After entering 
the house, they dragged Mairena 150 meters from his house 
and, in front of his wife and children, shot him, then castrated 
and decapitated him. 

Neither the police nor other authorities have initiated an in­
vestigation of the murder. Furthermore, Lieutenant Luis 
Urbina, whom the Nicaraguan Pro-Human Rights Association 
has denounced consistently for human rights violations, contin­
ues to serve with the National Police in that region. 

• On November 8, 1990, Jose Eliezer Rivera Ubeda 	and some 
friends-all former Resistance members from Jinotega-went 
to Matagalpa to hold a civil protest regarding the failure of the 
government to comply with the accords it signed with the Re­
sistance. After Sandinista Commander Mario Noguera ordered 
that the protesters be cleared out by force, Rivera was beaten 
and imprisoned by members of the Sandinista National Police. 

• One of the more 	brutal massacres of demobilized combatants 
took place in December of 1990 in Jalapa, Nueva Segovia. Ac­
cording to eyewitnesses, the Police Chief in that area, Captain 
Luis Enrique Talavera, along with Lt. Eddie Peralta, handed 
out guns and ammunition to members of the Sandinista Youth 
brigades. For the next two days, Talavera, Peralta and the 
youths went from house to house, systematically capturing and 
assassinating former members of the Nicaraguan Resistance 
and their friends. 

The two-day massacre resulted in 12 deaths, 19 wounded 
and 45 detentions. Among the dead were former Resistance 
members Mariano Valle, Jacinto Perez, Franklin Martinez~ 
Emilio Avila, Marvin Centeno Zeledon, Crecensio Soto ana 
Anselmo Castellon. There was a military trial, but Captain
Talavera was fully exonerated by the Military Tribunal. 

• 	In Pantasma, Jinotega, on November 13, 1991, Sandinista 
forces assaulted people, looted stores, destroyed electric power 
lines and threw grenades at the Catholic church "La Dolorosa." 
Ten days later, Hector Moreno, a member of the Sandinista 
military, assassinated Francisco Javier Herrera ("Solin") by 
torturing him and then slitting his throat. According to the 
Nicaraguan Pro-Human Rights Association these events in 
Pantasma have never been investigated. 

The Nicaraguan Permanent Commission on Human Rights states 
that: 
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"in the vast majority of Police detention centers, tor­
ture, physical and verbal abuse are used against prisoners 
as a method of investigation . . . Prisoners have com­
plained of receiving cruel tortures during interrogations. 
These tortures have included the following: . . . being 
hung upside down by their handcuffed feet, giving electric 
shocks to the head by sending currents through wires, and 
having both feet and hands handcuffed for three to four 
days while not allowing the prisoners to eat." (Nicaraguan 
Permanent Commission on Human Rights Report of April 
1992.)

The Nicaraguan Government has often treated the Resistance 
members as if they are the threat to the future of democracy in 
Nicaragua, rather than the Sandinistas. In May 1990, the Resist­
ance and the Chamorro Government were in the process of nego­
tiating guarantees for economic assistance and personal security 
after the demobilization of the Resistance forces. During these ne­
gotiations, approximately 20 Resistance commanders and three of 
their political advisors were staying at the Intercontinental Hotel 
and the Las Mercedes Hotel in Managua. 

The Chief of the National Police, Rene Vivas, and National Police 
Chief of Security, Juan Jose Ubeda, led dozens of policemen in an 
operation to surround the two hotels. Accordin~ to eyewitnesses 
with whom we spoke, the two Sandinista NatIonal Police com­
manders told the Resistance leaders that they were being detained 
inside the hotel under orders from President Chamorro. 

When United States Congressional representatives asked Mrs. 
Chamorro the reason for the detention, they were told that the Re­
sistance leaders were a threat to the general populace because they 
were walking in the streets of Managua in combat fatigues. The 
Resistance leaders were indeed in uniform, because they were peas­
ants, and had no other clothing. They were unarmed, however, and 
could not therefore have been a threat to anyone. 

The Resistance leaders were detained at the two hotels for two 
days, and the telephone lines in their rooms were disconnected. 
One of the Resistance commanders told the SFRC Republican staff 
that at one point a Sandinista policeman put a gun to his head and 
threatened to kill him. 

One staff member for a U.S. Democratic Senator, who was stay­
ing in the hotel at the time on an official trip to Nicaragua, de­
scribed the incident as an "outrage." Resistance members fran­
tically called Congressional offices in Washington seeking assist­
ance from Members of Congress. The Resistance leaders were re­
leased only after one influential United States Senator conveyed to 
President Chamorro that he would support a suspension of assist­
ance if she did not release the commanders, and after Cardinal 
Obando y Bravo interceded. 

The case of Aristides Sanchez (described in detail in the Human 
Rights Chapter) provides another glaring example of the Chamorro 
Government's disrespect for the Resistance. In that case, according 
to a high-ranking Nicaraguan Government source, the Minister of 
the Presidency Antonio Lacayo ordered the arrest of Sanchez, a 
highly respected former Nicaraguan Resistance leader. 
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Under orders from Rene Vivas, the arrest was carried out by 100 
National Policemen lead by Javier LOpez, Sandinista Chief of the 
Penal System. Sanchez was detained, imprisoned, tortured and or­
dered out of the country. He was never formally charged or accused 
of anything. The symbolism of the Chamorro Glvernment ordering 
the Chief of the Sandinista National Police to arrest and imprison 
a respected Resistance leader speaks volumes about the relation­
ship between the Resistance and the new Government. 

D. NICARAGUAN RESISTANCE MEMBERS REARM 

Mrs. Chamorro has tried to downplay the concerns of her critics 
at home and abroad by telling them that even with all the prob­
lems in Nicaragua, the country is at peace. Yet it is widely known 
that former members of the Nicaraguan Resistance have taken ul> 
arms because of their frustration with the Chamorro Government s 
unwillingness to uphold the commitments it made to the Resist­
ance in the formal agreements. (See Appendix) Because the move­
ment is clandestine, the exact number of fighters is difficult to de­
termine. Knowledgeable sources believe that as many as 2,000 
members of the Nicaraguan Resistance may have rearmed. 

The vast majority of the Nicaraguan Resistance simply sought to 
resettle and start their lives over. The Chamorro Government has 
claimed that one of its great accomplishments was the complete de­
mobilization of the Nicaraguan Resistance. However, the Sandi­
nista's systematic campaign to eliminate Nicaraguan Resistance 
members has left many of the Resistance members with the feeling 
that they have little choice bUf to rearm in order to protect them­
selves and their families. 

According to Ricardo BofillJ.. President of the International Insti­
tute for Human Rights, the ~andinista Popular Army gave orders 
to shoot many Nicaraguan Resistance members involved in peace­
ful demonstrations throughout Nicara~a. Bofill's report states 
that "in all these cases, civilian investIgative commissions found 
that the military abused their power. But the Nicaraguan Govern­
ment did not prosecute the criminals." 

A leader of the those rearming was Jose Angel Moran, known as 
"EI Indomable." According to Barricada newspaper, "Indomable" 
was murdered in July 1992 while he was traveling to Nicaragua 
from Honduras. (His body has not yet been recovered.) The United 
States Department of State's 1991 Human Rights Report states 
that Moran rearmed only after his pregnant wife was murdered by 
Sandinista mobs during an attack on nis home. His story is typical 
of many of the former Resistance combatants. 

The Nicaraguan Pro-Human Rights Association reports that on 
February 28, 1991, in a community called San Esteban in Jinotega, 
some former Resistance members, who were peasants, sent a group 
to the "Corinto Finca" Sandinista cooperative to reach an agree­
ment to share some of the excess land under the cooperative's con­
trol. At about 10:30 a.m. When the peasants arrived, the coopera­
tive members opened fire with AK-47s, an M-60 machine gun and· 
grenades provided by the Sandinista Popular Army. The group of 
peasants was unarmed. Roberto Perez Hernandez, Maria 
Esperanza Cruz Rivera, Pedro Castro Blandon, Cesar Hernandez 
Castro and Moises Pineda were killed. Seven others were wounded. 

, ......... 
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Several groups went to the scene of the crime to investigate, in­
cluding the Sandinista National Police, the Ministry of Govern­
ment, a representative of the Organization of American States, and 
a representative of Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo. However, 
since the cooperative members maintained military control of the 
farm, no one was able to enter the property in order to care for the 
wounded. Only after the Sandinista Popular Army arrived were the 
dead removed and the wounded and the hostages released. All vic­
tims had been stripped of their valuables including money, watches 
and even clothing. 

The police briefly detained the following cooperative members 
for their role in the murders: Erwin Castrillo, William LOpez 
Arauz, Isidro Obando (former member of the Sandinista State Se­
curity), Estanislao Lopez Garcia, Juan Siles, Manuel Gaitan and 
Alfredo Nunez. However no arrest warrants were issued, and no­
body was prosecuted. The police also arrested peasants who had 
approached Connto Finca, and according to the Nicaraguan Pro­
Human Rights Association, some of the peasants were held for up 
to six months. Since this crime, the local police have threatened 
and harassed local peasants, but have left the Sandinista coopera­
tive alone. 

Human rights leader, Ricardo BofiIl, provided the SFRC Repub­
lican staff with another story which is indicative of why many of 
the former Resistance fighters have decided to rearm. The incident 
involves Carlos Abraham Gutierrez ("Capitol Chiquito") who had 
served with the Resistance since 1986. On September 12, 1990 he 
demobilized and turned in his weapons to the Organization of 
American States. According to Bofill, Gutierrez and his family trav­
eled to Ocotal after demobilizing and tried "to incorporate them­
selves into the productive life of Nicaragua." 

For no apparent reason, on October 12, 1990 he was taken pris­
oner by Sandinista Captain Eligio Andino. Three days later, 
Gutierrez was dead. 

The Sandinista forensic doctor, Mario Calderon, declared that 
Gutierrez hung himself in his jail cell with his socks. However, 
Lino Hernandez with the Permanent Commission on Human 
Rights in Nicara~ conducted his own investigation and found the 
following disturbmg facts: 

• The 	 cell where Gutierrez allegedly hung himself was a 
"Chiquitas," a cell about the size of a coffin. The height of the 
cell did not allow enough room for Gutierrez to hang himself; 

• Gutierrez' body was covered with sand indigenous to the rivers 
in Ocotal; 

• Gutierrez' neck was flayed; 
• His right eye socket was empty; 
• His face and body were covered with hematomas; and 
• His spine, legs and ribs were broken. 
According to human rights leader Lino Hernandez, "the impartial 

investigators stated that due to the type of injuries, they believed 
that [Gutierrez] was tied with a rope [to the back of a vehicle] and 
dragged by his neck until he was dead." Despite knowing about the 
horrible injuries Gutierrez sustained, the Government of Nicaragua 
still claims that Gutierrez committed suicide by hanging himself. 
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As long as such violence is directed against the former Nica­
raguan Resistance, and the Chamorro Government rermits it to 
continue, we believe the Nicaraguan Resistance wil continue to 
rearm. 

The fact that there are well over 200 former Resistance members 
who have been murdered since President Chamorro took power 
gives a strong indication that there is a systemic campaign to 
eliminate the Nicaraguan Resistance-particularly the top com­
manders. A high ranking Nicaraguan Government official con­
firmed that there is a systemic effort to kill Nicaraguan Resistance 
members. "The numbers speak for themselves," this source told the 
SFRC Republican staff. Independent sources told the SFRC Repub­
lican staff that grave human rights abuses are increasing under 
the Chamorro Government. 

Many Nicaraguan leaders told SFRC Republican staff that they 
are of the opinion that the Sandinista Popular Army and the San­
dinista National Police are attempting to eliminate all important 
former members of the Nicaraguan Resistance. Cardinal Ooando y 
Bravo expressed great concern over the assassinations of former 
Resistance members, and said that he sees no particular concern 
to either put an end to the assassinations or to prosecute those re­
sponsible for these abuses. As of this writing, SFRC Republican 
staff has not been able to confirm one single murder of a Sandi­
nista soldier or policeman by a former member of the Nicaraguan
Resistance for political reasons. 

E. RESISTANCE SECURITY NEEDS 

The Resistance reports that they have seen none of the benefits 
of the United States bilateral economic assistance to Nicaragua. 
They echoed the view that is held by a wide spectrum of the Nica­
raguan people that the assistance package has primarily helped 
the Government solidify its ties with the Sandinistas. 

The one project to which the former Resistance members give 
high marks is the Organization of American States (OAS) ver­
ification program directed by Argentine national, Mr. Santiago 
Murray. The full scope of the OAS verification team's activities is 
described in a document in the Appendix of this report. Most peo­
ple with whom we discussed the OAS program were highly lauda­
tory of its role in assisting the former combatants to reintegrate 
into civilian life. (See Appendix) 

The OAS team has provided invaluable assistance to the Resist­
ance in investigating human right violations. The only housing 
which has been built for the former Resistance members and their 
families was done so by the OAS team in Nicaragua. One Resist­
ance member told us that "if it were not for the OAS verification 
team, we (former Resistance members) would not exist." The Re­
sistance told SFRC Republican staff that the OAS verification team 
in Nicaragua provides the only security they have. 

Because of its key role, the OAS team in Nicaragua has been tar­
geted for attack by the Sandinistas. During our visit, for example, 
the driver of a marked OAS vehicle was shot dead by a member 
of the Sandinista Popular Army. When the police tried to downplay 
the necessity for an investigation of that murder, the OAS sent its 
own team to the site to investigate. At that point the OAS received 

r ...... 
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some cooperation from the local police. In August, a Sandinista 
Army Major was charged with this murder. 

The Resistance is alarmed and distressed by an apparent deci­
sion of the United States Agency for International Development 
(AID) to suspend the OAS program on September 30 of this year. 
In a letter of July_1992 to the Resistance leaders, the Director of 
AID's mission in Managua, Janet Ballantyne, wrote: "Through this 
means AID informs you that the bridge financing through ClAVI 
OAS will be the last that we can offer· and we hope that your ef­
forts with the IDB [Inter-American Development Bank] and other 
institutions will be fruitful." AID Officials in Managua confirmed 
their intention to suspend assistance to the OAS verification team. 

One of the explanations provided to us b~ AID for the possible
termination of "bridge" financing through the OAS is budgetary 
constraints. Inasmuch as the United States has already given more 
than US$l billion to the Government of Nicaragua, and the OAS 
verification team is requesting only US$3.5 million for one more 
year, we find this explanation to be disingenuous. 

No decision to suspend the funding of the OAS project in Mana­
gua can be viewed in a vacuum. These programs are the only ones 
directly assisting the more than 130,000 Resistance combatants 
and family, members. The Resistance members have put down their 
arms, whIle the Sandinista Popular Army and National Police re­
main fully armed. 

Moreover, as we have seen in the case of the murdered Resist­
ance leaders, there is no government sponsored protection for 
former combatants and their families. If one of them has a griev­
ance or has reason to believe that he is at risk, he or she must turn 
to the Nicaraguan National Police-headed oy a Sandinista-for 
assistance. Since the courts are still controlled by the Sandinistas, 
there is no chance for judicial relief for the members of the Nica­
raguan Resistance. This reality must be juxtaposed against the fact 
that none of the bilateral assistance from the United States Gov­
ernment and international donors provided to the Government of 
Nicaragua reaches the Resistance. 

Therefore, to discontinue United States support for a highly re­
spected program that many Resistance members feel is their only
guarantee for security, seems premature and misguided. 

Our discussions in Washington have found broad bipartisan sup­
port for the role of the OAS team in Man~gua directed by Santiago 
Murray. It is our understanding that the State Department has re­
quested that the Embassy further jllstify its apparent decision to 
terminate the OAS program for the Nicaraguan Resistance. 

F. CONCLUSION 

The plight of the Nicaraguan Resistance is of utmost concern. On 
July 18, 1992, Commander Ruben, the top representative of the 
Nicaraguan Resistance in Nicaragua wrote to Senator Helms and 
described the situation of the Resistance members. He stated that 
the former combatants wanted only to return to civilian life and to 
be able to guarantee security for their families and friends. (See 
Appendix) 

Commander Ruben and his colleagues have told the SFRC Re­
publican staff that they feel betrayed by the Chamorro Govern­
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ment. They negotiated and signed many agreements with the Gov­
ernment, and :yet there is no evidence that the Government has 
any_ intention of compl~ng with the various accords. 

The Resistance members tell us that they live in permanent fear 
for their lives. Commander Ruben wrote in his letter that the fun­
damental problem in the country is "the predominance of a political 
party in arms over the civilian population." 

The fears of the Nicara~an Resistance are very real. The demo­
cratic Nicaraguans have all told us that Nicaragua would never 
have had a chance to be free without the sacrifice of more than 
25,000 men and women combatants in the Resistance who gave
their lives, and tens of thousand more who fought. They also con­
firm that there would have never been elections in Nicaragua, and 
Mrs. Chamorro would not be President today if it had not been for 
the 10 year struggle of so many young people. 

If the Chamorro Government hopes to establish genuine democ­
racy, the people with whom we have spoken believe that the Gov­
ernment must reconcile, not with the Sandinistas, but rather, with 
the Nicaraguan Resistance. 

'.' 



vn. 217 Freedom Fighters Assassinated During the 
Chamorro Administration 

Information was obtained from the Organization of American 
States, the Nicaraguan Pro-Human Rights Association and the 
International Federation of Human Rights. 
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217 Freedom Fighters Assassinated During the Chamorro Administration 


Name Date of Assusination 1.0. No. 

COMMANDERS OF JOINT CHIEFS OF STAFF: 
1 Enrique Bermudez ("380") 
2 Francisco Ruiz Castellanos ("Renato") 
3 Israel Galeano Cornej() ("Franklyn") 
4 Diogenes Membreiio Hernandez ("Fernando") 
5 Manuel Antonio Rugama ("Aurelia no") 

OTHER COMMANDERS: 
6 Jose AngeJ Moran ("Indomable") 
7 Genaro GOmez Vargas ("Freddy") 
8 Francisco Luis Cano Ch. ("Chapulin") 
9 ROger Leonel Benavidez Castellon ("Freddy") 

10 Rene Espinales Zelaya ("Franklin-2") 
11 Francisco Rivera Herrera ("Cadejo")
12 Noel Urbina Andino ("Rafa") 

COMBATANfS: 
13 Juan Ramon Ruiz Santos ("Estell") 
14 Jose Andres Zamora Torrez ("Grano de Oro") 
15 Arturo Medina Stony 
16 Dionisio Bent 
17 Jesus Hernandez Gonzales ("Carro Rojo") 
18 Victor Manuel Calero Gutierrez 
19 Saturnino Gutierrez Lopez 
20 Jose Lira Sovalbarro ("Zelaya") 
21 Evelio Perez Betanco ("Limay") 
22 Jose Antonio Carrasco Vanegas ("Diablo") 
23 Jose Antonio Romero Carrasco 
24 Tomas Jarquin Garcia ("Walter") 

02-16-91 
06-27-91 
05-02-92 
06-07-92 
Unknown 

07-19-92 
01-08-92 
04-13-91 
06-01-92 
06-13-92 
06-18-92 
06-30-92 

06-09-90 
06-11-90 
06-23-90 
07-18-90 
07-18-90 
08-25-90 
09-05-90 
09-13-90 
09-24-90 
09-24-90 
09-24-90 
09-26-90 

3112475 
515615 
11212 

0) 
0) 

310922 
514597 
2610743 

111900 

412108 
511805 
511196 

310505 



514597 25 Miguel Angel Rugama Ruiz ("Plateada") 
26 Carlos Abraham Gutierrez Vallecillo 
27 Juan Francisco Rayte ("Fernando") 
28 Secundido Hernandez 
29 Adrian Jiron Lanuza 
30 Jacinto Jiron Lanuza 
31 Ismael LOpez 
32 Mercedes Matus Garcia 
33 Isidoro Orozco Molinares 
34 Justo Sal"ado Aguirre
35 Elvin Me gara Re~es ("Ardma") 
36 Narciso Rios Mac ado 
37 Jose R. Enrique
38 Antonio Blandon Gutierrez 
39 Marco Antonio Castro Munoz ("Justiciero") 
40 Jose Adan Rugama Lopez ("Franklin") 
41 Benjamin Gutierrez Matey 
42 Sonia Rivera Hernandez 
43 Mariano Correa Cruz 
44 Mariano Valle 
45 Jacinto Perez 
46 Franklin MartInez 
47 Emilia Avila 
48 Marvin Centeno Zeledon 
49 Cresencio Soto 
50 Anselmo Castellon 
51 Isabel Calderon Martinez ("Israel") 
52 Benjamin GOmez Matey ("Tirso") 
53 Jose Blandon Estrada ("Marvin") 
54 Jose Dolores Hernandez LOpez ("Valiente") 
55 Carlos Benavides Cortez ("Wilson") 

09-26-90 
10-01-90 
10-02-90 
10-02-90 
10-13-90 
10-13-90 
10-19-90 
10-20-90 
10-29-90 
10-30-90 
10-30-90 
11-02-90 
11-08-90 
11-24-90 
11-24-90 
11-27-90 
12-01-90 
12-12-90 
12-17-90 
12-17-90 
12-17-90 
12-17-90 
12-17-90 
12-17-90 
12-17-90 
12-17-90 
12-31-90 
01-03-91 
01-12-91 
01-15-91 
02-16-91 

110049 

412966 
111038 
1911488 

630052 0) 

310834 -.l 

110027 

112016 
0311403 

310039 

110974 
112144 
110932 
210779 
410704 



217 Freedom Fighters Assassinated During the Chamorro AdmiDistration-Continued 


Name Date ofAssaasination I.D.No. 

56 Lazaro Peralta Rodriguez
57 Jose Hernandez Rugama ("Giovanni") 
58 Felix Perez Reyes ("William") 
59 Esperanza Cruz Rivera 
60 Jose Ramon Fernandez 
61 Domingo Salguera
62 Mariano Uriel Fuentes 
63 Jose Rivera Lopez
64 Daniel Mercado Trochez ("Javier") 
65 Rosario Mairena Alaniz ("La Pulga") 
66 Jose Maria Duarte Rivera ("Emiliano") 
67 Santos Angel Fajardo Gonzales 
68 Santos Angel Lagos Fajardo
69 Rodolfo Calero Espinoza ("Tigre") 
70 Enrique Campos Cerna ("Culebra")
71 Prospero A Urbina B. ("Hormiga',)
72 Domingo Lopez Solis ("Apolinar") 
73 Pedro Antonio Rocha Diaz ("Tufalera") 
74 Felipe Cruz Guatemala ("Corralito") 
75 Bismark Zamora Urbina 
76 Cruz Huerta Martinez ("EIWl"")
77 Levi Saturnino LOpez Rayo ("Rawn") 
78 Leonel Sobalvarro Castro ("Moneda")
79 Jose Noe Portillo Guevara ("Crespo")
80 Mario Patran Vasquez ("Freddy") 
81 Tomas Hernandez Carranza ("Byron") 
82 Frank Hernandez Velasquez ("Chino-I") 

02--23-91 
02--24--91 
03-01-91 
03-04--91 
03-18-91 
03-22--91 
03-27-91 
03-30-91 
04--11-91 
04--20-91 
04--23-91 
04--28-91 
04--28-91 
04--29-91 
05-04--91 
05-05-91 
05-07-91 
05-18-91 
06-01-91 
06-10-91 
06-18-91 
06-21-91 
06-23-91 
07-23-91 
07-27-91 
07-29-91 
08-21-91 

413757 

210450 
510670 

0'.1 
00 

411270 
510547 
412784 
80063 
513527 

311653 
211349 
630254 
312037 
512370 
515692 
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83 Iran Hernandez Velasquez ("EI Chino") 
84 Martin Gonzales Sobalvarro ("Ariel") 
85 Ramon Orozco Buazo ("La Garza")
86 Julio Cano ("Jorvin") 
87 Isaac Ramiro Sevilla Montoya ("Walter") 
88 "Sony" 
89 Jose Alcides Palacios Salgado ("Josue") 
90 Martin Rayo Martinez 
91 Tano Garcia 
92 Ramon Leiva Jarquin 
93 Jesus Antonio Gutierrez Martinez 
94 Rolando Maliano Miranda 
95 Amadeo Mairena Garcia 
96 Jose Esteban Zeledon Blandon ("Wilfredo") 
97 Obdulio Herrera Baquedano ("Dumas") 
98 Armando Gadea Hernandez ("Veloz") 
99 Jose Daniel Reyes Alfaro ("Juan Carlos") 
100 Diego Reyes Rivera ("Donald") . 
101 Mauricio Benavidez ("Avispa") 
102 Jose Rivas Maldonado 
103 Pedro Laguna 
104 Eleodoro Splinger Varela 
105 Francisco Herrera Trochez ("Solin") 
106 Rosalio Mendoza 
107 Miguel Angel Centeno Valenzuela ("Erli") 
108 Francisco Chavarria Castro ("Ruddy") 
109 Jesus Palacios Moreno ("Zapote") 
110 Electerio Mejia 
111 Santos Talavera 
112 Tomas Reynerio Gutierrez Calderon ("Mediano") 
113 Mario Antonio Ruiz 

08-21-91 
08-21-91 
08-21-91 
08-21-91 
08-21-91 
08-21-90 
09-03-91 
09-12-91 
09-15-91 
09-21-91 
10-02-91 
10-06-91 
10-08-91 
10-30-91 
11-06-91 
11-16-91 
11-17-91 
11-17-91 
11-17-91 
11-25-91 
12-16-91 
12-20-91 
12-23-91 
12-24-91 
12-25-91 
12-30-91 
03-24-91 
01-03-92 
01-03-92 
01-03-92 
01-16-92 

211647 
810616 

511220 
80138 
110178 

O'l 
('.0 

512740 
5119148 

511004 

310998 



217 Freedom Fighters Assassinated During the Chamorro Administration-Continued 


Name Date of Assassination I.D. No. 

114 Juan Francisco Ruiz Luquez ("Chino-Rambo") 
115 Reynaldo Arceda ("Pepe") 
116 Ulises Caste116n Reyes
117 Calixto Hernandez 
118 Santos Obando 
119 Efrain Castro 
120 Omar Andres Olivas Acuna ("EI Pinto") 
121 Silvio Rios Rodriguez 
122 Edgard Perez Prado 
123 Rufino Escoto 
124 Javier Oporta
125 Clariso Bermudez 
126 Benigno Gomez 
127 Francisco Rivas 
128 Runner Rodolfo Reyes Luna 
129 Javier Espinoza Delgadillo 
130 Julio Cesar Velasquez 
131 Tomas Reynerio Gutierrez 
132 Jose Hernandez Lopez ("Valiente") 
133 U riel Calderon Martinez 
134 Lucio R. Rostran ("Villatora") 
135 Francisco aodriguez 
136 Apolonio Amador 
137 Paulino Rizo 
138 Asisc10 Cruz 
139 Emilia Avila 
140 Isidoro Ortiz Beltran 

01-24-92 
02-04-92 
02-20-92 
03-04-92 
03-04-92 
03-04-92 
03-07-92 
04-06-92 
05-01-92 
05-21-92 
05-21-92 
05-21-92 
06-01-92 
06-01-92 
06-18-92 
06-28-92 
07-06-92 
01-03-92 
01-15-91 
06-14-90 
07-00-90 
11-12-90 
12-14-90 
12-14-90 
12-14-90 
12-14-90 
12-25-90 

211368 

-..J 
o 

310998 
210779 



141 Pablo Antonio Casco Urbina 08-06-92 

142 Augusto Chavarria Ocon 08-03-92 


NOTE: Dates of assassination of the following members of the Nicaraguan Resistance were not available to the 
Senate Foreign Relations Committee. . 

143 Domingo Quezada 

144 Remberto Hernandez 

145 Gumercindo Montenegro 

146 Mario Matute 

147 Jose Adan Fernandez Torres 

148 Elvin Pinell 

149 Wilmer Sevilla Chavarria 

150 B renen Rostran N Uiiez 

151 Miguel Angel Lagos Fajardo 
 .......,

152 Alfredo Molinares ..... 

153 Evaristo Zeledon Rivera 

154 Zenon Meneses 

155 "Centella" 

156 Emilio Perez Betango 

157 Jose Rivera Torres ("Ranchero") 811402 

158 Mr. Palacios ("Capulina") 

159 Santos Efrain Betanco C. ("Cancer") 515726 

160 Irma Duarte Rivera 

161 Carlos Polanco ("Pajaro Negro") 

162 Pedro Monzon Hernandez ("Saul") 

163 Enrique Miranda ("El Clarin") 




217 Freedom Fighters Assassinated During the Chamorro Administration-Continued 


Name Date of Assassination I.D. No. 

One Dead during the events at the "German Pomares" sugar mill 
Unknown Name 1990-17 former combatants (Northern Front) 
Unknown Name 1991-21 former combatants (Northern Front) 
Unknown Name 1992-3 former combatants (Northern Front) 
COMMANDERS SERIOUSLY WOUNDED: 

Encarnacion Valdivia ("Tigrillo") 

Danilo Galeano ("Tiro al Blanco") 

DISAPPEARED: 
1 Concepcion Valdivia Garcia 

2 Bismark Perez Zeledon ("Chichi", ID No. 110830) 

3 Lucas Tercero Zamora ("EI Chino"; ID No. 11910021) 

4 Nicolas Hernandez Lumbi ("Otoniel"; ID No. 110637) 
5 JesUs Hernandez Gonzalez 
6 Salome Velasquez Aguilar 
7 Basilio Velasquez Aguilar 
8 Encarnacion Valdivia C. 
9 Francisco Valdivia Ch. 

10 Augusto. Cesar Laguna 
11 Oscar Antonio Parrales 
12 Santos Francisco Ibarradates 

Total Number of Deaths: 205 
Total Who Have "Disappeared," and are presumed dead: 12 

severely wounded from attempted
assassination on 01-08-92 

severely wounded from attempted
assassination on 06-13-92 

.....:Jdisappeared September 12, 1990; l\:) 

presumed dead 
abducted by police May 18, 1991; 

presumed dead 
abducted by police October 25, 

1991; presumed dead 
disappeared
dates unknown 
dates unknown 
dates unknown 
dates unknown 
dates unknown 
dates unknown 
dates unknown 
dates unknown 

t • .~:l3!'!.lf~::;: 



VIII. Who Killed Whom 
Information was obtained from the Nicaraguan Pro·Human 

Rights Association (Asociacion Nicaragiiense Pro·Derechos 
Humanos) and the International Federation of Human Rights. 
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Who Killed Whom 


Victim Assassin 

1) Dio~enes Hernandez Membreiio ("Commander Fer­
nando') 

2) Noel Urbina Andino ("Commander Rafa") and Mayor 
Abel Fernandez, Mayor, El Coral 

3) Benjamin Gomez Matey ("Tirso") 

4) Francisco Luis Cano Chavarria ("Chapulin") 

5) Armando Gadea ("Veloz") and Mauricio Benavidez 
("Avispa") 

6) Jesus Hernandez Gonzalez ("Carro Rojo") 

7) Miguel Angel Centeno Valenzuela ("Erli") 
8) Mariano Valle, Jacinto Perez Franklin Martinez, 
Emilio Avila, Marvin Centeno Zeledon, Cresencio Soto, 
Anselmo Castellon 

9) Miguel Angel Rugama Ruiz ("Plateada") 
10) Rodolfo Calero Espinoza (''Tigre'') 
11) Arturo Medina Stony 

12) Jose Andres Zamora Torres ("Grano de Oro") 

Anibal Pais and Anibal Pais Tapia, father and son, 
Sandinista State Security members 

Sandinista Police under command of Police Chief 
Sobalbarro of El Coral 

Walter Herrera-former member of Sandinista State 
Security 

Members of Sandinista Army and Police; Lieutenant 
Alberto Garcia Pineda ordered shooting 

Sandinistas-including Seferino Mairena, Francisco 
Siles, Jose Cruz, Reynaldo Vicente Ochoa and Fausto 
Palacios ~ 

First Lieutenant Fernando Alvarado, "Casita," and sol­
dier Etanislao Arroliga, members of the Sandinista 
Army . 

Serafin Coronado, member of Police 
Captain Luis Enrique Talavera, Chief of Police, Jalapa,

Lt. Eddie Peralta and members of Sandinista Youth 

Etnio Obregon, member of Sandinista Police 
Antonio, FiIemon and Denis Picado, Sandinistas 
Three Sandinista Policemen under orders from Lt. 

Brigido Zamora 
Andres Montiel Montoya and Santos Zeledon, Sandi­

nista Army reservists, Sotero and Emilio Zeledon 



13) Juan Ramon Ruiz Santos ("Estell") 


14) Francisco Javier Herrera Trochez ("Solin") 


15) Tomas Reyniero Gutierrez Calderon .<"Mediano") 


16) Lazaro Peralta Rodriguez 


17) Daniel Mercado Trochez ("Javier") 


18) Jose Hernandez Rugama ("Giovanni Negro") 


19) Rene Espinales Zelaya ("Commander Franklin") 


20) Jose Antonio Carrazco Vanegas ("Diablo"), Emilio or 

Evelio Perez Betanco ("Limay") and civilians Anastasio 
Diaz Cruz, Jose Miguel Hernandez Torres and Dolores 
Romero 

21) Juan Francisco Rayte ("Fernando") and Secundino 
Hernandez 

22) Heliodoro Splinger Varela, Chief of Police, Wiwili, 
Jinotega 

23) Tomas Jarquin Garcia ("Walter") 

24) Adrian and Jacinto Jiron Lanuza 

Lt. Leonel Velasquez Chavarria, Luis Lopez Lorente, 
FSLN (Sandinista National Liberation Front) Activ­
ist; Noel Leiva Moreno and Basilio Lorente (accom­
plices) 

Hector Moreno, former member of Sandinista Popular 
Army 

Marta Loza and Luis Felipe Zeledon, member of Sandi­
nista State Security 

Ramon Palacios Galeano; member, FSLN (Sandinista 
National Liberation Front) 

Apolinar Talavera, former member of Sandinista State 
Security 

Lorenzo Rodriguez, former member of Sandinista State 
Security 

Sandinista Army troop, under command of Virgilio ~ 
Hernandez 

Roger Rivas, Hector Villareyna, Horacio Casco, 
Gregorio Castillo, Martin Artetal Isidro Rivera and 
Reynaldo Laguna (head of Sanainista paramilitary 
groups UPE and UNAG in San Juan, Rio Coco) 

Captain Gamez, Sandinista Chief, Waslala and 
Anacleto Garcia and Francisco Cruz, FSLN (Sandi­
nista National Liberation Front) members 

"Matagalpa," "Caminante" and other former members 
of Sandinista Army under command of Oscar 
Comacho 

Candido Medina and other members of the FSLN (San­
dinista National Liberation Front) 

Jose Antonio Jiron, uncle and former member of Sandi­
nista State Security 



Who Killed Whom-Continued 


Victim Assassin 

25) Marco Antonio Munoz Castro ("Justiciero") 

26) Domingo Salguera 

27) Saturnino Gutierrez 


28) Rosalio Mirena Alaniz ("Pulga") 


29) Jose Alcides Palacios Salgado ("Josue") 

30) Narciso Rios Machado 
31) Jose Daniel Reyes Alfaro ("Juan Carlos") and Diego 

Reyes Rivera 

32) Omar Andres Olivas Acuna ("EI Pinto") 

33) Juan Francisco Ruiz Luquez ("Chino-Rambo") 


34) Felipe Cruz Guatemala ("Corralito") 

35) Jose Blandon Estrada ("Marvin") 

36) Jose Hernandez LOpez ("Valiente") 


37) Carlos Benavidez Cortes ("Wilson") 

38) Jesus Palacios Moreno ("Zapote") 

39) Cruz Huerta Martinez ("Elwi") 

Lester Ferrufino ("Capulina"), Jesus Picado and Carlos 
Patricio Perez Castro, members of Sandinista Army 

Lt. Nicolas Guido, Sandinista Army 
Eradio Munoz Matey and other members of armed 

paramilitary cooperative, "EI Tamarindo" 
Lt. Luis Urbina, former member of Sandinista State 

Security 
Sandinista Lt. Mario Jarquin and Lt. Luis Reyes 
Genaro Valle 
Hector Rivera, active former member of Sandinista 

Army/Police and Sandinista National Liberation ~ 
Front collaborator 

Sandinista Chief of the Brigade Morales Bradford and 
Sandinista police 

Members of Sandinista paramilitary group, "la Zahino" 
and "Wiliquito," lead by Miguel Ismael Martinez 

Soldiers under command of Juan LOpez Martinez 
Pedro Jose Lopez, involved with Sandinistas 
Justiniano Treminio, former member of Sandinista 

State Security 
Gabino Perez Mendez, member of Sandinista Popular 

Army 
Nicolas Guido Navarrete, member of Sandinista Popu­

lar Army 
Rene Ramos Rodriguez and Luis Vicente Izaguerre, 

members of Police 

"--~::~"Z' 



40) Sonia Rivera Hernandez 

41) Justo Salgado Aguirre 

42) Elvin Melgara Reyes 

43) Tano Garcia 

44) Carlos Abraham Gutierrez ("Capitol Chi quito") 

45) Isidoro Ortez Beltran ("Gallito") 


46) Lucio R. Rostran ("Villatora") 

4 7) Lucas Tercero Zamora ("EI Chino"}-Illegally de­

tained, presumed dead 
48) Concepcion Valdivia Garcia-Missing, presumed

dead 

Members of Sandinista paramilitary cooperative, 
"Banacito" 

Members of Sandinista paramilitary cooperative "Che 
Guevara" 

Members of Sandinista paramilitary cooperative "Che 
Guevara" 

1st Lt. Javier Aguilar and his brothers 
Captain Eligio Andino 
Faustino Flores and Sergio Suarez, members of Sandi­

nista Popular Army 
Lt. Miguel Escorcia, Sandinista Popular Army 
Raul Castillo, Amado and Justo (last names unknown,) 

members of Sandinista Police 
Abducted by 10 Sandinista Popular Army members 

from "EI Hormiguero" station under command of j 
Daniel Castellon 



IX. The Murder of Jean Paul Genie 

There is extensive evidence that General Humberto Ortega mas­
terminded the cover-up of the murder of Jean Paul Genie-an un­
armed 16 year old youth-who was killed in Ortega's presence. 
This chapter sets forth the evidence of Ortega's complicity-and the 
failure of President Chamorro's Government to pursue vigorously 
the case. The acceptance by the U. S. Military Attache-with the 
consen t of the U.S. Ambassador-of an award from General Ortega 
raises questions about the seriousness with which the U.S. Em­
bassy in Managua views this case. 

On January 14, 1992, Lt. Col. Dennis Quinn, the Military
Attache at the United States Embassy in Managua, and American 
Ambassador Schlaudeman attended a luncheon ceremony hosted by 
the Sandinista Popular Army. The Military Attache accepted the 
"Camilo Ortega Saavedra Gold Medal, First Class," the highest 
military honor the Sandinista Popular Army can bestow on a for­
eigner. The man who presented the medal to Lt. Col. Quinn was 
General Humberto Ortega, Commander-in-Chief of the Sandinista 
Popular Army. 

According to an unclassified Department of Defense cable num­
bered 00458 and dated January 16, 1992, the U.S. Ambassador 
gave authorization for Lt. Col. Quinn to receive this award the day 
before the Sandinista-hosted ceremony. Paragraph three of that 
message states 'lIJ'his message has been cleared by the Ambas­
sador." The message was read to us over the phone by rep­
resentatives from the Department of Defense. 

This award ceremony is pertinent to this investigation because 
when the medal was given, General Ortega was under investiga­
tion for his part in the murder of an unarmed 16 year old youth 
named Jean Paul Genie; a crime for which no trial has been sched­
uled. (When the award was given, this staff received many calls 
from contacts in Managua strongly protesting the acceptance of 
this award because it gave the appearance that the United States 
Government was not concerned by the allegations against General 
Ortega.) 

According to a Venezuelan Government investigation, at approxi­
mately 8:40 p.m. on October 28, 1990 Jean Paul Genie, a Nica­
raguan youth, was driving home alone on the main thoroughfare 
between the cities of Managua and Masaya. Though unarmed, he 
was shot and killed in his car by automatic weapons about 1 ¥2 
miles from the home of General Humberto Ortega, Chief of the 
Sandinista Popular Army. The scene of the crime is only several 
kilometers from the United States Ambassador's residence and the 
chancery of Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo. According to eye­
witnesses, General Ortega's motorcade was making its way to the 
General's compound on the same highway at the same time. 

(79) 
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Diagram made by Venezuelan authorities of the number and location of bullets 
impacting Jean Paul Genie's Mitsubish Lancer 
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According to court transcripts, moments before Genie was mur­
dered, a friend of his, named Walter Salmeron, passed him on the 
highway. Salmeron later testified before the 7th Criminal Court 
that after passing Genie, he came upon a convoy of four Jeep CJ­
7 Renegades, the last two of which had canvas tops and were open. 
Both were olive green and were occupied by armed soldiers. Other 
than the Jeep CJ-7 Renegades used by Humberto Ortega and Dan­
iel Ortega, only four Jeep CJ-7s existed in all of Nicaragua, accord­
ing to the National Police report in the files of the 7th Criminal 
Court in Managua. The four Jeep CJ-7s not owned by the Ortega 
brothers are not customized. The Ortegas owned the only cus­
tomized Jeep CJ-7s in Nicaragua. 

Salmeron passed the motorcade at a high speed and saw the two 
lead vehicles which were also Jeep CJ-7 Renegades, but were black 
and closed-in with doors. The first Jeep had a siren and _police 
lights. On November 27, 1990 in a letter to General Ortega, Carlos 
Hurtado, former Minister of the Government, confirmed that this 
fits the description of both the Ortega's motorcades. 

Andres Duque, a Colombian journalist, driving on the same high­
way in the same direction, testified before the 7th Criminal Court 
that he heard shots. Duque further testified that when he reached 
the top of a hill he saw tracer bullets. He stopped and got out of 
his car and saw two or three machine-guns from within the Jeeps 
firing at Genie's brown Mitsubishi Lancer while it passed the mo­
torcade. The car crashed into an embankment, but the shooting 
continued as the motorcade'passed by. 

Jean Paul Genie died from a shot in the back. His car was rid­
dled with 19 bullet holes and the police found 51 AK-47 shells on 
the road. 

Police photograph of Jean Paul Genie shortly after he was murdered 
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The July 14, 1992 edition of the Miami Herald reported that 
Humberto Ortega met with Raymond Genie, (Jean Paul was Ray­
mond Genie's only child), three days after the murder to ten him 
that neither he nor his brother Daniel had anything to do with the 
incident. He also said that Mr. Genie should be "trusting and be­
lieve in what he was telling us." SFRC Republican staff was told 
by a very high ranking Nicaraguan Government official with direct 
knowledge of this affair that General Ortega was indeed in the mo­
torcade when Genie was murdered. Moreover the source knew for 
a fact that Ortega's bodyguards had standing orders to shoot first 
and ask questions later if a suspicious car attempted to pass the 
motorcade. 

Genie's parents met with President Chamorro twice in November 
1990 to discuss the case. The Genie family told SFRC Republican 
staff that Mrs. Chamorro promised her full cooperation in the in­
vestigation of the crime. 

A. THE COVER-UP 

According to SFRC Republican staff interviews with Raymond 
Genie, various human rights officials, Oscar Herdocia, (the Genies' 
counsel and a leading Nicaraguan attorney who turned down an 
offer by Mrs. Chamorro to sit on the Supreme Court), and numer­
ous international press reports, the police "investigation" was 
marred with inconsistencies, delays and alleged cover-ups. 

• On 	 November 10, 1991, Assistant Commander Mauricio 
Aguilar was shot and killed by his assistant, Harold Meza. 
Aguilar was involved in the Genie case as the number two per­
son on the police crime bureau. According to Aguilar's parents, 
he was about to make public all he knew about the case. (The 
Miami Herald, July 14, 1992.) 

• Harold Meza 	was tried before a military tribunal. Two wit­
nesses testified that he had told Aguilar that he was under or­
ders to kill him (Aguilar). However, the tribunal ruled that this 
part of the testimony was inadmissible. Meza was given a 
three year sentence by the tribunal, but is serving his time in 
the equivalent of a half-way-house and he is free to come and 
go. 

• On March 4, 1991, the Vice Minister of the Government, Jose 
Pallais sent Genie's case to the Attorney General stating that 
the pojice had insufficient evidence to prosecute. The Nica­
raguan National Assembly requested technical assistance for 
the investigation from the Venezuela Government on April 22, 
1991. (That assistance was subsequently granted and the Ven­
ezuelan authorities conducted an investigation-the conclu­
sions of which were filed on August 27, 1991.) 

• On September 	3, 1991, Colonel Sidney Lacayo, Chief body­
guard of General Ortega, testified before the 7th Criminal 
Court that the General's motorcade logbook was burned in 
January 1991 because the Nicaraguan National Police had not 
requested it. 

• On October 7, 1991 the Nicaraguan Attorney General publicly 
denounced the destruction of Genie's blood stained shirt which 
was in possession of the National Police. 
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• Colonel Omar Halleslevens, Chief of Military Counter Intel­
ligence, testified before the 7th Criminal Court that General 
Ortega had ordered on October 29, 1990, (one day after the 
murder), to form a committee to investigate the crime. How­
ever, in January 1991, the logbook containing information on 
the entrances and departures of vehicles from Military Camp 
#003, which is General Ortega's residence were destroyed, ac­
cording to Colonel Halleslevens. 

• According to Colonel Halleslevens' testimony, the weapons con­
trol logbook was also destroyed. So there is no proof who had 
which weapon assigned to him. 

• Colonel 	 Halleslevens also testified that the weapons of the 
General's bodyguards were not submitted to the Nicaraguan
National Police until after December 3, 1990-almost 40 aays 
after the murder. 

By August 27, 1991-five months after the Nicaraguan National 
Assembly requested technical assistance-the Venezuelan authori­
ties completed their investigation. A translation of the conclusion 
reads, "Respectfully we charge the members of the bodYgll8rd of 
General Humberto Ortega Saavedra, who were on duty on October 
28, 1990, as the principal suspects of the homicide of the minor 
Jean Paul Genie." 

Despite the conclusions of the investigation, Nicaraguan authori­
ties refused to prosecute the case. 

• On February 7, 1992, the Public Relations Director of the San­
dinista Popular Army, Ricardo Wheelock, officially denounced 
the findings of the Venezuelan investigation as "unsustainable 
conclusions of a group of foreigners." 

• On the same date Ricardo Wheelock notified the 7th Criminal 
Court that the Sandinista Popular Army would not allow the 
bodyguards of General Ortega to testify at the Genie trial. 

• On February 25, 1992, the 7th Criminal Court issued arrest or­
ders for contempt of court to four bodyguards of General Or­
tega because of their refusal to testifj. The order was never 
carried out by the National Police. 

On July 2, 1992 the 7th Criminal Court charged that General 
Ortega's bodyguards were the prime suspects in the Genie murder, 
and that General Ortega, as well as two other military: officers, 
were covering up the bodyguards' crime. Consequently, the Judge 
recused himself from the proceedings and sent the case to a mili­
tary tribunal because the case involved members of the Armed 
Forces. (The Miami Herald, July 14, 1992.) 

B. THE ORTEGA-CONTROLLED MILITARY TRmUNAL 

According to Raymond Genie, Lino Hernandez, President of the 
Permanent Commission on Human Rights of Nicaragua, Oscar 
Herdocia and Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo, trying General Or­
tega and his bodyguards before a Sandinista military court can not 
result in a fair trial. Hernandez was quoted in the July 14, 1992 
issue of The Miami Herald as saying "the recent historY of military
courts shows that the results always go in favor of the Army ana 
Sandinismo. " 

Hernandez and Herdocia explained that as chief of the Sandi­
nista Popular Army, General Ortega appoints all the members of 
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the tribunal. The chief judge of this military tribunal is also the de­
fense attorney for the accused bocly~ards. The prosecuting attor­
ney is also a member of the Sandimsta Popular Army. The entire 
proceedings are a military secret, unless the chief of the Sandinista 
Popular Army declares otherwise. 

If Raymond Genie chooses to appeal the decision of the tribunal, 
he must appeal to another military tribunal. This three person 
board is again appointed by the head of the Sandinista Popular 
Army, General Humberto Ortega. 

If Raymond Genie decides to appeal the decision of the second 
tribunal, he must appeal to the Supreme Court. The Supreme 
Court is made up of nine Justices, five of whom are Sandinista 
holdovers from the previous regime. However, as head of the Sandi­
nista Popular Army, it is the prerogative of General Ortega to deny 
an appeal to the Supreme Court from any military tribunal. 

Finally, if General Ortega takes a leave of absence from his du­
ties, (as has been suggested), a December 27, 1989 military law re­
quires that his successor be elevated from the military hierarchy­
which is made up entirely of Sandinistas. At every stage of the pro­
ceedings, General Ortega will have undue influence on those decid­
ing the outcome of the trial. 

C. CONCLUSION 

Human rights activist Lino Hernandez contends that the 
Chamorro Government is afraid of General Ortega and the Sandi­
nista Popular Army. In the July 14, 1992 issue of The Miami Her­
ald, he said that "the government prefers to sacrifice justice rather 
than create problems with the Sandinistas." On our first day in 
Mana~ in July 1992, SFRC Republican staff was told by Car­
dinal Obando y Bravo that no justice can be expected from a mili­
tary tribunal. 

Even to the casual observer, evidence against the bodyguards of 
General Humberto Ortega is overwhelming. The attitude of the 
Nicaraguan Government ensures that this case will not be inves­
tigated thoroughly. The history of the Jean Paul Genie case clearly 
shows that General Ortega has undue influence over the civilian 
judicial system and absolute control over the military judicial sys­
tem. As long as President Chamorro retains General Ortega as 
Chief of the Sandinista security forces, it will be impossible to have 
genuine military reform in Nicaragua. 

...,.----+------.....-<.........~.... >.~"~""-,, •."..'=...... ""~---~--. 




X. Human Rights 

In its 1991 report on the human rights situation in Nicaragua, 
the Organization of American States' Inter-American Commission 
on Human Rights (IACHR) singled out the Nicaraguan security 
forces for criticism. IACHR accused the security forces of acting 
like a "state within a state, acting in concert with one particular 
political party [the Sandinista Party] and to the detriment of the 
civilian authority of the democratically elected, constitutional Gov­
ernment." 

The Senate Foreign Relations Committee (SFRC) Republican 
staff has interviewed several human rights leaders and determined 
that the Sandinista security forces have grossly abused human 
rights under the Chamorro Government. In this chapter we high­
light several of the most notable cases. 

A. THE AssASS~ATION OF ENRIQUE BERMiJDEZ 

On February 16, 1991, former Nicaraguan Resistance leader 
Enrique Bermudez was assassinated in the parking lot of the Inter­
continental Hotel in Managua, just yards away from the official 
Sandinista Popular Army Headquarters. Mr. Bermudez had re­
cently returned to Managua from Miami to try to recover his con­
fiscated properties, and according to his widow Elsa, to demand 
from the Government of Mrs. Chamorro better treatment of the Re­
sistance members who laid down their arms when Mrs. Chamorro 
came to power. 

On November 21, 1990, just three months before his murder, Mr. 
Bermudez wrote a letter to Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo, 
which has since been published. In the letter Bermudez explained 
that the Government believed he was behind much of the anti-San­
dinista unrest throughout the countryside. He learned this from 
Aristides Sanchez, his former colleague in the Resistance, who 
while being interrogated b~ the Sandinista National Police, was re­
peatedly told of Bermudez s alleged involvement in causing the un­
rest. Sanchez confirmed to the SFRC Republican staff that he had 
been told by his torturers, who were high ranking officials of the 
Sandinista National Police, that they intended to kill Bermudez. 
After Mr. Sanchez was released, he called Mr. Bermudez's wife 
Elsa from Miami and suggested that her husband leave Managua 
or take asylum in an embassy. 

In his letter, Enrique Bermudez told the Cardinal that he "con­
sidered it [an] immoral and vengeful position against those who 
fought bravely and who had the courage to lay down their arms in 
good faith, believing that they arrived at the beginning of a new 
era of peace . . ." In his final paragraph, Mr. Bermudez told the 
Cardinal that if anything happened to him, the Sandinistas were 
to blame. Bermudez was assassinated two and a half months later. 

(85) 
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By March of 1991, it was clear that the Sandinista National Po­
lice investigation of Bermudez's murder was not a serious one. Ac­
cording to the May 13, 1991 edition of The Miami Herald, the Na­
tional Police found neither bullets nor spent bullet casings at the 
scene of the crime on the night of February 16. The day after the 
crime, however, the National Police said they discovered a bullet in 
plain sight, just four yards from where Bermudez fell. It is impor­
tant to note that one of the principal National Police investigators 
was former Chief of Sandinista State Security, Lenin Cerna. The 
investigation was a mockery filled with a host of other problems, 
including the following: 

• Police failure to cordon off the crime scene; 
• Police failure to list all witnesses present; 
• Police failure to trace license plate numbers (carefully recorded 

by Bermudez in his personal notebook) of cars Bermudez sus­
pected were following him in the days leading up to his assas­
sination; 

• Discrepancies between the forensic report made by the Sandi­
nista National Police and the independent forenSIC report (re­
quested by Bermudez's widow) made in Miami concerning the 
trajectory of the bullet; 

• Discrepancies between the forensic report made by 	the Sandi­
nista National Police and the independent forensic report made 
in Miami concerning the number of bullets fired at Bermudez; 

• Refusal of Nicaraguan authorities 	to release the official au­
topsy report to the Bermudez family to assist them in their ef­
forts to find justice. 

On March 11, 1991, Mrs. Chamorro signed Presidential Agree­
ment No.. 90-91 which established a Special Investigatory Commis­
sion to assist and oversee the police investigation of the Bermudez 
murder.· She appointed Dr. Felipe Sanchez (Personal Rep­
resentative of Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo), Dr. Eduardo 
Rivas, Dr. Julio Ruiz, Dr. Orlando Buitra~o and Don Luis Fley 
(former Nicaraguan Resistance Commander 'Johnson") to the Com­
mission. 

The Commission initially had the support of Mrs. Bermudez, but 
the International Commission for Human Rights confirms that the 
Commission suffered from severe limitations from the beginning.
The Commission had no subpoena power, it had no independent
power to prosecute, and it was subordinated to the Sandinista Na­
tional Police. The Presidential ~eement stated that the Commis­
sion was not to disturb the official Sandinista investigation. 

The State Department Human Rights Report of 1991 credits the 
Chamorro Government for asking the United States Federal Bu­
reau of Investigation for assistance. However, each request from 
the Government of Nicaragua concerned only suspects living in the 
United States. 

In its final report, the Special Investigatory Commission specifi­
cally requested technical assistance, stating that "in Nicaragua 
there are neither the resources nor the manpower to complete such 
a complex investigation. Therefore, it is our conviction that con­
cerning the present case [that of Enrique Bermudez] it is necessary 
to have highly specialized technical assistance for all of the inves­
tigation that has not been completed." 
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In the May 13, 1991, The Miami Herald, a Chamorro Govern­
ment official said that the request for technical assistance had been 
discarded because "that would be to doubt the capacity of the Nica­
raguan Police." Dr. Eduardo Rivas of the Commission confirmed to 
the SFRC Republican staff that no technical assistance for the in­
vestigation in Managua was ever requested by the Chamorro Gov­
ernment. 

Dr. Rivas also told the SFRC Republican staff that the Commis­
sion dissolved "in disgust" because of the lack of cooperation with 
the Sandinista National Police and because it was clear that the 
Chamorro Government was not serious about solving the Bermudez 
murder. 

Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo expressed to the SFRC Repub­
lican staff in July his doubts about the Chamorro Government's 
commitment to solve the crime. The Cardinal said that there has 
been no investigation of the Bermudez assassination for the past
year and that nobody in the Nicaraguan Government "even talks 
about this case anymore." 

B. THE ILLEGAL ARREST AND TORTURE OF ARISTIDES SANCHEZ 

The 1990 edition of the State Department's Human Rights Re­
port allocates one paragraph to the illegal arrest and torture of 
Nicaraguan Resistance leader and prominent businessman 
Aristides Sanchez by the Sandinista National Police. While the 
Human Rights Report relied heavily on Sanchez's version of events, 
the SFRC Republican staff investigation has found independent 
evidence from a variety of sources to corroborate Sanchez's charges. 

The Human Rights Report asserts that Mr. Sanchez "accused the 
police of torture while he was held at 'EI Chipote' detention facility 
for allegedly stockpiling weapons." Sanchez told SFRC Republican 
staff that during the night of November 15, 1990, the police burst 
into his bedroom, placed three hand-grenades on a table, and told 
him he was under arrest for possession of the hand-grenades. 

According to a knowledgeable source, Rene Vivas, Chief of the 
Sandinista National Police, was given direct orders by his superiors 
to hold Sanchez in the local jail for questioning. But Vivas ignored 
this order, and Sanchez was taken to "EI Chipote" (the most notori­
ous prison in Nicaragua) rather than the local jail. 

During Sanchez's first day of confinement, Dr. Jose Montiel ex­
amined him and recommended that, due to an already poor heart 
condition, he be transferred to a hospital. (Two weeks after his re­
lease he had emergency heart surgery in Miami.) However, the rec­
ommendation was ignored, and Sanchez was sent to "Las 
Chiquitas" --cells which are about the size of a casket. 

Mer his release, Mr. Sanchez wrote Senator Jesse Helms a let­
ter to describe his imprisonment and torture. He stated that he 
was confined to one of these cells for three days without food and 
without being allowed to sleep. His feet swelled so much that the 
pain became unbearable. 

In his letter, Sanchez writes that he was finally transferred, ''for 
health reasons," to a slightly larger cell. The only improvement 
however, was that he could lie down. The only source of water in 
the cell was from the toilet, which had accumulated urine and 
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feces. His only source of nutrition was a small cup of rice and a 
glass of water twice a day. 

According to a written statement provided to the SFRC, Sanchez 
states that he was psychologically tormented, subjected to lengthy 
interrogations, and harassed with threats and insults. His captors 
repeatedly accused him of destabilizing the government by leading 
a movement of former Resistance members in peaceful protests. 
They also tried to get him to implicate Enrique Bermudez in the 
plot. (See Appendix) 

Mr. Sanchez verified that those present at the torture and inter~ 
rogations were Javier Lopez, Sandinista Chief of the Penal System! 
Commander Rene Vivas, Chief of the feared Sandinista Nationa 
Police and Commander Lenin Cerna, Sandinista Chief of the new 
State Security system. A high level Nicaraguan Government source 
confirmed that these people were present. A part of his torture in­
cluded being drugged and forced to sign documents which were 
meant to compromise him, as well as important Nicaraguan politi­
cians. Three authoritative independent sources with direct knowl­
edge of the situation have confirmed to the SFRC Republican staff 
that Sanchez was forced to sign these papers and that he was tor­
tured. 

According to an authoritative Nicaraguan Government official, 
the order to arrest Sanchez came directly from Antonio Lacayo, 
Minister of the Presidency and son-in-law of Mrs. Chamorro. An 
anti-government movement lead by anti-Sandinista mayors was 
gaining momentum across the country shortly after Mrs. 
Chamorro's inauguration. The movement was peaceful, and one of 
its central demands was the resignation of Antonio Lacayo, Gen­

"eral Humberto Ortega, the Sandinista Popular Army Chief, and 
Carlos Hurtado, then Minister of the Government. As a prominent 
citizen and an important leader of the Nicaraguan Resistance, 
Sanchez was the most serious threat to the Chamorro Government 
and its partners, the Sandinistas. A Nicaraguan Government 
source confirmed to the SFRC Republican staff that this was the 
only reason for Sanchez's arrest and torture. 

The SFRC investigation failed to find any legal reason why 
Sanchez was arrested. Indeed, another Nicaraguan Government 
source knowledgeable about the case said that Sanchez was ar­
rested simply because of "suspicion that he would be leading the 
peaceful [mayors] movement. But, there was no proof." Yet another 
source with first hand knowledge also confirmed that arms were 
planted in Sanchez's house because there was no legal basis for his 
arrest. 

Sanchez was finally released on November 21, 1990, only after 
international pressure mounted. Before he was released, however, 
Mrs. Sanchez was told by a Nicaraguan Government official that 
her husband had three options: to immediately leave the country 
and not return to Nicaragua until Mrs. Chamorro had finished her 
term; to remain in jail for ten years; or to be released in Managua 
and be killed on the streets. 

Aristides Sanchez credits Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo for 
saving his life by personally asking Mrs. Chamorro to release him. 
Mrs. Chamorro told the Cardinal that Sanchez was a threat to the 
Government, nevertheless he was soon released. The United States 
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Congress also got involved by threatening to suspend economic aid 
unless Sanchez was released. 

Based on the above facts, and on interviews with many inde­
pendent sources, we believe that there is indisputable evidence that 
Mr. Sanchez was arrested illegally, was tortured and was deported 
from Nicaragua. We find it disturbing that while visiting Washing­
ton in July, Minister of the Government Mendieta emphatically de­
nied that Sanchez had been tortured. 

C. MASS GRAVES 

The "Declaration of Managua," signed by Mrs. Chamorro and the 
Nicaraguan Resistance leaders on May 4, 1990, reiterated the Gov­
ernment's commitment to "guarantee the physical and moral integ­
rity of each and every one of the combatants of the Nicaraguan Re­
sistance, their family and the civilian population accompanying 
them." Unfortunatel~, the fonner combatants and their families 
have been repeatedly subjected to harassment, human rights 
abuses, and assassinations by the Sandinista security forces. 

Of particular concern to Nicaraguans is the recent discovery of 
many mass graves. Most of the graves date to the Sandinista re­
gime, and some contain the remains of women and children. Re­
sponsibility for the graves can be traced to either the Sandinista 
Popular Army, the National Police or the Sandinista State Secu­
rit;y.

Of the graves exhumed so far, at least one contains bodies buried 
in 1990 after Mrs. Chamorro was inaugurated. Those responsible 
for mass killings before the election of Mrs. Chamorro, in many 
cases, have remained in positions of authority. These facts have 
been confirmed to the SFRC Republican staff by several human 
rights leaders. 

The Nicaraguan Pro-Human Rights Association reports that on 
December 9, 1990, in the region of Loma Chata, San Juan Del Rio 
Coco, Madriz, members of the Sandinista Popular Army and the 
State Security arrested five peasants, tortured them, and then 
murdered them the next day. All five bodies were dumped into a 
hole on the property of Mrs. Evelia Hernandez. The Nicaraguan 
Pro-Human Rights Association exhumed the bodies on April 19, 
1991, and was able to identify four of the victims. As of this writ­
ing, no one has been accused or arrested for this crime. 

Several independent human rights organizations believe that the 
Sandinista Popular Army is responsible for thousands of murders 
unrelated to combat. As of yet, not one soldier or officer has been 
brought to trial for war crimes. 

A typical incident occurred on May 16, 1985 in Bluefields, Au­
tonomous Region of the South Atlantic. According to depositions, 
young draft evaders, who were also members of the Nicaragp.an Re­
sistance Southern Front, attacked the city's military installations. 
Sixteen of them died and about ten surrendered. Later, all ten 
were murdered inside the police station, and their bodies were ex­
hibited publicly throughout the city. The dead were then taken to 
Santa Matilde, a suburb of Bluefields, and dumped into a single 
grave. 

On April 27, 1990, these 10 bodies and 25 others were found in 
this grave by the Nicaraguan Pro-Human Rights Association. The 
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Sandinista Popular Army, however, ordered work to stop before all 
the bodies could be recovered. The case of the Santa Matilde ceme­
tery illustrates some of the obstacles to justice in Nicaragua. The 
Chamorro Government has made no effort to punish those respon­
sible for the massacre. Domingo Navas was the former Chief of Se­
curity and Chief of Police in the region when the massacre oc­
curred. Navas serves in the Chamorro Government as a Chief of 
the Anti-Narcotics section of the National Police. Moreover, in this 
case, the Sandinista Popular Army hindered the investigation of 
the Nicaraguan Pro-Human Rights Association. 

The excavation by the Nicaraguan Pro-Human Rights Associa­
tion of another mass grave known as EI Mokoron in 1990 was so 
controversial that it sparked a debate in the National Assembly. 
The Sandinista Party claimed that the cul{>rits were protected oy 
the amnesty laws which forgave all "politIcal crimes." No action 
was taken by the National Assembly. 

D. AMNESTY FOR COMMON CRIMINALS 

The first amnesty law (No. 100) was passed by the National As­
sembly and signed by Mrs. Chamorro on May 10, 1990. This legis­
lation was one of the first acts of "national reconciliation" by Mrs. 
Chamorro and the National Assembly. According to leading Nica­
raguan lawmakers, Law 100 was applied to actions which had oc­
curred under the previous regime and it was sufficiently generous. 

The following year on December 22, 1991, Mrs. Chamorro felt it 
necessary to extend amnesty to those who had committed common 
crimes after she came to power. So she signed a second amnesty 
law by decree (Decree No. 47-91). This law provided amnesty for 
all those responsible for "political and related common crimes" 
which occurred during the beginning of her term. The precursor to 
Decree No. 47-91 was the destruction of the statue of the famous 
Sandinista Carlos Fonseca and the ensuing riots of Sandinista 
mobs in Managua. Private propert)' was burned, and the Mayor of 
Managua's office was ransacked and burned. 

According to a prominent Nicaraguan Congressman, this am­
nesty law was signed as a Presidential Decree rather than being 
introduced as a bill in the National Assembly_because the National 
Assembly would have rejected such a law. The United States De­
partment of State's "Country Reports on Human Rights Practices 
for 1991" says that some human rights groups claim that this par­
ticular decree makes it impossible to bring known human rights 
abusers to justice.

The Nicaraguan Pro-Human Rights Association, the Permanent 
Commission on Human Rights and other internationally recognized 
human rights organizations continue to criticize the Chamorro Gov­
ernment for not investigating these past crimes. The SFRC Repub­
lican staff has copies of letters written by human rights groups to 
Mrs. Chamorro telling her that the amnesty laws have made it im­
possible to investigate, process and punish those responsible for 
acts which constitute crimes against humani~. 

These same groups have challenged the Government to remove 
those who committed the atrocities from the police and security 
forces. Several of the key human rights groups that focus on Nica­
ragua confirm to SFRC Republican staff that Mrs. Chamorro has 
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not yet responded to these challenges. In most instances, the mili­
tary and police leaders, who should be held responsible for such 
crimes continue to serve in top government positions. 

E. THE PLIGHT OF THE FORMER NICARAGUAN RESISTANCE 

The SFRC Republican staff has amassed a list of more than 217 
former Nicaraguan Resistance members who, according to Nica­
raguan human rights organizations, have been killed by the Sandi­
nista Popular Army or the Sandinista National Police since Mrs. 
Chamorro was elected in 1990. As of this date, no one has been 
prosecuted for these crimes. 

Former Nicaraguan Resistance leaders told the SFRC Republican 
staff in Managua that human rights abuses continue to occur regu­
larly against them, their families and their supporters. Everyone 
with whom we talked to in Managua said that there is concern that 
the Chamorro Government, while working side by side with the 
Sandinistas, has not attempted to reconcile with the 130,000 
former Nicaraguan Resistance members and their dependents. 

Former Nicaraguan Resistance members credit the Organization 
of American States' verification team in Nicaragua with profes­
sionally investigating human rights abuses against former Nica­
raguan Resistance members. However, they also told SFRC Repub­
lican staff that the Chamorro Government has taken no action to 
assure them of their personal security, one of the provisions of the 
written agreements signed by the Chamorro Government. Accord­
ing to various organizations involved in the verification process, the 
Chamorro Government has not complied with most of the promises 
in the accords agreed to by both sides. (See Appendix). 

Religious, civic and political leaders confirmed to the SFRC Re­
publican staff the disastrous plight of the former Nicaraguan Re­
sistance and the lack of political will by the Chamorro Government 
to prosecute those responsible for human rights violations against 
the former Nicaraguan Resistance. Because of the importance of \ 
this issue, a separate chapter is devoted to the Nicaraguan Resist­
ance. 

F. No JUSTICE FOR JEAN PAUL GENIE 

A growing number of Nicaraguans are putting bumper-stickers 
on their cars which read "Jean Paul Pide Justicia:' or "Jean Paul 
Asks for Justice." Even though the Sandinista Popular Army and 
Sandinista National Police control the streets, these courageous 
people express their outrage at the Government of Nicaragua for 
allowing the murderers of an unarmed 16 year old boy, Jean Paul 
Genie, to go unpunished. 

The Genie family'S tragedy clearly shows that the Sandinistas 
continue to act with impunity throughout Nicaragua. Mr. and Mrs. 
Genie remained in Nicaragua during the 19808 and were not 
known to be enemies of the Sandinista regime. The evidence that 
General Humberto Ortega, Commander-in-Chief of the Sandinista 
Popular Army, was directly involved in the crime is overwhelming, 
yet no one has been arrested, and there is no date for a trial. The 
international attention, as well as the magnitude of the alleged 
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cover-up by Nicaraguan Government authorities, requires that this 
case be handled as a separate chapter. 

Jean Paul Genie's body in the passenger seat of the Mitsubishi Lancer after he was 
murdered, allegedly by General Ortega's bodyguards. 

G. LACK OF JUDICIAL REFORM 

Everyone outside of the Nicaraguan Government (and many in­
side the Government) agree that violence against innocent civilians 
in Nicaragua will continue until the high-ranking Sandinistas are 
removed from all the security forces, and until the Chamorro Gov­
ernment begins to reform the corrupt and biased judicial system. 

During his trip to Washington in July 1992 the Nicaraguan For­
eign Minister, Ernesto Leal told the SFRC Republican staff that 
while five out of nine Justices on the Supreme Court are members 
of the Sandinista National Liberation Front, Mrs. Chamorro did 
not intend to appoint new justices so that the Sandinist;as would 
not control the Court-even though she has the constitutional right 
to do so. SRFC Republican staff was also told by the Forei~ Min­
ister that even the four new Justices saw no need to appomt new 
members "because all decisions are reached by consensus." 

Part of the problem in Nicaragua may be that new judges at 
every level would rather "go along to get alon( than confront the 
difficult and perhaps dangerous task of reformmg the system. Fur­
thennore, those interviewed during the SFRC Republican staff in­
vestigation believe that there can never be a state of law in Nica­
ragua until there are both judicial and constitutional reforms. The 
platform on which Mrs. Chamorro ran promised 17 Constitutional 
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amendments. To date, Mrs. Chamorro has presented no package of 
Constitutional amendments to the National Assembly. The Con­
stitution was written and passed by the Sandinistas in 1987. 

H. CONTROLLED PREss-NEWSPAPERS 

One of the accomplishments of the Chamorro Government has 
been to allow freedom of speech-in an arbitrary manner. The Gov­
ernment also touts progress on extending freedom for the press. 
However, even though the United States Department of State's 
Human Rights Report does not mention the print media, the fact 
is that President Chamorro's family either owns or directly controls 
every national newspaper in Nicara~a. 

The flagship publication of the Chamorro family is La Prensa. 
During the Somoza years, La Prensa was an opposition newspaper. 
During the first year of the Sandinista regime, when Mrs. 
Chamorro was a member of the ruling Junta, La Prensa was pro­
Sandinista. After Mrs. Chamorro left the Junta, La Prensa rarely 
criticized the Sandinista's Marxist-Leninist ideology. 

During the Sandinista regime the newspaper was suspended for 
a period of time. After the newspaper reopened it was censored for 
its attacks against the authoritarian nature of the Sandinista re­
gime. 

Currently, the President of the newspaper is President Violeta 
Chamorro's daughter, Cristiana. The Secretary of the paper is Mrs. 
Chamorro's sister-in-law, Ana Maria Chamorro. Its Vice President 
is Jaime Chamorro, President Chamorro's brother-in-law. Another 
Director of La Prensa is Margarita Cardenal de Chamorro, Presi­
dent Chamorro's mother-in-law. 

La Prensa has been very supportive of the Government since 
Mrs. Chamorro was elected President. Cristiana is married to per­
haps the second most powerful man in Nicaragua, (after General 
Humberto Ortega) Antonio Lacayo, who is the Minister of the Pres­
idency. Mrs. Chamorro's eldest son, Pedro Joaquin, Jr., recently 
finished an assignment as Nicaragua's Ambassador to Taiwan and 
returned to Nicaragua to work for the newspaper as Vice Director. 

The official newspaper of the Sandinista National Liberation 
Front is a slick and colorful publication called Barricada. Mrs. 
Chamorro's youngest son, Carlos Fernando was the Editor of 
Barricada throughout the Sandinista regime and continues to hold 
that position today. 

Finally, Nicaragua's mass tabloid is El Nuevo Diario. This high 
circulation daily is owned and operated by President Chamorro's 
brother-in-law, Xavier Chamorro. The Editor of the paper is Danilo 
Aguirre, a Sandinista Congressman. This paper is also controlled 
by the Sandinistas. 

It may be that there is no longer an official Government office 
to censor the media. But given the close family relationship be­
tween the people who own and control all three national news­
papers and the people running the Government of Nicaragua, it is 
misleading to say that Nicaragua now has either an "independent" 
or free press. 
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I. CONTROLLED PREss-RADIO STATIONS 

The most important medium for the distribution of news in Nica­
ragua is the radio. It is estimated that there may be as many as 
70 radio stations in Nicaragua, 60 being staffed or owned by Sandi­
nistas. Of the 10 or so independent stations, very few produce ma­
terial critical of the government. Most of the independent stations 
play only music, and do not have news programs. SFRC Republican 
staff was told that the most popular stations were the non-Sandi­
nista stations Radio Corporacion, Radio Cato1ica and Radio 
Mundial. 

Sandinista harassment of independent radio stations has contin­
ued throughout the Chamorro Presidency. Employees of Radio 
Corporacion told SFRC Republican staff that on July 11, 1990, 
their station was attacked by Sandinista mobs. Citizens who lived 
near the station surrounded the building and fought back. One per­
son was killed and up to 150 were wounded. Supporters of Radio 
Corporacion were successful in keeping the armed Sandinista mobs 
from actually entering the building. 

To calm the tense situation, negotiations took place between 
members of the Ministry of Government, representatives of former 
President Daniel Ortega, and the Sandinista Commander of the Po­
lice. Finally, calm was restored at the radio station. At the same 
time, however, at another location, Radio Corporacion's transmitter 
was blown up. 

Later that month, Radio Corporacion was vandalized by two 
members of the Sandinista Popular Army and by two Ministry of 
the Government officials. The four responsible for the crime were 
captured, but a few days later they were released by the police. The 
person who ordered their release was the Vice Minister of the Gov­
ernment, Jose Pallais, who now serves as Vice Minister of the For.. 
eign Ministry. 

One year later, in June of 1991 Radio Corporacion was again oc­
cupied by Sandinistas, including two radio broadcasters from the 
Sandinista station, Radio Ya. Several days later the station was re­
turned to the owners, but the equipment had been looted and much 
had been destroyed. 

On November 9, 1991, after the destruction of the statue of the 
Father of the Sandinista Revolution, Carlos Fonseca, Daniel Ortega 
addressed Sandinista mobs in Managua saying "let it not be said 
that we destroyed Corporacion!" That afternoon, following Ortega's 
speech, Radio Corporacion was badly damaged by Sandinista mobs. 
At 7 p.m. that same evening, a second mob came by and finished 
the job, totally destroying the station. Mrs. Chamorro's amnesty de­
cree 47-91 was used to protect, among others, the Sandinista mobs 
who destroyed Radio Corporacion on this date. 

Radio Corporacion has been rebuilt and is currently broadcast­
ing. On the afternoon that SFRC Republican staff interviewed the 
employees of Radio Corporacion, they informed us that the station 
had received another threat regarding actions that might be taken 
on the following Sunday, July 19, which was the anniversary of the 
Sandinista revolution. 
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J. CONTROLLED PRESS-TELEVISION STATIONS 


There are currently three television stations operating in Nica­
ragua. A fourth station, Channel 4, is scheduled to begin broadcast­
ing soon. A well informed source told the SFRC Republican staff 
that Channel 4 will be exclusively owned and operated by the 
former Sandinista President Daniel Ortega; Sandinista Vice Presi­
dent, Sergio Ramirez; former Sandinista Minister of Agitation and 
Propaganda, Nicho Marenco; and Sandinista legislator, Herty 
Lewites. 

Furthermore, a US$400,000 state bank loan enabled Channel 4 
to purchase a 10-kilowatt transmitter which will provide for full 
coverage of the entire country. All Nicaraguan state banks are 
largely underwritten by United States economic assistance. 

Channel 6 is 100 percent owned and operated by the Govern­
ment, and Channel 2 is controlled by the Government. The United 
States Department of State's Human Rights Report asserts that 
this station is merely leased from the Government. Information 
from our investigation, however, leads SFRC Republican staff to 
understand that the family which operates the station owns only 
a minority share of the company-the vast majority of stock is 
owned b~ the Nicaraguan Government. Ernesto Robleto is Presi­
dent of Channel 6, and is Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
Channel 2. In addition to runnin~ both of these stations, Robleto 
is the Director of Press InformatIon for the Presidency, which is 
controlled by Antonio Lacayo, Minister of the Presidency. 

Channel 8 is the onl)" private and independent T.V. station in 
Nicaragua. It is a small station with a one-kilowatt transmitter, 
which can be seen only in Managua. Channel 8 is owned and oper­
ated by Carlos Briceno, a graduate of the School of Journalism at 
the University of Missouri at Columbia. Briceno left Univision, the 
largest Spanish language network in the hemisphere, to be the 
Media Director for the Chamorro Presidential campaign. After Mrs. 
Chamorro's victory, Briceno was given the job of managing the 
Government owned Channel 6. 

During the one year anniversary celebration of Mrs. Chamorro's 
victory, Briceno scheduled an interview with the Vice President of 
Nicaragua, Virgilio Godoy, to assess the political situation. Accord­
ing to Briceno, several times during Mrs. Chamorro's first year he 
was told by Antonio Lacayo, Minister of the Presidency and son­
in-law of Mrs. Chamorro, that he should not attempt an interview 
with Virgilio Godoy. The weekend after the interview aired, CarlQs 
Briceno was fired by Danilo Lacayo, then the Director of Press In­
formation for the Presidency. This information was verified by 
independent sources. 

K CONCLUSION 

The human rights organizations interviewed by the SFRC Re­
publican staff believe that grave human rights abuses are continu­
ing under the Chamorro Government. Those interviewed are con­
cerned about the lack of any independent judicial system to pros­
ecute the violators. To date, it is not apparent that anyone respon­
sible for human rights abuses has been charged, convicted, pros­
ecuted and sentenced. Our Nicaraguan sources agree that prac­
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tically all human rights abuses are committed by the Sandinista 
security forces. With a controlled press none of these facts can 
reach the outside world. 



XI. Government Corruption 
In recent months numerous press reports have hinted at the pos­

sibility of theft and corruption within the office of the Minister of 
the Presidency in Nicaragua. Antonio Lacayo, President 
Chamorro's son-in-law, is the Minister of the Presidency. In Nica­
ragua the Minister of the Presidency is equivalent to Chief of Staff 
to the President of the United States. 

These press allegations of corruption were substantiated in a re­
port released by the Comptroller General of Nicaragua on JulY' 17, 
1992. The Comptroller General's report concludes that up to US$1 
million of foreign aid received from European countries was di­
verted by officials in Mr. Lacayo's office for their personal use and 
was used to bribe legislators of the National Assembly. 

A. SOURCE SAYS LACAYO MAsTERMINDED BRIBERY SCHEME 

While the report of the Comptroller General finds a "presumption 
of criminal liabilit~" against Minister Lacayo, Senate Foreign Rela­
tions Committee (SFRC) Republican staff has received important 
information about Lacayo's alleged role in the diversion, a subject 
that was not covered in the Comptroller General's report. 

Some time ago the SFRC Republican staff was contacted by an 
employee in the office of Minister Lacayo. The employee was di­
rectly involved in the scandal of the stolen funds and cannot be 
identified due to security concerns. The source was worried that 
low level officials involved in the scandal would become the "scape­
goats in order to save the Chamorro Government-specifically An­
tonio Lacayo." 

The source claims to have first-hand knowledge that it was Anto­
nio Lacayo who personally paid the bribes to the Nicara~an Con­
gressmen. SFRC Republican staff have checked the relIability of 
the source with a number of highly credible individuals-all have 
testified to the source's credibility. The SFRC Republican staff has 
a signed statement from this witness. If there is ever a non-Sandi­
nista dominated court system established and security is assured 
in Nicaragua, this witness has agreed to testify under oath. The 
following story was recounted to the SFRC Republican staff by the 
witness. 

Prior to August 1991, Minister Lacayo approached a Vice Min­
ister of the Presidency, Antonio Ibarra, to seek his help in a 
scheme to buy greater support for President Chamorro in the Na­
tional Assembly. According to the source, Ibarra had no apparent 
rapport with Lacayo. In fact, he even had difficulty arranging 
meetings with Lacayo. Once this scheme was underway, however, 
Ibarra had access to Lacayo any time he needed it. 

The source believes that Laca{o approached Ibarra because 
Ibarra was known to be a politica operative and had connections 
with members of the National Assembly. Ibarra was also respon­
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sible for administering a fund of foreign aid donated by a number 
of European countries to assist the poorest sectors in Nicaraguan 
society. According to the source, Lacayo saw that fund as a poten­
tial source of cash with which to buy votes. 

According to the source, Lacayo developed a strategy to form a 
coalition between the Sandinista and certain UNO members of the 
Assembly. Since the Sandinistas did not have a majority, it was 
necessary to bring others on board. He specifically sought this coa­
lition in order to blunt efforts by the anti-Sandinista coalition 
(UNO) to pass legislation that would return confiscated properties 
and reduce the Sandinista military budget. 

Ibarra and Lacayo then reportedly met and targeted nine Con­
gressmen and two alternate Congressmen. The source has detailed 
and specific information confirming that in August 1991, Ibarra 
took cash from the foreign aid fund described earlier and delivered 
it to the office of Minister Lacayo. The source confirmed to SFRC 
Republican staff that Lacayo then met with Congressman Ivan Sal­
vador Madriz who reportedly acted as a liaison between Lacayo 
and the ten other Congressmen. Madriz reportedly received enough 
cash to pay himself and each Congressman US$60,000 for their co­
operation in supporting President Chamorro's vetoes of legislation 
passed by the National Assembly. 

The source reports that Minister Lacayo met with a number of 
the tar~eted Conwessmen between July and December 1991 to dis­
cuss thIS legislatIve "strategy." The source s~ys that Lacayo had at 
least 15 meetings with the Congressmen in five different locations: 
Lacayo's private office on the fourth floor of the Presidency, the 
Cabinet room on the third floor of the Presidency, Los Ranchos res­
taurant, Sancuajoche restaurant (owned by Sandinista National 
Liberation Front members) and the youth headquarters of the Nic­
araguan Social Party. 

According to the source, a second payment was made in Decem­
ber 1991. While the source could not confirm the amount of the sec­
ond payment, it was estimated to be less than US$60 000 per Con­
gressman. Additionally, each Congressman reportediy received a 
Toyota Landcruiser, a Mitsubishi Montero or another car of his or 
her choice. All nine of the targeted Congressmen supported Presi­
dent Chamorro's vetoes of the legislative initiatives in question. 

The source also reported that Minister Lacayo maintains close 
relations with Mr. Lenin Cerna, the Sandinista intelligence chief. 
After the scandal was exposed publicly, Mr. Cerna (wno unclassi­
fied United States Department of State documents accuse of having 
personally tortured opponents) reportedly called Mr. Ibarra and 
told him, "Don't worry. I have talked with Lacayo, and we have ev­
erything under control." 

B. THE COMPTROLLER GENERAL INVESTIGATES THE BRIBERY 

SCHEME 


The former Vice Minister of Economy, Mr. Noel Vidaurre, re­
ported to Republican staff representatives that on October 23, 
1991, he met with the Minister of the Presidency, Mr. Antonio 
Lacayo, to reveal information concerning a scandal within the office 
of the Minister of the Presidency. Mr. Vidaurre had information 
that the Vice Minister of the Presidency Antonio Ibarra was using 

I· 

r 

~ 

i; 



99 


public funds to rent homes for his personal use and was engaged 
in the import of items without paying duties. 

Lacayo had asked to meet with Vidaurre because Lacayo had re­
portedly heard rumors that Vidaurre was "investigating' Vice Min­
ister Antonio Ibarra. Nonetheless, when Lacayo met with Vidaurre, 
Lacayo asked that Ibarra be present. During this meeting, Lacayo 
promised Vidaurre to set up a Commission on Ethics to investi~ate 
the allegations against Ibarra. Vidaurre told the SFRC RepublIcan 
staff there has been no evidence that this commission was ever es­
tablished. The Ministry of the Presidency alleges that a commission 
had indeed been established, consisting of Dr. Tomas DelaneYilegal advisor to Lacayo, and Mr. Jorge GOmez, Lacayo's persona 
assistant. Nevertheless, there is no concrete proof that this com­
mission ever investigated the case. 

On approximately October 29, 1991, Vidaurre was present at a 
meeting between President Chamorro and Minister Lacayo, in 
which the President personally asked Lacayo to look into these al­
legations. However, when it seemed apparent to Vidaurre that 
Lacayo was not committed to investigating the corruption charges, 
he decided to go public with his information. 

On November 1, 1991, Vidaurre made his allegations available to 
the press. Ibarra was in El Salvador when the allegations became 
public. Citing heart problems, Ibarra did not return to Nicaragua 
immediately, but left for Miami and remained there until Decem­
ber 7, 1991. At that time, even though he was under investigation 
by the Comptroller General, Vice Minister Ibarra returned to Ma­
nagua and to his office in the Presidency. Once back in Managua, 
he allegedly continued to manipulate the accounts within his con­
trol. He is now reported to be in Puerto Rico. 

Under the Nicaraguan Constitution, the Comptroller General is 
responsible for investigating allegations of the misuse of public 
funds. On December 2, 1991, in accordance with his duties speci­
fied in Nicaraguan law, Comptroller General Guillermo Potoy went 
to the office of the Minister of the Presidency (Antonio Lacayo) to 
officially open an investigation. He was denied access to the office 
and his auditors were turned away and not allowed to present their 
credentials. 

On December 9, 1991, the office of the Ministry of the Presidency 
received the credentials of the auditors who were sent by the 
Comptroller General. However, the auditors were unable to pe.r­
form their duties because they were informed that Minister Lacayo 
wished to speak with the Comptroller General before permitting 
them to work. 

On December 12, 1991, Minister Lacayo wrote the Comptroller 
General saying that before he would permit the investigation to go 
forward, he needed information about what the Comptroller Gen­
eral sought to investigate. The Comptroller General replied in a 
letter of December 18, 1991, in which he stated that he was unable 
to give the reasons for seeking access to the files in the offices of 
the Minister of the Presidency. Such access is guaranteed to the 
Comptroller General by the laws of Nicaragua. While the Comp­
troller General agreed to meet with Lacayo, he told Lacayo that he 
could provide no specific information regarding the investigation. 
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Finally, on January 10, 1992-almost three months after Lacayo 
was first warned of the allegations-Lacayo and the Comptroller 
General met. The Comptroller General tola the SFRC Republican 
staff that Lacayo pledged to cooperate with the investigation and 
indicated that the investigators could begin their work the fol­

.~

lowing day. Despite that agreement, the Comptroller General's in­ .J 
vestigators were not permitted in the Ministry of the Presidency
until January 24, 1992-63 days after the Comptroller General j 

first sought access to the files of the Ministry of the Presidency. 
According to the Comptroller General's investigation, at some 

point during that 53 day period, while the Comptroller General was 
denied access to the Ministry, Lacayo invited his own team of audi­
tors from the Ministry of Finance to conduct an "investigation."
One highly informed source stated that the auditors from the Min­
istry of Finance disguised their identities by telling staff members 
within the Ministry of the Presidency that they worked for the 
Comptroller General's office. 

It is important to note that Ibarra was not removed from his post 
until the first week of January 1992. Thus, during the entire period 
that Lacayo was denying the Com:ptroller General's staff access to 
the Ministry, Ibarra remained in hIS position with full access to all 
the documents pertaining to the corruption scandal. Some senior 
Nicaraguan Government officials told Republican Committee staff 
that tney believe that during the 53 day period, key documents 
bearing Lacayo's signature may have been destroyed. 

Once the Comptroller General's team was finally granted access 
to the Ministry, it became apparent that the scandal was much 
more extensive than the initial allegations had indicated. The team 
discovered that the extent of the fraud exceeded US$l million. Al­
legedly, the Vice Minister's office had falsified receipts of humani­
tarian supplies that were sUPfosed to have been delivered, and 
pocketed the money for persona use. 

The Comptroll~r General contends that his investigators proved 
that 95 percent of the merchandise supported bl "receipts" was 
never delivered. In some cases, merchandise was purchased" from 
companies that are no longer in business. Checks were also made 
out to people who did not exist-or in some cases the names of the 
chauffeurs were used. 

A second key element of the investigation of the Comptroller 
General revealed information that eight Congressmen of the Nica­
raguan National Assembly may have received payoffs in exchange 
for supporting President Chamorro's veto of legislation. The Miami 
Herald first revealed this scandal on June 23, 1992. The newspaper 
stated that "approximately $400,000 from the Fund for Aid to Op­
pressed Sectors (FASO) were turned over to eight legislators by An­
tonio Ibarra, former Deputy Chief of Staff under Antonio Lacayo." 
The same article reported that money was given in exchange for 
the Congressmen's support of a Chamorro veto on a bill that would 
have returned confiscated properties to their rightful owners and 
another bill which would have reduced substantially the Sandinista 
military budget. 

Although it is unclear how much each Congressman received, the 
Comptroller General estimates that each one received approxi­
mately US$30,000-$40,000. (Other sources place the figure as high 
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as US$150,000). The Comptroller General told the SFRC Repub­
lican staff that at the time the payoffs were reportedly made, one 
of the suspected Congressmen purchased a property that cost ap­
proximately US$30,000-$40,000. 

On Friday July 17, 1992, the Comptroller General revealed his 
findings in a published report that was made available to the pub­
lic. Tlie report was based on interviews with 168 witnesses. The 
Comptroller General's key finding was a "presumption of criminal 
liability" against Minister Lacayo, Vice Minister Ibarra, eight Con­
gressmen of the National Assembly and several staff members in 
the office of the Ministry of the Presidency. 

C. LACAYO ATl'ACKS COMPTROLLER GENERAL INvESTIGATION 

Within the course of one week, Laca)"o's reaction to the investi~a­
tion ranged from praising the Comptroller General to accusing hIm 
of engaging in a political plot. At a live press conference at the 
Comptroller General's office on July 13, 1992, Lacayo stated: "I 
have come to show that the Government of Violeta Chamorro is 
deeply interested in the correct functioning of government institu­
tions like the Comptroller General's Office and in investigating pos­
sible cases of corruption." He also confirmed that "according to the 
Constitution, the government institution that must investigate al­
leged charges against government officials is the Comptroller Gen­
eral's office." 

However, when Lacayo learned that he was implicated by the 
Comptroller General's report, he immediately denounced the report 
as a "political plot." The Miami Herald, on July 18, 1992, quoted 
Lacayo as saying "this all seems very strange, and I consider it a 
politIcal act, because the Comptroller [General] is a member of the 
Social Democratic Party, which is the Party of Alfredo Cesar, the 
President of the National Assembly ... It is well known that the 
President of the Assembly is no friend of this Government." 

Likewise, rather than confront the facts in the Comptroller Gen­
eral's report, President Chamorro has criticized the process leading 
to the report. The Associated Press reported on July 20, 1992, that 
President Chamorro expressed "deep concern" over what she per­
ceived as a conflict of interest between the Comptroller General's 
office and the Social Democratic Party. This is a strange reaction 
l>Y Mrs. Chamorro and Mr. Lacayo considering that it was Mrs. 
Chamorro who submitted Mr. Potoy's name, along with two others, 
to the National Assembly so that the Congr:essmen could then con­
firm one of the three candidates as Comptroller General. 

Such comments by President Chamorro seem to be a desperate 
attempt to spare her son-in-law, Mr. Lacayo from criminal prosecu­
tion. President Chamorro was fully aware of the fact that the 
Comptroller General was investigating the case-yet she never 
complained about Potoy's objectivity or his party affiliation until 
her son-in-law was implicated in the scandal. In fact, in a press 
conference given while SFRC Republican staff was in Managua in 
July, 1992 Antonio Lacayo stated that he hoped we would meet 
with the Comptroller General. (This was before the Comptroller 
General had revealed his findings.) 

President Chamorro has also criticized the Comptroller General 
for releasing his findings to the press before notifying the govern­
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ment. However, the SFRC Republican staffhas reliable information 
that Mrs. Chamorro did receive a copy of the Comptroller General's 
report shortly before he released it in a press conference. 

On July 31, 1992, the Attorney General officially charged former 
Vice Minister of the Presidency Ibarra and ten other people, includ­
ing one Congresswoman. They were charged with falsification of 
public and commercial documents, misuse of public funds and con­
spiracy to defraud. 

In a public statement in Managua the Attorney General said 
that Mr. Lacayo might be charged in the future. In spite of this 
statement, President Chamorro has repeatedly expressed her full 

tconfidence in her son-in-law in recent weeks. On July 22, durin~ 
a trip to Spain she stated that "If he (Lacayo) goes, Violeta goes. 

D. CONCLUSION 

In summary, the Comptroller General of Nicaragua performed a 
preliminary investigation of the allegations of corruption in the of­
fice of Antonio Lacayo, son-in-law of President Chamorro. He found 
that that office had misappropriated more than US$1 million in 
foreign aid funds. In the end, the Comptroller General declared a 
"presumption of criminal liability" against Mr. Lacayo, President 
Chamorro's top aide. 

SFRC Republican staff believes that Lacayo's failure to cooperate 
with the Comptroller General made it impossible for the Comptrol­
ler General to determine fully the level of Lacayo's own involve­
ment. Due to Lacayo's failure to cooperate, the specific information 
mentioned at the beginning of this chapter (regarding Lacayo's di­
rect role in the bribery scheme) is not covered in the Comptroller 
General's report. Given the number of people implicated in the 
scandal and the fact that several other sources have first-hand 
knowledge, SFRC Republican staff believes that more information 
will surface proving the fraud to be far more extensive than what 
has been revealed to date. 

The blatant misuse of foreign aid funds by high level Nicaraguan 
Government officials should be of great concern to the United 
States Government. Before any future United States foreign aid 
goes to the Nicaraguan Government there should be a complete in­
vestigation of this scandal and of the $728 million of United States 
bilateral assistance already given to the Chamorro Government. 

' 



XII. United States Economic Assistance to Nicaragua 
The Senate Foreign Relations Committee (SFRC) Republican 

staff' has received numerous allegations from Nicaraguan and Unit~ 
ed States Government officials concerning the misuse of United 
States foreign assistance. Because of our limited resources and fi­
nancial analytical capability, we were able to conduct only a very 
general overview of the United States aid program in Nicaragua to 
ascertain where slightly more than US$1 billion has gone during 
the last two years. 

Our preliminary investigation indicates that there are serious 
problems with the United States aid program. United States and 
Nicaraguan Government officials came to us with specific informa­
tion which in tum raised the following questions: 

• Did the Sandinista Popular Army or Sandinista front organiza­
tions receive United States foreign assistance? 

• Why did the Nicaraguan state banks lend more than US$167 
million in loans that will never be repaid? 

• To whom were these loans given? 
• Does the United States Agency for International Development 

thoroughly monitor and track where United States foreign as­
sistance goes? 

• Has all United States economic assistance been used for its in­
tended purposes? 

A. $1 BILLION IN U.S. FOREIGN AID TO NICARAGUA 

The United States has given Nicaragua approximately US$1 bil­
lion in economic assistance in the last two years. Per capita, Nica­
ragua ranked as the second highest recipient of United States eco­
nomic assistance in 1991, (approximately US$57 per person). Only 
Israel received more aid per capita. 

For Fiscal Year 1992, the United States continued its "Economic 
Stabilization and Recovery Program" for Nicara~a. On May 12, 
1992 the Agency for International Development (AID) notified the 
U.S. Congress that it intended to obligate the fourth installment of 
this program. The amount to be obligated was US$100 million. 

According to AlD's Congressional Notification, the purpose of 
the money was to provide balance of payments support. This 
US$100 million is in addition to the US$723.8 million in cash and 
US$284.8 million in forgiven debt already given to the Government 
of Nicaragua by the United States since Mrs. Chamorro came to 
power in April of 1990. 

The notification explained that "Nicaragua has completed the 
first, highly successful year of its stabilization program. The 
sources of hyper-inflation, the fiscal deficit and the quasi-fiscal 
losses of the state financial system, have been decisively con­
trolled." The notification further asserted that "in most respects, 

(l03) 
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the Government of Nicaragl!a's reform efforts undertaken in 1991, 
were spectacularly successful." 

On May 27, 1992 there was Congressional objection to the obliga­
tion of the US$100 million to the Government of Nicaragua. The 
objection cited several concerns, including the failure of the Nica­
raguan Government to return confiscated property to the rightful 
owners and the continued Sandinista control of the government. 

B. $167 MILLION IN BANK LOANS THAT WILL NEVER BE REPAID 

Approximately one month after the suspension of assistance the 
July 9, 1992 edition of The Miami Herald reported that at jeast 
US$100 million "disappeared· from Nicaraguan state banks last 
,year." A United States Department of State source informed the 
SFRC Republican staff that the real figure was not US$100 mil­
lion, but approximately US$167 million in bad loans in 1991. Ac­
cording to the July 12, 1992 edition of the New York Times, the 
amount in Nicaraguan Central Bank loans that were written off, 
(based on the US$100 million figure), was approximately 60% of 
what Nicaragua imported in 1991. 

"Nicaragua cannot continue offering loans to entities or individ­
uals who don't pay their debts. It is simply unsustainable" said Ron 
Godard, the highest ranking United States diplomat in Nicaragua 
in the July 9, 1992 edition of The Miami Herald. A loss of US$100 
million is equal to at least 10 percent of Nicaraguan gross national 
product. Director of the AID Mission, Janet Ballantyne, responded 
in the same article saying, "I know of no nation, rich or poor, that 
can afford the luxury of losing 10 percent of its production.", 

According to the July 9, 1992 The Miami Herald article, 
CONAZUCAR, then a state-owned su~ar company, received the 
largest amount of money-US$65 millIon in 69 short-term loans 
during 1991. State bank officials admitted that the outstanding 
loans "went primarily to finance payrolls at state enterprises [such 
as CONAZUCAR]." 

Officials at the United States Agency for International Develop­
ment in Managua assured SFRC Republican staff that they can ac­
count for United States funds given to the Central Bank of Nica­
ragua. Howeve!t based on the material provided to Republican
Committee stan by the AID Mission in Managua, this seems to 
apply only for dollars deposited in Nicaraguan Central Bank ac­
counts for use as hard currency to purchase imports. 

The vast majority of United States economic assistance to Nica­
ragua has been cash transfers to Nicaraguan Central Bank ac­
counts. These funds are used for balance of payments support 
through the United States import financing program. In short, the 
Government of Nicaragua does not go deeper in debt borrowing the 
U.S. dollars needed to purchase imports, because the U.S. Govern­
ment provides the dollars. The Nicaraguan Central Bank receives 
an equivalent amount of local currency (cordobas) from Nicaraguan 
businesses in exchange for the dollars provided by the United 
States. 

Documents provided by AID to the SFRC Republican staff indi­
cate that the cordobas that Nicaraguan companies exchange for 
dollars through the import financing progI"am are not tracked by 
United States auditors. According to the July 9, 1992 article in The 
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Miami Herald, "once they [the importers] repay the Central Bank 
in local currency [cordobas], the money dissolves into the state fi­
nancial system." Presumably, those funds can be used for a variety 
of purposes, including to make loans like the ones which the 
Central Bank admits will never be collected. 

The cordobas are available to the Nicaraguan state banks to 
lend, because they were generated by the United States import fi­
nancing program. In short, United States grant money has been in­
directly used to make tens of millions of dollars in loans that will 
never be repaid. 

There are three Nicaraguan state-owned banks: Banco 
Nicaragiiense (BANIC); Banco Nacional de Desarrollo (National 
Bank of Development or BND); and the Nicaraguan Investment 
Fund or (FNI). FNI lends only to institutions. According to Nica­
raguan business and banking authorities, the Chamorro Govern­
ment installed new people at the top positions in the state-owned 
banks. The loan officers however, are the same Sandinistas who 
have been giving out loans for the past decade. According to these 
sources, state bank loan officers give loans based on political cri­
teria. When questioned about the banking practices of the state 
banks, AID officials admitted that the state banks did not operate 
under the most basic banking practices such as requiring collateral 
from borrowers. 

Nicaraguan business authorities were able to give many exam­
ples of state bank loans which will never be repaid. Many of these 
loans go to alleged agricultural projects. A company called 
ECODEPA is reportedly US$4.6 million in arrears. ECODEPA al­
legedly is an agricultural products broker. Many Nicaraguans we 
talked with had heard of ECODEPA, however no one quite knew 
what ECODEPA did. ECODEPA is run by Daniel Nunez who is a 
member of the Sandinista Assembly and is also head of UNAG­
a Sandinista agricultural workers union. 

Another alleged agribusiness in arrears to a Nicaraguan state 
bank is FERIA CAMOAPA. FERIA CAMOAPA is reportedly a joint 
venture between the Nicaraguan Government and the Sandinista 
National Liberation Front and is run by the Minister of Agriculture 
Roberto Rondon and Sandinista activist Rafael Martinez. FERIA 
COMOAPA is US$1.1 million in arrears. 

Republican Committee staff was often told that even Nicaraguan 
Government agencies were in arrears to the state-owned banks. 
The Nicaraguan Institute for Electrification reportedly owes US$13 
million to the National Bank of Development. Since there is little 
evidence of improved electrical service in Nicaragua, many wonder 
where the US$13 million went. 

C. MORE UNITED STATES AsSISTANCE TO SANDINISTAS 

An outstanding loan made to AGROPECUARIO ABANGASCA 
S.A., a company owned by four Sandinista National Police Com­
manders, is another example of the type of loan made possible by 
cordobas generated by the United States financed import program. 
The SFRC Republican staff has in its possession a notarized docu­
ment from the state-owned Nicaraguan Banco Nacional de 
Desarrollo, (National Bank Of Development), detailing a series of 
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seven loans totaling 2,481,793 cordobas (US$496,358) made to 
AGROPECUARIO ABANGASCA S.A 

This company is owned jointly by four National Police Command­
ers: Commander David Blanco, Commander Juan Jose Ubeda, 
Commander Manuel Calderon and Commander Christian Pichardo. 
According to a high-ranking Nicaraguan Government source, all 
four Commanders possess confiscated properties. AGROPECUARIO 
ABANGSCA S.A. is allegedly an agricultural company and the 
loans were supposed to finance the production of cotton, sugar cane 
and rice. A Nicaraguan bank President has confirmed to us that all 
agricultural loans from the National Bank of Development are 
made with cordobas generated by United States foreign assistance 
funds. The seven loans were all made since Mrs. Chamorro was 
elected. 

According to the Nicaraguan source who gave us the document 
and who has first hand knowledge of the transaction, the four San­
dinista Commanders were recently approached by their superior in 
the National Police, Minister of the Government, Alfredo Mendieta. 
Mendieta allegedly told them that, because of pressure from the 
United States Congress, they had to return at least one of the 
properties they had stolen. The Commanders agreed to return only 
one of the properties with the condition that their US$496,358 loan 
be forgiven. According to two sources, Mendieta agreed to make the 
arrangements to erase the debt of these four Sandinista Command­
ers. 

The SFRC Republican staff has received numerous confirmations 
that a loan was made by a Nicaraguan state bank directly to the 
highest authorities in the Sandinista National Liberation Front. 
These sources told the SFRC Republican staff that Nicaraguan T.V. 
Channel 4 received a US$400,000 state bank loan which enabled 
it to purchase a 10-kilowatt transmitter. Channel 4 is scheduled to 
begin broadcasting by the end of August 1992. 

The same source told SFRC Republican staff that Channel 4 will 
be exclusively owned and operated by the former Sandinista Presi­
dent Daniel Ortega; Sandinista Vice President, Sergio Ramirez; 
former Sandinista Minister of Agitation and Propaganda, Nicho 
Marenco; and Sandinista Congressman, Herty Lewites. 

The Agency for International Development denies that the funds 
used to make these type of loans come from the United States. 
However, it is a fact that a good portion of the Nicaraguan state­
owned banking system is underwritten by cordobas generated by 
United States funds. So, no matter how this situation is analyzed, 
a significant percentage of anyone of these loans can be attributed 
to the United States economic assistance program. 

There are widespread allegations that United States aid goes to 
corrupt Government Ministries, companies and organizations, often 
controlled by the Sandinistas. AID assures SFRC Republican staff 
that this is not the case because the assistance is closely mon­
itored. However, information uncovered by this investigation indi­
cates that goods purchased by the United States may change hands 
several times after AID makes its initial delivery. Initial indica­
tions are that the entire money trail is neither monitored nor 
tracked. 

., . 
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Among the first assistance to arrive in NicaraIDla from the Unit­
ed States was emergency medical supplies. AID gave the Nica­
raguan Government approximately US$2.5 million of the supplies 
immediately after Mrs. Chamorro assumed the Presidency in 1990. 
According to AID, the supplies were given to the United States 
Public Health Service in Nicaragua to distribute. Other medical 
supplies were given to the Pan American Health Organization 
through the Organization of American States. AID officials admit­
ted that some of these supplies eventually went to the Nicaraguan 
Ministry of Health, which is notoriously corrupt. 

The Minister of Health is Ernesto Salmeron, who is reportedly 
the pediatrician of Antonio Lacayo's and Humberto and Daniel 
Ortega's children. A United States Government source indeyend­
ently confirmed to the SFRC Republican staff that the medica sup­
plies were delivered to a certain location whereupon it was picked 
up by Sandinista Popular Army soldiers driving olive green army 
trucks. 

A large portion of United States economic assistance to Nica­
ragua goes to finance the importation of petroleum products. It was 
reported to the SFRC Republican staff in the Spring of 1991 that 
the Sandinista Popular Ar!IlY was purchasing fuel with United 
States economic assistance. When informed of the illegal use of aid 
after a hearing in the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, Assist­
ant Secretary for Inter-American Affairs, Bernard Aronson, assured 
Republican Committee staff that this was not happening. The State 
Department told Republican Committee staff that there was an 
agreement with the Chamorro Government that no United States 
money could go to Sandinistas. 

A few months later, Aronson confirmed to Republican Committee 
staff that the Sandinista Popular Army had indeed used fuel pur­
chased with United States money. He said that the fuel amounted 
to only a few thousand dollars. Aronson also said that the Govern­
ment of Nicaragua would reimburse the United States. 

The State Department told the SFRC Republican staff in August 
1992 that, as of May 31, 1992, the Sandinista Popular Army and 
National Police had actually used US$6.4 million of a total of 
US$13.8 million in petroleum imports determined to be ineligible. 
SFRC Republican staff was further told that after more than 11/2 
y~ars, the Nicarag'!lan Government had finally reimbursed the 
United States for US$13.8 million plus interest. 

Memoranda of Understanding between the Government of Nica­
ragua and the United States detail the steps the Government of 
Nicaragua must take before receiving aid. Furthermore, these 
Memoranda of Understanding also condition the use of assistance. 
However, the SFRC RepUblican staff investigation indicates that 
the conditions contained in the Memoranda of Understanding are 
not always strictly followed. The Republican Committee staff's ex­
perience with the Government of Nicaragua has shown that its 
promises are often broken. 

D. CONFLICT OF INTEHESTIPREFERENTIAL TREATMENT 

According to Nicaraguan Central Bank documents provided to us 
by AID, a large number of Nicaraguan companies utilizing dollars 
provided by the United States funded import financing program, 
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are owned or controlled by high ranking Nicaraguan Government 
officials or their relatives. 

The AID documents show that GRAC8A, a cooking oil company,
had access to more than U8$65 million in import financing for the 
first three months of 1992. GRAC8A is the largest cookin~ oil com­
pany in Nicaragua. The Minister of the Presidency, AntOnIO Lacayo
was the general manager before he resigned to run his mother-in­
law's (Mrs. Chamorro) Presidential campaign. According to friends 
of Mr. Lacayo, he still retains a significant financial interest in the 
company. 

AID's Inspector General's Audit Report on United 8tates aid to 
Nicaragua, (No. 1-524-92-007), published on July 16, 1992 criti­
cized a "Food for Progress" program involving cooking oi.1 The 
United 8tates donated 44,000 metric tons of vegetable oil to the 
Government of Nicara~a. The fair market value of this cooking oil 
was approximately U8$528 per metric ton. However, the Govern­
ment of Nicaragua was selling the cooking oil to Nicaraguan com­
panies for U8$330 per metric ton. The Nicaraguan companies were 
then able to make large profits on the resale of the cooking oil to 
the public at much higher prices. The June 24, 1991 edition of 
Time said that GRAC8A, the company in which Mr. Antonio 
Lacayo has a significant interest, sold the vegetable oil for twice 
the cost. 

While not published in the Inspector General's report, AID later 
informed 8FRC Republican staff that the largest recipient of the 
cut-rate vegetable oil was GRAC8A. Mrs. Chamorro's Government 
sold Gracsa U8$1,362,314.50 of cooking oil out of a grand total of 
U8$3,567,206.00 of cooking oil available. 

The company receiving the third largest share of the discounted 
vegetable oil was E. CHAMORRO. E. CHAMORRO was founded by 
Ernesto Chamorro and is now owned by his son Alberto Chamorro. 
Ernesto Chamorro's grandson, Alberto Chamorro Chamorro oper­
ates the business. Alberto Chamorro Chamorro happens to be a 
close friend and business partner of Antonio Lacayo, Minister of 
the Presidency and son-in-law of President Chamorro. According to 
relatives of both men, they also jointly own a shrimp business. 

E. NICARAGUA RECEIVED MORE THAN ACTUAL APPROPRIATION 

According to the General Accounting Office Draft Report on aid 
to Nicaragua, the ~ency for International Devel~pment deposits
dollars in Nicaragua s account in the New York Federal Reserve 
Bank as certain economic conditions are met. These funds earn in­
terest until they are spent to finance imports. 

The GAO August 14, 1992 re~ort on aid to Nicaragua, (GAOl
N8IAD-92-203) says that "AID s policy of depositing funds in 
Nicaragua's Federal Reserve Bank account as conditions are met 
meant that funds were financed by U.S. borrowing ... As of 
March 31, 1992, the funds had earned about U8$6.7 million in in­
terest for Nicaragua." The earlier GAO Draft Report on aid to Nica­
ragua stated that: 

"Had the timing of the deposits more coincided with 

Nicaragua's need for those funds to purchase imports, the 

U.8. Treasury could have saved the interest expense associ­

ated with the borrowing of money to deposit in Nicaragua's .. 


http:U8$3,567,206.00
http:U8$1,362,314.50
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account. The net effect of AID's premature deposits was to 
provide Nicaragua with more funds than appropriated by 
Congress and to increase the cost of the public debt." 

F. CHAMORRO SAYS SHE WILL NOT ACCEPr CONDITIONS 

Mrs. Chamorro has openly and repeatedly belittled conditions 
that the United States imposes (or should impose) on economic as­
sistance to Nicaragua. In a news conference aired on Managua 
Radio Network on August 4, 1992, Mrs. Chamorro discussed the 
suspended United States economic assistance. In response to a 
question about President Bush imposing conditions on the sus­
pended aid, Mrs. Chamorro said, "You know I am not a woman to 
be given conditions . . . I do not like the imposition of conditions." 
The July 11, 1992 edition of The Miami Herald reported Mrs. 
Chamorro saying "Noone is going to pressure me. I do what I 
please. I don't have a U.S. passport." 

Evidence of the Chamorro Government's lack of commitment to 
fulfill United States imposed conditions is its funding of the Comp­
troller General's office. Under the Nicaragua Constitution the 
Comptroller General is responsible for investigating allegations of 
the misuse of public funds-an issue of major concern to the United 
States. 

Comptroller General Guillermo Potoy told SFRC Republican staff 
in Managua that his budget had been cut in half by the Ministry 
of the Presidency, which is run by Antonio Lacayo, son-in-law of 
the President. The Comptroller General's office previously em­
ployed about 300 people. Due to the budgets cuts, he now has only 
140 people working for him. This is interesting, especially in light 
of the fact that Lacayo's office, which is roughly equivalent to the 
White House Chief of Staff and which has been accused of the theft 
of foreign economic assistance, has 600 employees, including secu­
rity detail, according to a source in his office. Lacayo has 21 body­
guards according to this same source. 

G. LACK OF AssISTANCE TO NICARAGUA'S POOR 

Even if all conditions are being adhered to strictly, there is a 
broad perception in Nicaragua that United States economic assist­
ance has yet to affect the average Nicaraguan. A CID/Gallup poll 
conducted in mid-May of 1992 reported that 97 percent of all Nica­
raguans responded that they did not benefit from foreign aid. Car­
dinal Miguel Obando y Bravo told SFRC Republican staff that he 
saw no evidence that the poor people benefit from the assistance. 

While in Managua, SFRC Republican staff was repeatedly told 
that foreign aid was not reaching the people who needed it the 
most. Indeed, after seeing the dire poverty in and around Mana­
gua, it was difficult for SFRC Republican staff to understand how 
so much money could be given to such a small country with little 
or no visible effect. Many people told us that they had seen little 
evidence of such basic human needs projects as new roads, potable 
water or sewer construction. 
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H. NICARAGUAN SUPPORT FOR THE Am SUSPENSION 

Nicaraguans who should benefit from economic assistance have 
expressed their support for the aid suspension. In July 1992, 
Nicaragua's largest private enterprise group, the Superior Council 
for Private Enterprise, (COSEP), told the SFRC Republican staff in 
Managua that it supported the suspension of assistance. There was 
almost unanimous agreement among the more than twenty leaders 
present that the Government of Nicaragua should address United 
States Congressional concerns before aid is released. In July 1992, 
after the suspension of assistance, the United States Spanish lan­
guage T.V. Network, Univision, reported on a poll conducted in 
Nicaragua in which 75 percent of the private sector supported the 
suspension of United States economic assistance. 

These poll results should come as no surprise. The favoritism 
shown to family and friends of the Chamorro Government who 
have taken advantage of the United States financed import pro­
gram has a demoralizing effect on the private sector at large. Bene­
ficiaries of the American program reimburse the Nicaraguan 
Central Bank using the official exchange rate of five cordobas to 
one U.S. dollar. With scarce dollars available to purchase imports 
necessary to run their businesses, many Nicaraguan businessmen 
have to pay a higher exchange rate for the purchase of U.S. dollars. 
United States Government officials told the SFRC Republican staff 
that the exchange rate could amount to eight to ten cordobas to one 
U.S.dollar. 

While in Managua, SFRC Republican staff was told by leaders of 
several organizations slated to receive United States assistance 
that they are willing to forego their share of the aid in order to 
achieve long term democratic reforms. "Nicaragua will never see 
true democracy if one penny of the aid is released before Congres­
sional concerns are met," SFRC Republican staff was told on many 
occasions by these leaders. 

I. CONCLUSION 

The Senate Foreign Relations Committee Republican staff is not 
sufficiently equipped or staffed to undertake the type of thorough 
financial audit which is required of the AID program in Nicaragua. 
The AID Inspector General has conducted several investigations of 
the United States economic assistance program since Mrs. 
Chamorro became President. The United States General Account­
ing Office has conducted one investigation of the American eco­
nomic assistance program which was released to the public in Au­
gust 1992. 

The conclusions of these Inspector General and General Account­
ing Office investigations raise serious questions about the program.
A more thorough investigation, however, should be conducted using 
experienced bank examiners and financial auditors specifically to 
ascertain: 

1.) Why Nicaraguan state banks gave at least US$167 mil­
lion in loans that will never be repaid; and to whom these 
loans were given. (This scandal alone should be reason enough 
to withhold further assistance until the loans are repaid;) 
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2.) Whether the Sandinista Popular Army or Sandinista 
front organizations receive United States foreign assistance, 
directly or indirectly; 

3,) The extent to which companies controlled by CORNAP re­
ceive loans from state-owned banks and whether it is sound 
policy to fund confiscated companies; and whether the United 
States' goal of getting Nicaragua promptly to return con­
fiscated companies to their rightful owners is furthered by such 
loans. (CORNAP is the state run "holding company" which 
oversees all state-owned enterprises and allegedlr is respon­
sible for the return of stolen companies to their nghtful own­
ers); 

4.) Whether AID thoroughly monitors and tracks where 
United States foreign assistance is spent-including local cur­
rency generated by the United States financed import program. 
Who the end user is of United States foreign assistance; and 

5.) Whether all United States assistance has been used for 
its intended purposes. 

There is strong evidence that United States foreign aid is not 
reaching the people who need it the most in Nicara~a, There is 
much evidence that Nicaraguan Government officials, their family, 
friends or business partners are the major beneficiaries of the Unit­
ed States financed program. COllgress should consider whether it 
is in the best interest of United States policy to resume assistance 
before there is a full accounting of the entire aid program in Nica­
ragua. Virtually everyone with whom we talked during this inves­
tigation believes that the suspension of aid to Nicaragua will be 
beneficial to the people of that country in the long run. 

We believe that it is necessary for the AID Inspector General to 
undertake a complete investigatIon of where the more than one bil­
lion dollars in United States tax-payers' money has gone in Nica­
ragua. 



APPENDIX 

A. Agreements Between the Chamorro Government and the Nicaraguan 

Resistance • 


TONCONTIN AGREEMENT 

The Negotiating Committee of the Nicara~an Resistance (RN) reco¥Dizes that 
the February 25 elections of authorities held m Nicaragua, in occurring m freedom, 
honesty and efficiency, pennitted the triumph of the will of the Nicaraguan people 
to establish a democratIzation process, in the victorious combination of Chamorro­
Godoy Reyes, the UNO candidates. 

Such an important event in our history allows us to state emJlhatically that we 
have decided to initiate the process of Keneral demobilization of our forces, begin­
ning with the disanning of those who sttll remain in the Republic of Honduras, no 
later than next April 20. For that we ask, from now on, for the cooperation and as­
sistance of international agencies such as the United Nations Observers for Central 
America (ONUCA), the International Support and Verification Commission (CIAV) 
and the person of his Most Reverend EIDlnence Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo. 

Simultaneously the internal military confrontations in Nicaragua must cease im­
mediately, for which purpose action must be taken: 

1. An effective cease-fire of both partie~ verifiable by intemational agencies 
(ONUCA, CIA V) and his Most Reverend 1!.iminence Cardinal Miguel Obando y 
Bravo. 

2. Concentration of our anned forces currently in Nicar~a in security zones 
previously delimited. in Nicara~an territory_ana monitored I.ly the international 
agencies mentioned, in additton to his Most Reverend Eminence Cardinal 
Miguel Obando y Bravo, so that the demobilization process will be carried out 
in an atmosphere of security and order that will guarantee the life and normal 
conduct of the peaceful work of our brothers. 

In tum, the delegation which represents President-Elect Dona Violeta Barrios de 
Chamorro states: 

1. That with great pleasure it has taken note of the decision of the Nica­
raguan Resistance to begin the demobilization process as of this date. 

2. That, as an expression of the just recognition of the patriotic efforts of the 
Nicaraguan Resistance, it is necessary to assist the maimed, orphans and wid­
ows, innocent victims of the anned struggle, that for that it promises to work, 
a1\er Doiia Violeta Barrios de Chamorro assumes power, to ensure the rehabili­
tation and social readaptation of those affected. In addition, they will be entitled 
to the corresponding monthly pensions. 

3. That for the execution of every!;hing agreed upon, a special transition com­
mission is designated, composed of members of the entering government and 
the Nicaraguan Resistance, whose names will be announced in the next few 
days.

4. The new Government that Dona Violeta Barrios de Chamorro will lead 
Ilromises to aPllroach the corresp<>nding governments for humanitarian aid for 
the members of the Nicaraguan Resistance, as well as for the medical infra­
structure for the proper care of the victims of the conflict during the duration 
of the demobilization. 

In tum, his Most Reverend Eminence Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo expresses 
his satisfaction at the patriotic decisions taken and joins those signing to give 
thanks to the Lord for his assistance in enlightening the_parties involved. 

Tegucigalpa, Honduras, March 23, 1990 
(signatures follow) 

"'Translation provided byeRS-Language Services, June 1992. Translation-Spanish. 
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POINTS OF DEMAND ON THE BASIS OF THE AGREEMENTS SIGNED BETWEEN THE 

GoVERNMENT AND THE PRESIDENCY 


1. Integration of the representatives of the Nicaraguan Resistance into the dif­
ferent ministries that have to do with the demobilized. 

2. Demobilization and disarming of civilians in all of the national territory. 
3. Return of properties confiscated, requisitioned or taken de facto by the Sandi· 

nista Government. 
4. Rehabilitation and social readaptation of those affected by the war and pen­

sions to widows, maimed and wounded. 
5. Delivery of land with a deed, financing, housing, health and education. 
6. Participation of the Nicaraguan Resistance in the municipal governments in the 

development areas. 
7. Legal recognition of the political entity that the Resistance forms. 
8. Necessary support of all of the state structures in order to help the demobilized 

in their integration into civilian life. 
9. Removal of mines in all of the National Territory. 
10. Indemnization of the members of the Resistance, victim of the failure to com­

ply with the agreements. 
11. Creation ofthe development areas. 
The Special Transition Commission, created through point three of the Toncontin 

Agreement, has met in the city of Tegucigalpa, April 7-9 of this year, in order to 
comply with the mandate to carry out all of the agreements included therein. 

I) The Delegation of the Nicaraguan Resistance has stated: 
1) The RN reafflrms its will to maintain the cease-fire unilaterally decreed 

by it and not to undertake offensive military actions. 
2) So that an effective cease-fire will exist, the Nicaraguan Resistance is will­

ing to agree with the Government of Nicaragua on a bilateral cease-fire, whose 
conditions and stages would be specified with the technical assistance of the 
group of military observers of the United Nations for Central America 
(ONUCA), which should be formalized no later than 18 April. 

3) That said cease·fire will be effective to the extent that ONUCA and his 
Eminence Cardinal Obando y Bravo express immediate willingness to verify it. 

4) The Nicaraguan Resistance reaffirms it is ready to order immediately the 
concentration of its armed forces located inside of Nicaragua, for which, once 
the security zones required are delimited, both ONUCA and His Eminence Car­
dinal Obando y Bravo will express their willingness to carry out the task of 
monitoring that was entrusted to them, which will allow the program to be con­
ducted in an atmosphere of security and order. 

5) The Nicaraguan Resistance expresses its agreement. in principle, with the 
delimitation of the security zones that has been being done and it will proceed 
immediately to conclude it with the technical assistance of ONUCA. 

6) The RN considers essential the participation of the CIAV in the demobiliza· 
tion process. in order to comply with the task entrusted to it through the Tela 
and Toncontin Agreements. 

7) The Nicaraguan Resistance expresses the need for a delegation of its orga­
nization to be able to go to Managua, before April 18. in order to expedite the 
task of implementing the Toncontin Agreement. 

8) The Nicaraguan Resistance, in compliance with the Toncontin Agreement, 
will carry out the delivery of arms of its forces that still remain in Honduras, 
on April 18 at 12 noon in Yamales, to a delegation of the new government in 
the presence of Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo or his delegate, and the inter­
national organizations involved. 

IT) For its part the delegation that represents President-Elect Dona Violeta 
Barrios de Chamorro expresses its satisfaction with the joint meeting held in this 
city and agrees to convey, to all parties involved, the position of the RN and espe­
cially to work for authorization for the trip to Nicaragua by the RN delegation, 
which would facilitate the implementation of the rest of the agreements established 
in Toncontin. 

Tegucigalpa. April 9, 1990 
Signing for the Nicaraguan Resistance: Commander Johnny, Commander Wilme, 

Dr. Aristides Sanchez, Boanerge Matus Lazo 
Delegation ofthe Government·Elect: Dr. Leopoldo Navarro, Dr. Roberto Ferrey 

I 
j 

.I 
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ANNEX.-TIMETABLE OF ACTIVITIES TO UNDERTAKE DURING THE PROCESS 

OF DEMOBILIZATION OF THE RESISTANCE FORCES 


l.Signing or the effective and definitive "cease-fire" agreement between the 
Government or Nicaragua and the Nicaraguan Resistance. 

2. Entry into rorce or the cease-fire. 
3. Withdrawal or the military rorces or the Sandinista Popular Army, eecu­

rity and paramilitary rorces, from the"aecurity zones" and bordering 
places. 

4. Beginning or movement or Resi8tance rorces toward8 "8ecurity zones." 

5. Beginning or CIAV delivery or the humanitarian aid to the RN troops in 
the "security zones." 

6. Verification or the withdrawal or troops or the Government or Nicaragua 
by ONUCA and Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo. 

7. Arrival in country or first U.N. Peace-keeping rorces (ONUCA). 
8. Transrer or ONUCA to the "security zones." 
9. Concentration or all the rorces or the Nicaraguan Resistance in the "eecu­

rity zones." 

<U18J90 

<U1919O 
<U1919O to 4121190 

<U1919O after 12 
noon 

4119190 12 noon 

4122190 

THE DEMIIJTARIZED ZoNE 

1. Demilitarized zone: is that area included within 20 kilometers oC the aecurity 
zone. 

2. In the demilitarized zone there will be no artillery or offensive troops oC any
type, nor militia, nor paramilitary' or security forces. 

3. Zone of exclusion: it is understood for the effects oC verification, to be the bri­
gade installations and rommands that, being within the 20 kilomete1'8 oC the demili­
tarized zone, remain frozen under the rontrol of ONUCA, one or two membe1'8 oC 
the Nicaraguan Resistance, and the Sandinista Popular Army (EPS )and his Emi­
nence Cardinal Miguel Obandol Bravo. 

In zone No.1 san R8;fael an Cuchillas. In zone No.2 Walala. In zone No.3 Rio 
Blanco. In zone No.4 Santo Domingo. In zone No.5 Nueva Guinea. 

4. The p<!licemen of the towns within the demilitarized zone will be disarmed. 
5. The following air corridors are established: 

a. Managua-Ocotal-Wiwili. 
b. Managua-San Pedro del Norte-Puerto Cabezas 
c. Managua.Juigalpa-B1uefields 
d. Mana~a-San Carlos-San Juan del Norte 

6. Coordination groups are established in order to resolve the security problems, 
which will coordinate the air and land traffic through ONUCA. 

EFFECTIVE AND DEFINITIVE CEASE·FiRE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE GoVERNMENT OF 
THE REPUBLIC OF NICARAGUA AND THE NICARAGUAN RESIsrANCE UNDER THE Au~ 
PICES OF HIS Mosr REVERENT EMINENCE CARDINAL MIGUEL OBANDO Y BRAVO 

1. The Government of the RepUblic of Nicaragua, duly represented by the Minister 
of Defense, Army General Humberto Ortega Saavedra, and the Nicar~an Resist­
ance, duly re~resented by Oscar Sovalvarro, "Commander Ruben," Chief Negotiator, 
and Aquilino Ruiz Robleto, "Commander Minita," Chief Negotiator of the Wenceslao 
A viles Central Front, agree to formally establish through this document ~ effective 
and definitive cease-fire as of 11 noon on April 19, 1990, which will be followed 
strictly by both parties. 

2. As of the date of the effective and definitive cease-fire, the National Resistance 
and the Government of the Republic of Nicaragua agree to cease all types oC mili­
tary hostilities, as well as any other type of operations that might lead to a resump­
tion of the hostilities. 

3. In order to guarantee strict compliance with the effective and defmitive cease­
ftre. ONUCA personnel and His Most Reverend Eminence Cardinal Miguel Obando 
y Bravo will verify the effective compliance with the cease-fire, in accordance with 
the attached timetable. 

4. In order to make possible the verification of the effective and definitive cease­
ftre on the part of ONUCA and His Eminence Cardinal Mi~el Obando y Bravo, "se­
curity zones" are established in the areas previously agreed upon, according to the 
attached Annex. 
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5. Both ONUCA and His Most Reverend Eminence Cardinal Miguel Obando y
Bravo will adopt the mechanism necessary for the verification of the effective and 
definitive cease-fire. 

6. In the period included between April 19 and 21, the Government of the Repub­
lic of Nicaragua agrees to withdraw Its military, paramilitary and security forces 
from the "security zones· and from any neighboring place within 20 kilometers of 
the borders of those zones. Except in those towns that will agreed u~n in each zone 
where a minimum police force will remain in order to maintain order, under ver­
ification of ONUCA and Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo, and in the zones of exclu­
sion specified in the attached document. Once the withdrawal of these forces has 
taken place, the Government of the Republic of Nicaragua agrees not to mobilize 
any troops of its military, paramilitary or securit,Y, forces around the 20 kilometers 
bordering the "security zones,· nor to overfly saId zones with military helicopters 
and ~anes, except in the corridors established in the attached document. 

7. The withdrawal of these forces from the "security zones" and the adiacent areas 
will be verified by ONUCA and Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo, who will also 
monitor the relocation of those forces in other localities. . 

8. As of the date of this agreement, all RN combatants present in Nicaragua, will 
without delay head for the "security zones" in order to proceed to the different 
stages of the demobilization process. 

9. The military, paramilitary and secu!ity forces of the Government of Nicaragua 
will not obstruct the free transit of the RN combatants that head for the "security 
zones," 

10. The RN commands are authorized communication and movement between one 
zone and another, under ONUCA coordination. 

11. The Government of Nicaragua agrees to relJpect the freedoffit security, and 
physical and moral integrity of the members of the RN and their families. 

12. CIA V will transport and deliver humanitarian aid to the RN troops and their 
family members in the "securiw zones"13. The general services that are ordinarily 
provided in the "security zones and their surroundin~ will continue to be provided. 

14. The Government of Nicaragua and the National Resistance will cooperate with 
the CIAV, ONUCA and His Eminence Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo in carrying 
out their duties. 

His Most Reverend Eminence Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo, who sponsors this 
agreement, has ~d to solemnly announce this bilateral cease-ftre. as well as to 
cooperate and asSist in "all the sta~es involved in the demobilization process; the ver­
ification of the effective and defimtive cease-fire of the parties, the monitoring of the 
delimited "security zones· in which the armed forces of the Resistance will be con­
centrated and any other task of a humanitarian and social nature that shall derive 
from the activities mentioned, to the extent of his possibilities. 

Finally his Most Reverend Eminence Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo expresses 
his satisfaction at the patriotic decisions taken and joins the signatories in giving
thanks to the Lord for liis assistance in enlightening the involved parties. 

Given in the city of Managua, April 18, 1990 
Signed:

For the Government of the Republic of Nicaragua, General Humberto Ortega 
Saavedra 

For the Nicaraguan Resistance, Oscar Sovalvarro, "Commander 
Ruben"Aquilino Ruiz Robleto, "Commander Minita" 

His Eminence Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo. 
In turn, the undersigned, in the name and representation of President-Elect dona 

Violeta Barrios de Chamorro, support the present agreement in all of its parts, for 
the effective and definitive cease-fire, and they express the commitment to give it 
strict enforcement, as of this April 25. 

Signed by Antonio Lacayo, Carlos Hurtado, Luis Sanchez, Leopoldo Navarro, Ro­
berto Ferrey 

DECLARATION OF MANAGUA 

The Nicaraguan Resistance states: " 
1. That the Nicaraguan Resistance is complying with the cease-fIre apeed

upon and which includes the effective separation of forces and concentration of 
troops of the RN in the delimited security zones, a concentration which is in 
the process of bein({ completed.

2. That the RN, 1D implementation of the addendum to the Toncontin Agree­
ment, will continue the voluntary demobilization and will begin the disarming
of its troops at 11 a.m. On the 8th of this month, in the security zone to 00 
agreed upon in the presence of the military mission of the United Nations for 

.< 
! 
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Central America (ONUCA) and His Eminence Cardinal MiBUel Obando y. Bravo, 
a process that will culminate no later than June 10 of this year in all of the 
zones agreed upon. 

For her part, Mrs. Violeta Barrios de Chamorro, as President of the Republic and 
Minister of Defense states: 

1. That she has ordered the immediate withdrawal of all the troops of the 
Army and the security and paramilitary forces from the zones agreed upon in 
the cease-fire signed last April 18. In addition, she has ordered the collection 
of all weapons in the hands of civilians in said zones and their immediate de· 
struction. 

2. That on June 10 the program for the reduction of the armed forces, ordered 
in the inaugural speech of April 25 and whose implementation should be begun 
immediately, will be released. 

a. That the President of the Republic reiterates her commitment to guarantee 
the physical and moral integrity of each and every one of the combatants of the 
Nicaraguan Resistance, their family and the civilian population accompanying 
them. 

4. That once the Nicaraguan Resistance is disarmed, the Government will 
grant legal status to the political organization that they form in accordance with 
the laws on the subject. 

5. In addition, development areas for the demobilized will be established in 
order to meet their material needs, areas that will be defined by ~9 31. 

6. The President of the Republic is grateful for the presence of His Eminence 
Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo and of the international organizations 
ONUCA and CIAV. 

Managua, May 4, 1990 

ADDENDUM TO THE TONCONTIN AGREEMENT 

The Negotiating Commission of the Nicaraguan Resistance (RN) and the delega­
tion represcnting the President-clcct of Nicara.8\!a, Violeta Chamo"'?1 in light of the 
signing of the agreement for the effective and definitive cease-ftre mat was signed 
today between the Nicar~an Government and the RN, state the following to the 
people of Nicaragua and tne international community: 

1. We are deeply. satisfied that in fully complying with the Tonc:ontin Agree­
ment, the voluntary disarming of the RN forces that were still in the Republic 
of Honduras has taken place today and that an !lgreement for the effective and 
deSinitive cease-ftre under the auspices of His Most Reverend Eminence Car­
dinal Miguel Obando y Bravo has also been signed. 

2. In order for the demobilization process to be carried out in an atmosphere 
of security and order that will guarantee the lives and the normal performance 
of the peaceful tasks of the members of the Resistance, we have ~d that the 
disarming of the RN forces will begin in the afternoon of April 25 and that their 
full demobilization must be completed by 10 June, 1990 at the latest. 

a. The voluntary delivery of weapons, as was done today in the ReJl.P.blic of 
Honduras, will be done in the presence of international organizations (ONUCA 
and CIAV) and His Reverend Eminence Cardinal Mi~el Obando y Bravo. 

Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo voices his satisfaction over the patriotic deci­
sions that have been taken and joins the signatories in giving thanks to our LDrd 
for having enlightened the involved parties. 

Managua, April 18, 1990 
Signed by Oscar Sovalvarro, "Commander Ruben"; Antonio Lacayo and Cardinal 

Miguel Obando y Bravo. 

MANAGUA PRoTOCOL ON DISARMAMENT 

Within the spirit of the Declaration of Managua, siped on May 4 of this year, 
the Resistance, the Government of Nicaragua and HIS Most Reverend Eminence 
Cardinal Miguel Obando y Bravo, through this document, agree: 

1. To expedite compliance with what is included on the "commitment to guar­
antee the physical and moral integrity of each and every one of the combatants 
of the Nicaraguan Resistance, their family members and the civilian population 
accompanying thcm," as follows: 

a) Immediate transfer of the seriously ill so that they will receive the indis­
pensable medical care in the hospitals of the country.

b) Immediate transfer of the disabled and maimed in war to be treated in 
a specialized manner in Managua. 
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c) To create a commission made up of the National Government, the Nica­
raguan Resistance, the U.N. International Support and Verification Commission 
of the United Nations (ClAV) and His Most Reverend Eminence Cardinal 
Miguel Obando y Bravo, so that it will travel to Honduras and Costa Rica, for 
the purpose of making an exhaustive investigation of the living conditions of the 
family members of the Resistance, and will apply emergency measures that will 
solve the problems detected. 

d) The Resistance is urged to submit, immediately, the list of widows and 
orphans, 80 the Nicaraguan Institute of Social Security and Welfare (INSSBI) 
may include them in its budget and they will enjoy the monthly pensions to 
which they are entitled. . 

2. In common agreement between the parties, the development area described 
in the attached document on the development areas, known as "EI Almendro" 
is established, on the basis of the proposal submitted by the government. As of 
this date a series of actions is being initiated, necessary for its implementation 
and the installation of the demobilized in the development areas. 

3. The Government of Nicaragua agrees to provide a small amount of eco­
nomic assistance to each of the demobilized. 

4. To create immediately the police for domestic law and order with the par­
ticipation of the ex-combatants of the Resistance, with the fundamental objec­
tive of guaranteeing the life and physical integrity of the citizens living in the 
areas. In addition, the goal is established that these policemen will become part 
of the structures of the Ministry of Government. In addition, the U.N. Or a 
friendly country will be asked for technical assistance for the professional train· 
ing of the police. 

5. To create the security conditions in the demilitarized zones, for this effect, 
the following being considered necessary: 

a) To work for the expansion of the mandate of the ONUCA security forces. 
b) For the government to complement the assistance to the demobilized per­

son who leaves the security zone. 
c) To demilitarize the conflict zone. 
d) To continue gathering the weapons in the hands of civilians in the zones 

of conflicts. 
6. To guarantee the security of the ex-combatants who are demobilized and 

leave the security zones and who settle in the [development] areas. In addition, 
the option is maintained for those who desire to return to their place of origin. 
It is understood that the one who does so assumes the risks like any other citi­
zen. 

7. The Government agrees to appoint a representative of the demobilized that 
the Resistance recommends in the ministries that have to do with the ex-com­
batants and their families, in other words: health, agrarian reform, labor and 
others, as well as also two members on the Management Council of the Nica­
raguan Repatriation Institute. 

S. The Government of Nicaragua agrees to give participation in the local gov­
ernment, i.e. Within the area, to the ex-combatants of the Resistance who have 
settled in the development areas. 

In addition, the ex-combatants who return to their place of origin will receive 
from the State structures the support necessary for their integration into civil. 
ian life. 

9. The Declaration of Managua is ratified, in each and every one of its points, 
with particular emphasis on what refers to the fact that the Resistance may be­
come a political party, a fact that will allow it full integration into the political 
life of this country, 

10. In compliance with the Toncontin Agreement and its Addendum, the Re. 
sistance ratifies its commitment to its demobilization and disarming no later 
than June 10, 1990. . 

For said effect the Resistance agrees to demobilize a minimum of 100 combat­
ants per day and per zone as of this date. In addition, in honor of Mothers' Day 
a considerable number of combatants of the Nicaraguan Resistance will be de­
mobilized. 

Given in the city of Managua, May 30, 1990. 
Signed by: Violeta Barrios de Chamorro, Istral Galfano (Commander Franklin); 

and Miguel Obando y Bravo, Cardinal of Nicaragua. 

.. 
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ANNEX 


AGREEMENT FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF DEVELOPMENT AREAS Bln'WEEN THE 

GOVERNMENT AND THE NICARAGUAN RESISTANCE 


We understand by development area a unit of production defined for the benefit 
of the members of the community and the country which will serve as a center of 
services and development of the adjoining relPont through individual and/or collec­
tive projects, whim should have the followm~ basis structures: municilJ8l: area: 
schools, warehouses, potable water and electncity services, hospitals, roads and 
streets; housing area for the settlers of the area of development center; parcel of pri. 
vate land for subsistence crops and livestock; a communal area and a project area 
for the benefit of all members of the community.

The RN members who demobilize and their family members will be entitled to 
be beneficiaries of the programs that are implementea in the development areas de­
rmed for that purpose.

In accordance with the ~vemment program and the laws in effect, priority will 
be given to the demobilized members of the Resistance and their family members, 
in the return or indemnization of their property, real estate and personal property 
which have been confiscated, requisitioned or encroached upon de laeto. 

For said purpose, and in order to initiate the process of placing the demobilized, 
one or more development areas will be created in the geographic area included be­
tween the following points: 1) San Ubaldo; 2) Acoyapa; 3) Santo Tomas' 4) Villa 
Sandino; 5) Muhan; 6) La Gateada; 7) Muelle de loa Bueyes; 8) Ciudad Rama; 9) 
Rio Rams; 10) Rio Kukra' 11) Miramar; 12) Monkey_Point; 13) Punta Gorda; 14) 
Barra de San Juan; 15) Rio San Juan; 16) Mojon No.2; 17) Mo~n, No. 12; 18) 
Mojon No. 13; 19) Mojon No. 14; 20) San Carlos; 21) San Miguehto; 22) Monito; 
23-1; San Ubaldo, with the exception of the forest reserve of the southeast and of 
the SI-A-PAZ project. In addition, it will be possible to establish develoJ?ment areas 
in the geograpliic area included between the Rio Blanco, San Pedro del Norte, Siuna 
and Waslala, in the northern region of the country. 

A Tripartite Commission is created between the National Institute for Agrarian 
Reform (INRA), the Institute of National Resources (mENA) and the RN, coordi­
nated by the Repatriation Institute, in order to specify the location of the develop­
ment areas with greater precision; in addition there will be implementation of devel­
op'ment plans that will make possible the incorporation of those demobilized into ci-
Vllian life. . 

Once established and organized legally in the different development areas, the 
members of the community will be entitled to urban and rural pro~rty deeds to 
their lots and access to use of forests, waters and other resources which exist, in 
accordance with the laws and regulations in effect in Nicaragua. 

The members of the RN and their family members will 8.l8O be able to settle in 
other geographic points of the country defined by the i!>vernment, with other devel­
opmen~_plans, erooying, as far as possible, similar benefits. 

We sip this a~ment in the city of Managua on May 30, 1990. 
For the Nlcaraguan Government, Dr. Roberto Ferrey, Nicaraguan Repatriation In­

stitute, and Dr. Gustavo Tablada, National Institute for Agrarian Reform 
For the Nicaraguan Resistance 
Commander Oscar Sovalbarro (Ruben); Commander Miguel Angel Soza 

(Emiliano); Commander Aquilino Ruiz (Minita); Commander Adolfo Somoza Reyes 
(Mano de Piedra) 

B. U.S. Citizens With Property Claims in Nicaragua 

1) Aguilar, Antonio. 

2) Aguilar, Roger A 

3) Albarez, Rasaura 

4) Albert Elia Bldg. Co. (Laurence Elia Knize) 

5) Alberti, Lawrence R. Jr. . 

6) Amort, Vilma. A. 

7) Arana, Federico 

8) Arana, Octavio 

9) Arana Rosa Maria 


10) ArgiieiIo, Ana Partida 

11) Argiiello, Julie 
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12) Argiiello Luis 
13) Argiiello, Rene 
14) Argiiello Arana, Deyanira 
15) Argiiello de Argiiello, Maria de 
16) Argiiello Tefel, Arnoldo 
17) Argiiello Tefel, Humberto 
18) Argiiello Tefel, Roberto 
19) Baird, David 
20) Baltodano, Elba Gonzales de 
21) Barillas, Cora 
22) Barker, Jaime 
23) Barrios, Raul 
24) Barrios Sacasa, Doris 
25) Barton, Gloria 
26) Barton, Sharon 
27) Barton, Tom 
28) Becklin, Teodolinda 
29) Becklin McCrae, Hildegarde 
30) Bermudez, Jose Maria Peralta 
31) Bermudez, Joe Albert 
32) Blanco, Mr. and Mrs. Constantino 
34) Blandon, Norman 
35) Blandon, ROger
36) Boehm, Cristine 
37) Bojorge, Rodolfo 
38) Bosche, Alfred Fritz Frederick 
39) Brautigham, Harry 
40) Bravo, Jose 
41) Brockman Astorga, Richard 
42) Brogden, Christina Isabelle 
43) Brown, Soledad R. 
44) Buitrago, Roberto 
45) Butter, Deborah 
46) Caldera, Petronio 
47) Calero, Miriam S. 
48) Calonge, Leonor de 
49) Camus, Luna 
50) Carcamo, ClotiIde 
51) Carcamo, Rita 
52) Cardenas, Jilma M. 
53) Cardenas, Jorge Alberto 
54) Cardenas, Rene 
55) Carlos, Luis 
56) Caso, Richard 
57) Castillo, Marfa E. 
58) Castillo, Maria 
59) Castillo, Rebecca de 
60) Castillo, Richard David 
61) Cerna, Alejandro 
62) Cerna, Deborah G. 
63) Cerna, Juan F. 
64) Cerna, Julian 
65) Cerna, Maria C. 
66) Cerna, Olga A. de 
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67) Cerna, Oscar M. , 
68) Cerna Argiiello, Luis Raul 
69) Cerna Baca, Luis R. 
70) Cerna Salerni, Alicia 
71) Cerna Salerni, Luis R. 
72) Cesar, Mercedes 
73) Checa, Maria 
74) Chilinger, Yelba Salmeron de 
75) Cifuentes, Maria 
76) Clayton, Alicia (La Libertad) 
77) Coe, Charles Clifford 
78) Coe, Lester V. 
79) Coe de Rostran, Elsa 
80) Cohen, Edith 
81) Conado de Luna, Alma 
82) Commercial Association Castellon Barbosa Hennanos (Alan 

and Jose Castellon) 

84) Coolen, Consuelo Pinell Midence de 

85) Crivello, Carl 

86) Cuadra, Marina 

87) Cuellar, Elizabeth de 

88) Cuthbertson, Bruce 

89) Davis, Hugh J. 

90) Davis, William 

91) De Bayle, Luis Henry 

92) De Bayle, Scarlett Solorzano 

93) De Bayle, Luis Yearsley 

94) Deats, Earl C. 

95) Del Carmen, Alejandro 

96) Delaney, Guillermo 

97) Delgado, Carmen 

98) Delgado, Enrique 

99) Diaz, Marta 


100) Diaz, Mireya E. 
101) Diaz, Orlando 
102) Dolan, Doris 
103) Downs, Norman Morgan 
104) Empresa Arrocena y Ganadera La Luz, S.A 
105) Escalante, Isabel 
106) Escalante, Joseph 
107) Escobar, Francia Argiiello 
108) Espinosa, Carlos Orlando 
109) Espinosa, Isoliana 
110) Espinosa, Leonor 
111) Espinosa, Rosemary 
112) Espinoza, Melida A 
113) Espinoza, Rosa Maria de 
114) Espinoza Altamirano, Carlos 
115) Espinoza Fiote, Claudia 
116) Espinoza Forsythe, Rosa Maria 
117) Estrada, Macario 
118) Estrada, Nelson 
119) FajardoJ..,Lily R. de 
120) Fletes, ~lena 
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121) Flores, Rosa Laura 
122) Flores, Rita 
123) Flotte, Claudio Espinoso 
124) Frauz, Victoria 
125) Freeman, Frederick 
126) Friberg, Mary 
127) Fuentes, Beatriz Cardenal 
128) Fuentes, Melba G. 
129) Gadea de Lopez, Norma 
130) Gadea Sandoval, Francisco 
131) Garcia, Carlos Hebert 
132) Garcia, Marina 
133) Garcia, Melida Emperatriz 
134) Garcia, Orlando 
135) Gardina, Ileana P. 
136) Gifford, Henry C. 
137) Gifford, Nicky 
138) Gifford, Salome A. 
139) Goland, Doris H. Victor de 
140) Gomez, Rosa L. 
141) Gonzales, Juan Carlos 
142) Gonzales, Roberto 
143) Gonzales de Baltodano, Elba 
144) Gonzalez, Isolde M. 
145) Ganzalez Montiel, Mrs. Ariel 
146) Gorayeb, Edward A 
147) Gorayeb, Henry 
148) Gorayeb, Jqseph 
149) Goray,eb, Lawrence 
150) GordIllo, Donald J. 
151) Griffith, Albert 
152) Griffith, Marie E. 
153) Guerrero, Anibal 
154) Guillen, Felix Roberto 
155) Guillen, Raquel 
156) Gulke, Meiling 
157) Gulke, Paul H. 
158) Halder, Carlos 
159) Halle, Carmen 
160) Hariss, Ann Marie 
161) Hariss, Ed 
162) Hariss, Nubia 
163) Hawkins, Herman 
164) Hawkins, Jackie 
165) Hawkins, Teresa 
166) Hentgen, William Curtiss 
167) Herdocia, Gustavo 
168) Hilby, Nubia 
169) Hoar, Walter 
170) Hooker, Jose Antonio 
171) Horton, Leticia Montealegre de 
172) Hudgens, Glen D. 
173) Jarquin, Peralta 
174) Jimenez, Rose Leticia 

. I, 
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175) Jiron, Armando 
176) Jiron, Bayardo 
177) Johnson, Carmen S. 
178) Jones, Arthur Floyd 
179) Keif, Rosario 
180) Kelly, Federico 
181) Kelly, Virginia 
182) Kerr, Nelly 
183) Kettel, Charles W. 
184) Kettel, Fern 
185) Kettel, Gertrude 
186) Kettel, Rita 
187) Knize, Lawrence Elia 
188) Knoepffier, Carlos J. 
189) Knoepffier, Thelma 
190) Labr6, Maria Louise 
191) Lacayot Roberto 
192) Lagos Armas, Raul 
193) Lara, Enrique 
194) LaRue, Garold 
195) Law, Maria 
196) LeClair, Maria Antonieta de Blanco 
197) Leiva, Octavio Flores 
198) Leonardi, Jacques 
199) Lindemann, Guadalupe 
200) Llanes, Gaye Whitesell de 
201) LOpez, Ana A. 
202) Lopez, Isidoro R. 
203) Lopez, Isidoro R. Jr. 
204) Lopez, Vilma R. 
205) Lothrop, Shirley de Castenon 
206) Luedecking, Heinz 
207) Lugo Emma Downing de 
208) Luz Guerrero, Jose de la 
209) Mairena, Elga 
210) Maison, Amelia 
211) Malespin, Mariangela A. 
212) Manrique, Luis Fernando 
213) Manrique, Javier E. 
214) Marin Arcia, Haydee 
215) Marin·Abaunza, Leandro 
216) Marin, Christianne Bunge Riguero de 
217) Marroquin, Yolanda Rodriguez BIen 
218) Martinez, Alberto 
219) Martinez, Barb 
220) Martinez, Juan Domingo Chavez 
221) Martinez, Melba Escobar 
222) Martinez, Rafael Andres 
223) Martinez, Rafael Sr.· 
224) Maymi, Alicia M. 
225) Mayorga, Do~las 
226) McEwen, Mana Ligia
227) McGuffin, Miriam 
228) McNaughton, Olga J. 
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229) McNaughton, Robert 
230) Mejia Gonzales, Luis 
231) Mendieta, Maria Leticia Herdocia de 
232) Meza, Federico 
233) Meza, Ofelia Ines 
234) Midence, Angela Balladares de 
235) Midence, Silvio 
236) Miranda, Grethel 
237) Mohrke, Ana Heidi 
238) Mohrke, Heidi 
239) Molina, Mathelda Mliniz de 
240) Molina, Sally A. 
241) Moncada, Jose Maria 
242) MontalvRn, Carlos Orlando Espinosa 
243) MontalvRn, Claudia Espinosa 
244) Montalv8.n, Rosa Maria Altamirano 
245) Montealegre, Mariano 
246) Montealegr_e, Yolanda 
247) Montiel, Ada 
248) Montiel, Mar~arita 
249) Montiel, Wilham 
250) Montoya, ~es Egner de 
251) Montoya, S~gundo J. 
252) Mora, Ana Carolina 
253) Mora, Carla Patricia 
254) Mora, J. Antonio 
255) Mora, Patricia Nearing 
256) Morales, Argentina 
257) Morales, Danilo 
258) Morales, Ilsa Penalba de 
259) Morales, Salvador 
260) Mordecai, George Washington 
261) Mordecai, Julien 
262) Mordecai, Nancy Wood de 
263) Morejon, Ana Maria 
264) Morejon). Francisco 
265) Moyer, Liharlotte 
266) Moyer, Ralph 
267) Na.Jman, Nereida 
268) Navarro, Maria Jose Reddick 
269) Navarro Richardson, Emesto 
270) Neptune Mining Company 
271) Nixon, Carmen 
272) Noguera, Auxiliadora Velasquez de 
273) Noguera, Edgard 
274) Novoa, Manuel Callejas 
275) Nunez, Horacio J. 
276) O'Dae, Teresa 
277) Obando, Karla E. 
278) Olivares, Gloria 
279) Ordonez, Nemesio A 
280) Ortiz, Noel A 
281) Osorio, Alfredo Jr. 
282) Osorio, Ivan 
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283) Osorio, Ivan G. 
284) Otalora, Fernando 
285) Padilla, Isolina 
286) Padilla, Jose 
287) Padilla, Jose Luis 
288) Padilla, Melba Santamaria de 
289) Padilla, Ramon Cervantes Paiz 
290) Paguagua, Guisela 
291) Paguagua, Josefina 
292) Pa~agua, Yelba 
293) Palz, Eduardo 
294) Paiz, Melba 
295) Paiz, Maria Eugenia 
296) Paiz, Ramon 
297) Pasos, Plutarco 
298) Pellas, Rosita 
299) Pena, Enrique 
300) Pena, Julie Rodriguez de 
301) Peralta, Donald A. 
302) Peralta, Rosa M. 
303) Peralta, Vilma L. 
304) Peralta Schoenfeld, Ofelia 
305) Pereira, Carlos A. 
306) Pereira, Indiana Lacayo de 
307) Peters, Alfredo Osorio 
308) Pineda, Norma 
309) Porro, Manuel 
310) Porro, Mari~ 
311) Poveda, Jose Filiberto 
312) Poveda, Leonel 
313) Quiros, Roberto 
314) Ramirez, Miguel 
315) Ramirez, Zoila A. de 
316) Ramirez Pacheco, Rosa del Carmen 
317) Ramos Layla Maria 
318) Reddick, Eva Navarro de 
319) Reddick, Joseph W. 
320) Reddick Wright, Maria Jose 
321) Reed, Clarisa 
322) Renazco, Olga 
323) Retelny Rosita Staviska 
324) Reyes, 6arlos 
325) Reyes, Luis 
326) Rico, David Vilchez 
327) ico, Emanuel Vilchez 
328) Rico, Scarlett Vilchez 
329) Rio, Auxilio 
330) Rivas, Alberto (Miraflora International, Inc.) 
331) Rivas, Coco Zelaya de 
332) Rivas, Ernesto 
333) Rivera, Roberto 
334) Roa, Marisa 
335) Robin, Linda 
336) Robin, Vincent J. III 
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337) Robles, Alfonso 
338) Robles, Maria 
339) Rodriguez, Nelly 
340) ROger, Melba Caldera de 
341) Rosales, Mendoza Gilberto 
342) Rosales, Norman M. 
343) Rosario MininJl Co. 
344) Ross, Luz Manna Arauz de 
345) Ross, Norma 
346) Rossman, Abraham 
347) Rostran, Edmundo 
348) Rostran Coe, Alejandro 
349) Rostran Coe, Edmundo 
350) Rourk, Mr. and Mrs. Felipe 
352) Roth, J. Craig 
353) Rugama, Cristobal 
354) Ryland, Francisca Zamora 
355) Saavedra, Francisco 
356) Saborio, Danilo J. 
357) Saborio Bravo, Jose 
358) Sacasa, Dennis J. 
359) Saenz, Fatima Lacayo de 
360) Salazar, Sylvia de 
361) Salemi Cerna, Alicia 
362) Salmeron de Chilingar, Yelba 
363) Sanchez, Ernestina de Arana 
364) Sanchez, Gloria 
365) Sanchez, Heberto 
366) Sanchez, Josefina 
367) Sanchez, Juan P. 
368) Sanchez, Martha Lucia Cooper 
369) Sanchez, Nunila 
370) Sanchez Berrios, Levy 
371) Sanchez-Doyle, Teresa 
372) Sanchez-Phelly, Elena 
373) Sanchez-Sipman, Maruca 
374) Sanchez-Tangen, Socorro 
375) Sandino, Raul 
376) Santamaria, David 
377) Santamaria de Paiz, Melba 
378) Schiene, Doraldina 
379) Schneegans Aguero, Rene 
380) Schnoogans, Rene 
381) Senfeld, Norman 
382) Sengelmann, Ileana 
383) Sengelmann, Juergen 
384) Sengelmann, Klaus 
385) Sengelmann, Mangui 
386) Sengelmann, Peter R. 
387) Sengelmann, Tom 
388) Sequeira, Alvaro 
389) Sequeira, Marlon 
390) Silva, Jorge I. 
391) Silva, Mary R. 
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392) Simmons, Maria Malida 
393) Somoza, Pablo 
394) Smith Pastora, Jorge 
395) Smith, Jorge 
396) Solorzano, Silvia de 
397) Solorzano Thompson, Ernesto 
398) Solis, Elaine 
399) Somarriba, Francisco Jose 
400) Sovalbarro, Ebner 
401) Spencer, Anita F. 
402) Spencer, Donald N. 
403) Spencer, Elsa R. 
404) Spencer, John T. 
405) Spencer, Patricia 
406) Spencer Enright, Donita 
407) Stine, David 
408) Sullivan, Julia M. 
409) Swanson, Eric 
410) Swanson, J.C. 
411) Swanson, Maria C. 
412) Swanson, Ronald 
413) Targa, Gertrude 
414) Tefel, Esperanza de 
415) Tafel, Maria 
416) Teneria, Carlos E. 
417) Teran, Carmen 
418) Teran, Claudia 
419) Teran, Jor~e 
420) Teran, Jose F. 
421) Teran, Maria C. 
422) Teran, Maria L. 
423) Teran, Nestor 
424) Thompson, Ernesto Solorzano 
425) Tillotson, Neil 
426) Torres, Doraldina R. 
427) Torres, Frederick Lynn & Family 
428) Torres, Gabriel Argiiello 
429) Torres, Gonzalo 
430) Turner, Isabel 
431) Urcuyo, Lygia M. 
432) Vaca, Manuel Antonio 
433) Vaca Hahn, Elga 
434) Vaca Schnell, Patricia 
435) Vallejos, Alba 
436) Vallejos, David 
437) Vallejos, Francisco 
438) Vallejos, Julio 
439) Vargas, Liliana 
440) Vasalli, Roberto 
441) Veater, Captain Alan 
442) Vieira, Antoine 
443) Vieira, Maria 
444) Vincent, Corina E. Duarte 
445) Vivas, Patricia 
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446) Vivas Benard, Julio 
447) Wassmann, Elida Louise 
448) Watson, Patricia Becklin 
449) Wehmeyer, Delia M. 
450) Wheelock, Myrna Arana 
451) Whitney, Kathy 
452) Widdrington, Candida R. 
453) Widdrington, Thomas A 
454) Willey, Robert A. 
455) Williams, William A. 
456) Wolfe, Susan M. 
457) Wong Chang, Jorge Arturo 
458) Woywod-Caldera, Liana 
459) Zamora, Esperanza 
460) Zamora, Francisca 
461) Zelaya, Gertrudis Pineda de 
462) Zeledon, Marco A. 
463) Zepeda, Roberto 
464) Zuiiiga, Maria Isabel 
These names were provided to the Senate Foreign Relations 

Committee by the U.S. Citizens themselves, the U.S. Embassy in 
Managua, and the Committee to Recover Confiscated American 
Properties in Nicaragua. 

c. Glossary of Sandinista Leaders 

BALTODANO, Col. Alvaro: 
Current Position: Chief of the General Secretariat, Sandinista 

Popular Army. 
Former Positions: Combat Readiness Chief. Chief of Irregular 

Warfare Training. 
Regional Commander of several military regions. 
Member of the FSLN Assembly. 
Key figure in the 1980 assassination of Jorge Salazar, a promi­

nent member of the private sector. 
Traveled with General Ortega on 1981 trip to Cambodia. 
Joined Sandinista National Liberation Front (FSLN) in 1973. , 

CALDERON, Col. Roberto 
Current Position: Chief of the Logistics Directorate, Sandinista 

Popular Army. 
Former Positions: Commander of Military Region V. 
Born: 1950. 
Member of the Sandinista National Liberation Front (FSLN) 

Assembly.
Member of the FSLN Regional Directorate for Region V. 

, 
CARRION, Col. Javier Alfonso: 

Current Position: Vice Chief of Staff, Sandinista Popular Army, 
1987-1991. Chief, Operations Directorate, 1991­

Former Positions: (same as above)
Commander, Military Regions III and IV. 
FSLN Assembly Member. 
Former Chief of the Artillery. 
Born: 1954. 
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Son of a U.S. citizen. 

Military and ideological training in Cuba in 1975. 

Trained by Cubans in Managua. 

Assisted in the establishment of solidarity committees and 


arms pipelines in Europe, Mexico, and Honduras. 
Traveled extensively through the Soviet Union, Eastern Eu­

rope and North Korea. 
Joined the Sandinista National Liberation Front in 1973. 

CERNA, Col. Lenin: 
Current Position: Chief of Defense Information Directorate, 

Sandinista Popular Army (formerly Sandinista State Secu­
rity) 

Former Position: Chief, Sandinista State Security. 

Born: 1946. 

Son of a Moscow-line Communist. 

Recruited the Ortegas into the FSLN, 1963. 

Received military training in Cuba. 

Member of the FSLN Assembly. 

Member of the FSLN Defense and Security Commission. 

Instrumental in coordination of Cuban, East German, and So­

viet training for members of State Security. 
Allegedly tortured civilian opposition activists. 
Allegedly participated in guerrilla warfare, sabotage and bank 

robbery. 
While in Honduras, he directed assassinations of Sandinista 

opponents in exile. 
Joined Sandinista National Liberation Front (FSLN), 1963. 

CHAMORRO, Carlos Fernando: 
Current Position: Director of Barricada, the Sandinista Na­

tional Liberation Front (FSLN) party newspaper. 
Chief of the FSLN's Agitation and Propaganda Department 

(publicity and information for the FSLN.) 
Head of publicity for Daniel Ortega's presidential campaign. 
Son of President Violeta Chamorro. 
Brother of Cristiana Chamorro de Lacayo, Chairman of the 

Board of Directors of La Prensa. 
CHAMORRO, Javier Cardenal: 

Current Position: Director of El Nuevo Diario, Sandinista Na­
tional Liberation Front-aligned paper. 

Born: 1945. 
Supported Sandinistas with paper until production plant was 

destroyed by the National Guard in 1979. 
Brother-in-law of Violeta Chamorro, brother of Jaime 

Chamorro. 
Associated with FSLN militant Danilo Aguirre SoIls. 

CUADRA, Major General Joaquin Lacayo: 
One of the original nine Sandinista National Liberation Front 

Commanders. 
Current Position: Chief of Staff, Sandinista Popular Army 
Former Position: Vice Minister of Defense (1980-1990). 
Born: 1952. 
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A Leader in FSLN's 1974 Christmas Party Kidnapping at the 
house of Jose Maria Castillo, whom the Sandinistas assas­
sinated later that night. 

Allegedly involved in 1980 assassination of Jorge Salazar. Di­
rector of FSLN assistance programs to Marxist guerrilla 
groups in Latin America. 

Involved in directing Sandinista assistance to Salvadoran and 
other Marxist guerrilla groups in Latin America. 


Cousin and brother-in-law of Oswaldo Lacayo. 

Son of Joaquin Cuadra Chamorro. 


GUZMAN, Alvaro: 
Current Position: Deputy Chief of National Police. 
Former Positions: Chief, Penitentiary System, Ministry of Inte­

rior. 
Previously Vice Minister of Foreign Commerce. 
Vice Minister of the Ministry of Mines and Hydrocarbons.

Chief of the Interior Ministry's General Staff. 

Traveled extensively in the Soviet bloc. 

Nephew of Joaquin Cuadra Chamorro. 


LACAYO, Col. Oswaldo: 
Current Position: Vice Chief of Staff, Sandinista Popular Army 
Former Position: (same as above). 
Architect of Sandinista counter-insurgency plan against the 

NicarRgll:an Resistance. 
Guerrilla Commander. 
Brother-in-law of Joaquin Cuadra Lacayo. 
His brother, Roberto Lacayo, was the Sandinista Vice Minister 

of Housing and Human Services. 

Joined the FSLN in 1973. 


ORTEGA, General Humberto: 
One of the original nine Sandinista National Liberation Front 

Commanders. 
Current Position: Commander-in-Chief, Sandinista Popular 

Army. 
Former Positions: Minister of Defense, 1979-90. Chief, Sandi­

nista Military Council. 
Member, FSLN Executive Commission. 
Member, FSLN Defense and Security Commission. 
Born: 1942. 
Member of Sandinista National Liberation Front (FSLN) Direc­

torate. 
Brother offormer President Daniel Ortega. 
Received military training in Cuba, Soviet Union, North Korea 

and PLO camps in the Middle East, 1960s-1970s. 
Director of the 1977-79 terrorist activity from Costa Rica. 
Organizer of coalition to overthrow Somoza Government. 
Leader of the FSLN National Directorate, 1979. 
Advocated hard-line security policies and closer ties with the 

Soviet Union. 

Joined the FSLN in 1965. 




131 


ORTEGA, Daniel: 
One of the original nine Sandinista National Liberation Front 

Commanders. 
Current Positions: Sandinista Congressman, National Assem­

bly and Sandinista National Liberation Front Secretary-Gen­
eral. 

Former Positions: President of Nicaragua, 1985-90, Junta Co­
ordinator, 1979-1984. 

Born: 1945. 
Arrested in 1961 for fire-bombing vehicles in front of the U.S. 

Embassy.
Convicted bank robber. 
Director of FSLN National Directorate from Cuba, 1974-76. 
Chief international representative of the Sandinista ruling 

Junta. 

Joined the FSLN in 1963 at the behest of Lenin Cerna. 


ROSALES, Col. Antenor: 
Current Position: Director of Military Intelligence, Sandinista 

Popular Army. Member, FSLN Assembly. 
Former Positions: Army Lt. Colonel, Commander of Military 

Region I, 1985-1990. Commander of Region VII, 1984-1985. . 
Chief of Operations, Sandinista Popular Army, 1981-1984. 

Born: 1956. 

Received intensive Cuban military training in Cuba. 

Guerrilla Commander. 

Served as a, member of the FSLN Regional Directorate. 


SALVATIERRA, Col. Manuel: 
Current Position: Commander of the Air Force, Sandinista 

Popular Army. 
Former Positions: Commander, Military Region VI. Member, 

FSLN Assembly. Commander of Military Region II. Chief of 
Staff, Military Zone I. 

Born: 1956. 
Contributed to the build-up of the military underground in 

Masaya prior to 1979. 
TORRES, Col. Hugo: 

Current Position: Chief of Personnel, Sandinista Popular 
Army. 

Former Positions: Chief of the Political Directorate of Sandi­
nista Army. Sandinista Popular Army Delegate, Council of 
State. 

Born: 1948. 

Son of a National Guard Lieutenant. 

Squad leader in the 1974 Christmas Party hostage-taking. 

Second in command of 1978 attack on the National Palace. 

PreviouslY Vice Minister of Interior. 

Chief of Sandinista State Security. 

Joined the Sandinista National Liberation Front in 1971. 


VIVAS, Rene: 
Current Position: Chief of National Police. 
Former Position: Vice Minister, Ministry of the Interior. 
Born: 1949. 
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Military training in East Germany.
Military training with the PLO in Lebanon and Jordan. 
Previously National Director of the Sandinista National Police. 
Served on the Sandinista government's official human rights

commission. 
Joined the Sandinista National Liberation Front in Europe in 

1970. 
WHEELOCK, Lt. Col. Ricardo: 

Current Position: Chief of Military Public Relations and For­
eign Affairs, Sandinista Popular Army. 

Former Position: Chief, Military Intelligence Directorate. 
Born: 1950. 
Tracked the activities of Nicaraguan Resistance. 
Contact for the training of foreign revolutionaries. 
Nicar~'s first Ambassador to the Soviet Union in 1980. 
Ambassador to Bulgaria and Romania. 
Brother of FSLN National Directorate member Jaime 

Wheelock. 
Information for these biographies was compiled from United States Government 
documents. 

D. Accomplishments of the Organization of American States in Nicaragua 

ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES-INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION OF SUPPORT AND 
VERIFICATION (CIAV-OAS) 

CIAV"()AS PROGRAM ACTIVITIES MAY 1990 TO JULY 1992 

Introduction 
The joint accords signed in Tela, Honduras in AUgllst 1989 by the five Central 

American presidents defined the mandate of the CIAV-OAS in the demobilization 
process and humanitarian assistance and social reintegration programs for the ex­
members of the Nicaraguan Resistance (NR) and their family members. 

The first year's work in meeting this mandate, from May 1990 to May 1991, en­
compassed the demobilization of 22,500 combatants; the re{>atriation of 18,000 ex­
combatants and relatives; and the distribution of humanitanan assistance to a pop­
ulation of over 100,000 beneficiaries, consisting of ex-NR and their families. 

CIAV-OAS has phased out the humanitarian assistance program in the second 
year, incorporating beneficiaries in a variety of development and housing projects 
aimed at self-sufficiency. Other CIAV-OAS programs focused on the disabled popu­
lation, the national medicine deficit, human rights monitoring, and negotiation be­
tween rearmed elements and the Nicaraguan government. 
Human Rights Monitoring and Mediation Efforts 

To assure the reintegration of the demobilized and repatriated into civil life, 
CIAV-OAS monitored their human rights status. The CIAV-OAS human rights
tracking and verification program was responsible for guaranteeing fundamental 
rights of the ex-NR and their families. 

CIAV-OAS received reports of alle~ed human rights violations, then investigated
and brought the cases to the attentlOn of the national government for resolution. 

At the request of the Nicaraguan government, CIAV-OAS further acted as medi­
ator between state official and rearmed elements. This work included locating the 
irregular units in the countryside and convincing them to suspend operations. 
CIAV-OAS also maintained dialogue with government authorities, and coordinated 
the establishment of troop disarmament and demobilization enclaves to be operated 
by government-sponsored special disarmament brigades. 

Parallel to these activities... CIAV-OAS monitored the meeting of accords reached 
between the government ana the rearmed. CIAV-OAS has worked to achieve the de­
mobilization and destruction of weapons of over 15,000 rearmed persons. 

Members of pro-Sandinista and of ex-NR groups have participated in this peace 
process, which has served to contain the spiraling violence in Nicaragua and to open 
the possibilities for this country's social and economic development. 

. 


.. 
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Food and Materials Programs 
Initiated in the demobilization process of 19901 the national direct assistance ~ro­

gI'am gave immediate and subsequent monthly lood rations to supplement the met 
of approximately 28,000 demobilized and repatriated ex-NR and their 91,000 family 
members. The proiI:am also gave tools, basic building materials kitchenware, 
clothes and personal hygiene items to the ex-NR. This program ended in July 1991. 
Sel[,Sufficiency Programs 

Agricultural ~ds were distributed with the objective of enabling beneficiaries to 
be emp!oyed ana become self-sufficient. 

CIAV-OAB gave seeds and fertilizer to over 17,000 families to grow beans, rice, 
corn, sorghum, and in the Atlantic region, also starter plants of D~mana, plantain,
yucca, sugar cane, coconut and malanga. 

Five sawmills were set up and equipped. Chainsaws, ~lowing livestock and equip­
ment, cattle, chickens, pigs, outboard motors for fishing boats, and basic trade tools 
were given to beneficiaries according to regional needs. 
Housing and Schools Program 

This national program was designed to contribute to the effective reintegration of 
the demobilized, repatriated ana their families by providing housing and edu­
cational solutions, and to employ them in the self-construction of homes and schools 
and in the formation of small construction enterprises. 

The program has offered technical and organizational assistance and materials to 
ex-NR beneficiaries in the self-construction of 1,176 homes, along with 25 schools, 
in 37 geographic sites. 

The beneficiaries brought to their respective sites the roofmg materials received 
after demobilization. The rest of the buifdiIlg materials came from CIAV-OAB spon­
sored workshops, where ex-NR were trained and worked to provide materials for the 
housing projects. The houses, designed by' the Faculty of Architecture at the Na­
tional University of Engineering, were buIlt by teams of people who were to live in 
the houses. Approximately 10% of the units were designated for disabled veterans. 

CIAV-OAB loaned basic construction tools to the sites, to be passed on to upcom­
ing project sites in the future. Chainsaws were distributed to sawmills, and other 
tools to production centers. 
Disabled Veterans Program 

The disabled veterans program assisted beneficiaries in a medical_program exe­
cuted by the Panamerican Health Foundation (and later directly by CIA V -OAB) and 
a social reintegration program carried out by Creative Associates International. 

Disabled veterans were first registered and incorporated into the Condega Center. 
The Cond~8'!l Center served as one of the bases of production of building materials 
for the CIAV-OAB self-construction housing initiative, and a reception place and 
traininl(site for disabled veterans. 

The Condega Center medical personnel saw ap~roximately 300 patients J)er
month. The~ provided consultations, treatment, and also referrals to hospitals in La 
Trinidad or Managua as necessary. Once a veteran entered the program, all medical 
problems presented were treated, and the program committed to completing and fol­
lowing up on necessary treatment. 

Creative Associates trained and counseled ex-NR who were treated medically 
through the Condega Center. Workshops have been conducted in areas of agri­
culture, literacy, carpentry, veterinary care, driver education, and chainsaw repair 
and maintenance. Creative also established nine reintegration zones for the disabled 
nationwide, where it organized housing projects and centers of production or farms 
for the beneficiaries. 
Managua Clinic 

A team of two doctors and three paramedics ran a 12-bed clinic and pharmacy. 
They saw over 500 patients a month, ex-NR and their family members. Medicine 
was distributed free of charge to patients; hospital referrals were made as nec­
essary. 
Medicine Distri.bution Program 

A medicine distribution program was carried out by CIAV-OAB and the Pan 
American Health Organization (PAHO). This 5-month pro~am was launched in No­
vember 1991 to help make up for the Ministry: of Heiilth s medicine deficit, to aid 
by priority the greatest concentrations of ex-NR, the maternal-child sector, and 
those in need of treatment for cholera. 

To administer the modules of medicine, CIAV-OASIPAHO trained local para­
medics to staff 22 health posts in the Atlantic and Pacific regions. The program will 
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go through March 1992 and ultimately benefited close to 50,000 demobilized, repa­
triated, and their family members. 
U.S. Gouernment Cold Rations 

CIAV-OAB has distributed over 20,000 cases of U.S. Government surplus cold ra­
tions, nationwide. 
Atlantic Coast Rice Production Project 

People in the Atlantic region are small rice farmers by tradition. In consultation 
with the Atlantic communities, the U.S. Agency for International Development 
(USAID) executed a joint project with CIA V -OAB to reactivate traditional rice cul­
tivation. The plan encompassed purchase and free distribution of seeds, tools and 
other supplies to 18,000 farmers from May to November 1991. 
Atlantic Coast Rice Commercialization Project 

The Atlantic Coast commercialization of grain project, presently underway, en­
compasses the gathering and selling of the 1991-1992 rice harvest as well as the 
establishment of infrastructure for its commercialization. 

This project, funded by the European Economic Community, responds to 
Nicaragua's need for massive commercialization of the rice harvest. Its goals are to 
generate a higher buying price for the grain and to stimulate the farmer's commit­
ment to agricultural work. 

Ongoing project activities are as follows: gathering and processing of harvest; sale 
of harvest to third parties; selection and storage of seeds; distribution of agricultural 
equipment and construction materials; and technical assistance for construction of 
three warehouses with drying silos. 

E. NicaraiUan Resistance·AID Correspondence 
Managua, June 15, 1992. 

Dr. Janet Ballantyne,
Director, AID 

Dear Dr. Ballantyne: 
CENPAP, thanks to the fmancial support of the International Support and Ver­

ification Commission, Organization of American States (CIAV/OAB), has managed
to keep operating administratively and to consolidate organizationally, improving its 
internal procedures and better defming its organizational structure, which has al­
lowed: 

a) Serving as liaison and channel of communication between the demobilized and 
their family members and the government structures and other agencies and insti· 
tutions. 

b) Continuing the efforts for the continued compliance with the government com­
mitments to the Resistance (RN), above all regarding holding of land, agricultural 
fmancing, etc. 

Pursuant to this perspective, CENPAP has prioritized its work into four cat­
egories: agricultural and agro-industrial projects, the fostering of agricultural co­
operatives and micro-businesses, self-help construction of housing and social infra­
structure, and the defense of the environment and natural resources. 

The main results of the technical and administrative work of the center are sum­
marized in: 

a) Close coordination with CIAV/OAB in the implementation ofthe projects aimed 
at the demobilized RN. 

b) Important and on-going work with the government institutions and inter­
national organizations in the search for economic, material and social support, as 
well as coordination in handing over lands to the target population. 

c) Formulation of an important portfolio of outlines of small projects and partici­
pation in the formulation of development projects of national importance such as 
Bocay/Ayapal, Naranjollyas, Rio Blanco. In addition, the Inter-American Develop­
ment Bank (IDB) recently approved, through FISE, the agri-forestry project of 
Quimichapa, which will be carried out by CENPAP. 

d) Participation in national and international forums in order to take and defend 
the interests of the demobilized and their family members. 

e) Recognition of the work of CENPAP as a civilian agency and of the technical 
support of other organizations such as universities, government institutions, NOOs, 
the media, etc. . 
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oRealization of a comprehensive evaluation of the programs and administration 
of CENPAP (commissioned by AID) from which very positive results were obtained 
as well as suggested actions. 

Nevertheless, the work and objectives of CENPAP have been obstructed by the 
existence of several problems, such as: 

a) The difficulties in attending to all of the JlOpulation, given its dispersion in all 
of the country, obstructing communication ana control of it. That due to the lack 
of organization at the local level. 

b) The lack of sufficient resources to tend to the growing demands and the variety 
of problematic situations. 

c) The absence, to date, of an institutional strategy to orient the mission and the 
diverse projects of the oqranization.

FollowinJJ the suggestIons of the US-AID consultant group (Development Associ­
ates, Inc.) In their report of April 3, 1992, and the results of the CENPAP evaluation 
seminar of June 3-4, 1992, in which officials of US-AID and Development Associates 
also 2.articipated, we have defined and we are working on the following directions: 

1) To or~nize nongovernmental organizations <NOOs) or private voluntary orga­
nizations (PVOs) as an autonomous entity of the Nicaraguan Resistance Civic Asso­
ciation: self-sufficient from the administrative point of view, with a very defined but 
neutr81 identity, and with a broader coverage of beneficiaries. 

2) To request from USAID technical assistance from Development Associates, Inc., 
for a clearer definition of the new NOO. 

3) To keep approaching the IDB for support for institutional stren~hening_ and 
elaboration of a preliminary project outline. The same will be done WIth the Euro­
pean Economic Communicy (EEC) re~rding the Rio Blanco development pr<?iect . 

4) To consolidate contacts with NOOs in the United States such as Cathohc Relief 
Services (CRS) and World Relief Services (WRS) for participation in joint projects. 

5) To submit a proposal to the Inter-American Foundation (IAF) for implementing 
a 2.roject in peasant zones. 

Finally, we would like to inform you that we plan to make a trip around the U.s., 
as soon as possible, in order to present to our friends of the U.S. Congress, as well 
as to other persons and business groups of Nicaraguans in Miami, among others, 
the immediate needs for the demobilized population, to set forth the main projects 
and request technical-administrative maintenance funds for CENPAP. 

We hope to be able to continue having the important support of AID for the real. 
ization of our projects, so necessary for the target population. 

Specifically we need the "'bridge'" financing throulJh CIAVlOAS to be extended as 
much as possible, in order to have a space for realiZing our transition work. In addi­
tion, we wish to ask for your good offices regarding oUier donors. 

We are entirely at your disposition for any clarification in the matter. 

With nothing more, sincerely, 


RODOLFO AMPlE QUIROZ, 

Executive Director. 

Mr. Rodolfo Ampie. 
Executive Director, CENPAP 
Managua, Nicaragua 

Dear Rodolfo: 
We herewith reply to your letter of June 15 of this year, in which you provided 

us a summary of the activities of CENPAP, its technical efforts and its hopes for 
continuing to operate in the future. 

Regarding your request for technical assistance from Development Associates, it 
is a pleasure for us to inform you that with great pleasure we approve this type
of support for a new national organization such as CENPAP. With a copy of that 
letter we are notifying Development Associates so that it will give you its support 
in that sense. 

We understand that the financial support and your close coordination with CIAVI 
OAS in the implementation of the projects is about to conclude once this Commis­
sion completes It commitment in Nicaragua.

Through this means AID informs you that the bridge financing through CIAVI 
OAS will be the last that we can offer and we hope that your efforts with the IBD 
and other institutions will be fruitful. According to our possibilities, we will be ready 
to sUJ>port your institutional labors vis-a-vis other donors whenever feasible. 

I take this opportunity to reiterate my best wishes. 
Sincerely, 

JANET C. BALLANTYNE. 
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F. Aristides Sanchez Letter to Senator Helms 

Honorable SENATOR JESSE HELMS, 
United States Senate, Washington, DC 

Dear SENATOR HELMS: I would like to thank you for all that you have done in 
helping Nicaraguans, who like myself, are fIghting for a real democracy in Nica­
ragua. 

At the present time, Nicaragua is lawless and in a state of anarchy, due to the 
fact that Violet a Chamorro's government is without power and is totally ineffective 
in protecting the rights of the citizens of Nicaragua. 

The most serious problems in Nicaragua are as follows: 
1. There are two parallel governments-The official government, headed by 

Mrs. Violeta Chamorro, is weak, while the unofficial government, headed by 
Humberto Ortega, is strong and operative. 

2. The misuse of international aid-Officers of the Nicaraguan Government 
have misused the aid that had been given by democratic counties in order to 
help the poor in Nicaragua. 

3 .Impunity to war crimes committed by the previous regime and impunity 
of crimes committed during Violet a Chamorro's Government. 

4. One of the most serious problems in Nicaragua at the present moment, and 
at the same time one of the main sources of th.e continuing instability, is that 
of property rights. 

As it is known, after the electoral defeat of Daniel Ortega, the Sandinistas en­
acted laws by which they conveyed to everyone who was in possession of state prop­
erty title to that property. Also, the Sandinistas tried to "assure their future" by the 
illegal ap}!ropriation of private property. 

5. The lack of PQliticalliberty-The members of the Sandinista Party dyna­
mited and threw "Molotov cocktails" at the homes of legislators and directors 
of political parties. The Government of Nicaragua, headed by Mrs. Chamorro, 
succumbed to terrorists' orders and decreed an Amnesty Law, whereby full am­
nesty was given to the criminals. 

6. In Nicaragua, the Sandinista Army and the National Police had violated 
and still violates the human rights of the former members of the Resistencia 
Nicaraguense. 

The Freeaom Fighters capitulated to President Chamorro in order to reach peace 
in Nicaragua. 

The Freedom Fighters are tryj.ng to incorporate themselves into the productive life 
of Nicaragua, but they constantly fall under the boot of repression. They have found 
jail and death at the indifference of the Chamorro Government. 

In my opinion, Violeta Chamorro's Government is responsible for the criminal ac· 
tions committed by its officials. 

7. The supression of free speech-The terrorist action on November 9, 1991, 
in which armed individuals connected to the Sandinistas proceeded to destro)" 
the radio station, Radio Corporacion, just because radio-reporters denouncea 
human rights atrocities committed by the Sandinistas. Also a full amnes~ was 
given to the criminals; among them, the intellectual author of the crime, former 
President Daniel Ortega. 

On November 15, 1990, I was lllegally arrested by orders of General Humberto 
Ortega and brutally interrogated by members of the security police headed by Com­
mander Rene Vivas. . 

But this scenario is not rare. Cases like mine are common in Nicaragua, where 
human rights violations are an every' day activity by the Sandinista Army and the 
National Police. 

I hope this letter clarifies for you the actual situation of NicarajSUa and especially
a countryman's views. I appreciate all your efforts and work for Nlcaragua. 

Very' truly yours, , 
ARlSTlDES SANCHEZ 

G. Aristides Sanchez Statement of Torture by Sandistas 

I, Aristides Sanchez, of legal aile, married, and former Director of the Resistencia 
Nicaraguense and actually residing in Miami, Florida, wish to make the following 
statements: 

1) On 	November 15, 1990, I was illegally arrested by orders of General 
Humberto Ortega and brutally interrogated by members of the Security Police 
headed by Rene Vivas. 

.. , 
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2) During the interrogations I was threatened, intimidated and accused of being 
involved in a destabilizing plan with the ex-member of the Resistencia 
Nicaraguense. 

8) I was taken to "El Chipote." This Jail is very well-known in Nicaragua because 
of its reputation of cruelty with pnsoners and also disappearance of prisoners. 

4) After torturing me and injecting me on multiple occaSlOns with liquids that 
kept me in an abnormal state of consciousness that could have ended my life, 
they forced me to sign statements that compromised myself and important Nica­
raguan ~liticians. 

5) I was kept in jail despite a Medical Doctor's request asking for my release 
due to my medical condition. I did not receive any kind of medical attention. 

6) The only reason why the Sandinistas put me in jail was because my former 
links with the Resistencia Nicaraguense and the United States Government. 

7) Due to the tortures, I was very sick, and with the help of Cardinal Miguel 
Obando Bravo and the office of Senator Helms, I was released. 

The Nicaraguan civilian population has no protection against Sandinista oppres­
sors as the Sandinista leaders of the past regime are still in powerful positions with 
the military and police under the current government. , 

AruSTIDES SANCHEZ 

H. Nicaraguan Resistance Letter to Senator Helms 

July 18, 1992. 
SENATOR HELMS, 
Washington, DC. 

DEAR SENATOR: First of all, for the well-being of your great country, we would like 
to wish you a speedy recovery. 

As you know, after the VIctory of DODa Violeta Banios de Chamorro, and after 
many years of struggling for democracy in our country, the Nicaraguan Resistance 
voluntarily surrendered its weapons in the hope that a new era was beginning in 
Nicaragua. 

Our only desire was to be reintegrated into civilian life with promises of peace 
and security for our men. Unfortunately, we saw few changes in the country, and 
the members of the Resistance are the the most vulnerable and defenseless in the 
face of the Sandinista machinery that is still in force and dominates militarily, po­
litically and economically. 

Proof of this are the crimes committed against many of our leaders, of which the 
ones against Commander Enrique Bermudez, Commanders Chapulin, Aureliano, 
Renato, etc. stand out. The most recent crimes have been committed against Com­
manders Fernando and Cadejo, as well as those committed during severRl demobili­
zations. These crimes have thus far gone unpunished. 

Senator Helms, ·our life here is difficult. We live in constant fear for our security 
and without economic resources. 

The lands promised to us [by the Government] to facilitate our reinstatement into 
civilian life do not have legal support. which prevents us from receivin¥ bank credits 
necessary to make them produce. The great majority of our demobilIZed members 
to whom land has been given not only lack the resources to work the land. but also 
fmd themselves surrounded by Sandinista settlements which have the support and 
complicity of the Sandinista dominated army and police, and make civilian life dif­
ficult and uncertain. 

We believe that the main problem in our country is that weapons are predomi­
nantly in the hands of a political party instead of in the hands of the civilians. 

We believe that a true demilitarization would help the national reconciliation in 
which the Nicaraguan Resistance trusted. We also believe that in order to achieve 
a true rule of law it is necessary to carry out justice with regards to private prop­
erty. This is one of the areas in which members of the Nicaraguan Resistance have 
suffered. 

When we signed the Toncontin agreement on March 28, 1990, the current govern­
ment of Nicaragua promised to give us guarantees for the development of our peace­
ful activities. We complied, we demobilized, we disarmed, and we have tned to 
reintegrate ourselves into civilian life. The reality, however, has been different, be­
cause the government has not fulfilled its obligations to us. What we have done, we 
have done alone and with enormous effort. We believe that if this country receives 
aid, it will be necessary to establish a mechanism which will allow part of the aid 
to reach the demobilized. 
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Currently, we depend on the Civic Association of the Nicaraguan Resistance in 
the spirit of giving some solutions to our demobilized, because those of us who were 
leaders in the fight feel the responsibility to help our friends in the process of rein­
stating ourselves into civilian life. 

We trust that people like you will understand our situation, and we ask: that you
make this letter public in the Senate of your country, if that is possible. 

Attached are some documents that reflect what has been said in this letter. 
Wishing you a speedy recovery, I send you my greetings and those of thousands 

of the demobilized. 
Sincerely, 

OSCAR SoBALVARRO GARCIA, 
President of the C.A.N.R. 

I. Excerpts From Statement on Nicaragua by Senator Jesse Helms on the 

Floor of the United States Senate-February 22, 1990 


"The point is that no matter who wins, the Nicaraguan people lose, and the Amer­
" 

ican people lose. Neither candidate has the will or the power to restore freedom in 
Nicaragua." 

"Voting is only a part of democracy, and democracy is only a part of freedom. The 
American concept of freedom goes beyond the democratic process. Freedom requires 
a whole social infrastructure, which includes the democratic process, but which also 
demands religious freedom, economic freedom, press freedom, and the freedom to 
nourish and preserve one's traditional culture." 

"The current election in Nicaragua meets none of those tests. The people of Nica­
ragua do not have a free choice. Mrs. Chamorro is not the choice of a free opposition. 
She is an alternative supported by the U.S. Government ..." <,

"The Congress of the United States in its wisdom, has chosen to betray the true 
freedom fighters of Nicaragua, the Nicaraguan Resistance. For the United States, 
it is a moraJ. tragedy of immense dimensions." 

"But how can there be a ftee election, when there is no free choice? The so-called 
opposition, United Nicaraguan Opposition, is not a free political institution. It was 
created by the State Department and the CIA to control the electoral process and 
prevent an effective nationalist opposition. The State Department insisted that the 
opposition had to include everyone, including the Communist Party of Nicaragua."

"One senior administration official told my office that the inclusion of the Com­
munist Party was essential to the success of the coalition. Another official told us 
that the U.S. can control the Communists and Socialists in the coalition." 

"The so-called selection of Mrs. Chamorro as UNO candidate is a case in point. 
She was, after all, an original member of the Sandinista government, part of the 
popular front ollfanized by Fidel Castro. She is today a critic of the Government, 
but not its MarxIst doctrine. Despite the fact that U.S. Government officials stage­
managed the UNO convention-demanding that Mrs. Chamorro be selected as 
UNO's candidate-she failed to $'ain a majoritx even after six or seven ballots. In 
fact, she never did gain a majonty . . ., deSPIte the fact that two of her children 
are still members of the Sandinista Party. Her son1 Carlos Fernando Chamorro, has 
been Director of Party Propaganda and is currentlY editor of the Party newsPllper,
Barricada. And her daughter, Claudia, is Ortega's former Ambassador to Costa Rica. 
Moreover, Mrs. Chamorro has never demonstrated any power of political organiza­
tion or any cllEability to govern. A weaker candidate is harder to imagine. A govern­
ment led by Mrs. Chamorro would still be a Sandinista-style government, with the 
same doctrine, and probably much the same personnel." 

"It is not surprismg that Mrs. Chamorro . . . Failed to make fundamental criti­
cisms of the Sandinistas' revolutionary Marxist doctrine. [She] failed to criticize the 
enormous corruption and special privileges that are associated with Daniel Ortega 
and the Communist gang that holds the country in thrall. [She] failed to attack the 
lack of fundamental religious freedoms and the persecution of all those who reject 
the Marxist conclusions of so-called liberation theology." 

"For this reason, I strongly opposed any United States fundin8_ of the electoral 

fraud in Nicaragua. To me it IS unconscionable that any U.s. Taxpayers' funds 

would be used to support the candidacy of the Communists and pseudo­

Sandinistas . . . Moreover, it was clear that, under Sandinista decrees, half of the 

U.S. Funding would go to the Sandinistas themselves. Nevertheless, State Depart­

ment representatives solemnly promised that none of the funding would go to the 

Sandinistas themselves, and that the United States would find ways to circumvent 

Nicaraguan laws and regulations." 
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"It is for this reason that I believe the U.S. Government should never be allowed 
to intervene in any election, in any country, at any time. You cannot jump-start de­
mocracy by using undemocratic methods. Every time we have attempted to do that, 
the result has been a disaster for the country involved. Perhaps the reason is that 
the State Department, in choosing the candidates it wants to support has consist­
ently selected philosophical leftists congenial to its own way of thinking, despite 
what the people of the country involved want, and despite what the American peo­
ple would want." 

"'The people of NicaJ:'ag'Ua therefore face an agonizing choice. On the one hand, 
they can vote for the Sandinista candidates and the continuance of a revolutionary 
Marxist and totalitarian government, backed by the Soviet Union, that has control 
over every aspect of their lives-their jobs, their government, the press, the army,
the secret police, the neighborhood monitors, the school system.""On the other hand; 
they can vote for the candidates, backed by the United States, who are former mem­
bers of the Sandinista government, and who offer only a weak, 'me-too' revolution­
ary philosophy which they have no means of implementing if they should win." 

"I hope, indeed, that thousands of Nicaraguans do cast ~~rotest vote against Dan­
iel Ortega, despite the unworthiness of ms op}lonent. Unfortunately, in the cir­
cumstances, it is a grand, but empty gesture.''"The brutal, undemocratic nature of 
the Sandinista regime was perfectly evident in 1979, and I stood on this floor and 
said so-and said so again in 1980, 1981, 1982, 1983, and so down to this very day." 

"Mr. President.&..the only sign of hope in Nicaragua today is that the Nicaraguan
Resistance-the l"reedom Fighters-who have been cut off from United States aid, 
have pledged to continue the fIght for freedom. They have a new breed of leaders, 
no longer in the pay of the CIA, who are free to liberate their country without the 
shackles of U.S. Support. They are brave men undertaking an impossible task, but 
they have the purity of true nationalism and deep patriotism. Perhaps they will suc­
ceed. Perhaps they will topple the Sandinista government whether the Sandinista 
government is led by Damel Ortega or led by anyone else. I wish them well. I al­
ways have. I always will. They are patriots who deserve better than the treatment 
they have received at the hands of the U.S. Congress." 

J. February 28, 1990, Senator Helms Speech: The Nicaragua Elections: 

Beware of Trojan Horses· 


(Statement by Senator Jesse Helms) 

MR. HELMS. Mr. President, the election results in the Nicaraguan elections con­
stitute a stunning reversal for Daniel Ortega and the Communist Sandinistas-a 
verdict by the people, of the people and for the people of Nicaragua. What we see 
all over the world IS that if you give the people a chance in a free and fair election, 
th~ people will overwhelmingly reject Communism. 

We saw the ~ople reject Communism in Poland. We saw it in Czechoslovakia. 
We saw it-.Just last Sunday in Lithuania. We saw that East Germany, Bulgaria, 
Hungary, Estonia, and Latvia are just itching for elections in the next few weeks 
so they can vote against Communism. The only people that like communism are the 
tY!"ants themselves. 

But whether, in the long-run, Ortega and his cohorts will accept the will of the 
people is by no means clear. The statements of Ortega yesterday indicate that he 
IS willing to give up the Presidency, but not the real base of his 'political power, the 
so-called PopUlar Sandinista Army (EPS) and the Sandinista Party members in­
stalled in key government positions of power. If Nicaragua is to be free from Com­
munism, Nicaragua may have fundamental reform; but it is now apparent that Or­
tega and the Sandinistas can be expected to block every attem~t at reform. 

So the battle for freedom in Nicaragua is just beginning. Let s face it: There would 
have been no election had the Freedom Fighters not waged their lonely and hard­
fought battle against the Sandinista tyranny. It must not be overlooked, in this time 
of exultation, that the only thin~ the Sandinista regime ever worried about was 
the determination of the Freedom Fighters to make it possible for free government. 
Ortega's whole policy was to destroy the Freedom Fighters at any cost; and that re­
mains his policy today. 

This election is a tribute to the farsighted policy of Ronald Reagan. Had it not 
been for his support for the Freedom Fighters, there would have been no victory in 
the elections Sunday. The vote by the people of Nicaragua flatly rejecting Com­

• From the Congressional Record. 
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munism is a repudiation of all those who were willing to deny the Nicaraguan pe0­
ple a non-Communist alternative. 

But caution now is im~rative. The two-month transition period to the installation 
of the new government IS fraufdlt with da~r. The Nicaraguan Freedom Fighters 
have said that they will not disband until a transfer of power has in fact taken 
place. They are wise to be cautious. Their years of military opposition have. at last. 
forced the Sandinistas to the ballot box, but Daniel Ortega clearly intends to keep 
his illegitimate hold on power. 

Prudence dictates that it must be assumed that the Sandinistas will dig in their 
heels and attempt to keep power intact under the new BW?vernment of Mrs. 
Chamorro. There are still SOviet~ Cuban. East German. Czechoslovakian. and other 
Communist advisers on hand to nelp the Sandinistas overthrow the will of the peo­
ple. We must not forget that the Sandinistas haVE! played host to various terrorist 
groups operating around the world. That is why Mrs. Chamorro needs. and must 
have, the help and support of not just the former political representatives of the 
Freedom Fighters, but tlie leaders of the actual fighting groups themselves. 

Moreover, it is not merely the new government that is at risk. The Sandinistas 
have been the main eXEOrters of Marxism-Leninism to EI Salvador. They have been 
the conduit for tons of Soviet and East bloc arms flowing to the Salvadoran guerril­
las, the FMLN. And they have also provided training, logistics, communications, and 
even rest and recreation for the ~errillas in EI Salvador. The bloody November of­

( 

fensive of the FMLN in EI Salvaaor was "Made in Nicaragua." There is not reason 
to doubt that the Sandinistas will accelerate deliveries of weapons in the two 
months of power before the shift in the Presidency. Having been reJected b)' the ~­
pIe in Nicar~a, the Sandinistas must not be allowed to negate the electIon by de­
viouslyJm}!OslDg more sutTering on the ~ople of EI Salvador. " So, Mr. President, the United States Should think twice about lifting sanctions or 
providing other actions of support, unless and until certain benchmarks are met. 
For example: 

First, all current officials of the Sandinista Party must be removed from positions i 
of power in the new government. 

Second, no cabinet ~sts should be conceded to the Sandinista Party (FSLN), espe­
cially the Ministries of Defense and Interior, or to any members of either the COm­
munist Party or the Socialist Party of Nicaragua. 

Third the party-controlled armed forces, the so-called Popular Sandinista Army 
(EPS) should be disbanded" and a new armed forces, about one-third the 8ize, 8hould 
be organized under control of the new government, as in Panama. The new govern­
ment should seize the Soviet arms now held by the EPS, and sell them to the Unit­
ed States to raise immediate cash flow. These weapons could be sent by the United 
StaLes to Freedom FighLers elsewhere, such as UNITA in Angola, the Mujahidin in 
Afghanistan, and the Salvadoran Army. 

Fourth, the secret p<?lice (MINT) of the Ministry of Interior should be disbanded. 
Fifth, prominent and compcLent members of the exile communit)' from the msJor 

parties and from the private sector, as well as members of the NIcaraguan ReS18t­
ance fighting forces should be invited to participate in key posts in the Cabinet. 

Sixtli, international observers must monitor all weapons depots and movements 
of weapons during the next two months. No weapons should be sent to EI Salvador. 
Guatemala, Honduras, Colombia. or Peru, with special caution that hand-held, heat­
seeking missiles, such as the SA-7, not fall into the hands of Communist terrorists 
in those countries. 

Seventh. all other support facilities now in Nicaragua that have been strengthen­ .1
, 

ing the hands of guerrillas in EI Salvador and terrorist movements elsewhere Should !be dismantled immediately, including training bases and communications head­
~~~ . I 

Eighth, all foreilfD military and civilian advisers must leave Nicaragua during the 
transition period, lDcluding Soviet, East German, Czechoslovakian and Cuban per­
sonnel. 

In the United States, we are accustomed to assuming that elections anywhere are 
in fact a transfer of power. But in Communist countries, such as Nicaragua, the real 
~~wer is never in the organs of the State, but the in organsofthe Communist Party.
Whereas Americans think of political parties as free, voluntary organizations within 
the State, Communist doctrine holds that the people's will is expressed in the Com­
munist Party first of all, while the government is one of the party's secondary in­
struments. 

In Nicaragua, it was the Sandinista Party-The Sandinista National Liberation 
Front (FSLN}-that brought about the revolution, and imposed its will on the coun­
try. Today the Sandinista Party is still controlled by the nine-man militlUl':.Junta 
which has not been, and never will be, elected by the people. As Communist Parties 
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all over the world adapt to the pressure of the people everywhere for a mUlti-party 
State, they continue to use the organs of the party organization to control the gov­
ernment, even when the party cha~s its name. In Nicaragua, there can never be 
found peace, and there can never be fundamental reform of the social and economic 
system unless all Sandinista, Marxist, and Communist ideologies are removed from 
decision-making posts. 

In Nicaragua today. there are 65,000 active troofs in the Communist Sandinista 
Armed Forces. This IS by far the largest in Centra America. The armed forces are 
not a part of the Nicaragllan Government-they are an instrument of the Com­
munist Sandinista Party. That is the case todar" and will continue to be, unless the 
new government acts promptly to chaI!ile the SItuation. This army has received over 
$5 billion in assistance in military aid from the Soviet Union-as compared to the 
$227 million that the NicaralJ!lan Freedom Fighters received from the United 
States. This is an armed force that has received the most modem Soviet weapons, 
such as: 

Tanks and self-propelled guns, such as the T -54 tank and the 122mm artillery 
guns;

LiJP'it armor, such as the PT-76 amphibious tank and BMP armored personnel 
carners; 

Missile attack boats; 
Attack helicoJ!t;el'S, such as the MI-B and the MI-17 HIP assault helicopters, and 

the MI-25135 HIND attack helicopter gunships; 
Surface-to-air missiles, such as the Shoulder-launched SAM-7, which are used for 

air defense, and some mobile SAM launchers. 
In 1989, in the 8-month period preceding the election, the Bush administration 

disclosed that the Soviet Union had shipped 12,000 tons of war-fightinL material. 
But the regular army in Nicaragua is by no means the only problem. The Sandi. 

nistas have Duilt a reserve ar:nv. of 200,000-again one of the largest in all of Latin 
America-organized in local mIlitias. Again, these local militias have been armed 
with the most modem Soviet weapons, and these militias exist in every locality. 

Finally, there is the third force which is the smallest, but the most important. 
These are the troops (MINT) of the Ministry of Interior-some 5,000 highly trained 
and deeply motivated Communist agents, ruthlessly dedicated to the survival of 
Sandinista Communism. This is the ty~ of forces we have seen in the operation 
of other Communist countries in transItion-in Romania, in Georgia, in Armenia, 
in Azerbaijan. We must assume that, in Nicaragua, these forces are likewise ~~­
p.!il"ed to perpetrate murder and destruction for the survival of Marxist power. The 
Nicaraguan secret police operate in evel',Y block, in every workplace, in every school, 
in every organizatIon. They have at their dispclsal ~ups of paramilitary gangs 
trained to harass individuals and break. up peaceful gathenngs. 

President Chamorro would do well to examine what She is inheriting. The last 
things She needs is a stable full of Trojan Horses poised to undermine and destroy
the hope of freedom for which the NIcaraguan people overwhelmingly voted thiS 
past Sunday. ' 

As long as the Sandinista Party controls these forees, Ortega has an enormous 
bargaining tool to demand cabinet posts and ~vernment control of the economy. 
The mere changing of the head of government WIll have little impact on these forces, 
which are deep-rooted in the Communist society, unless the Sandinista command· 
and-control system is broken. 

There is no surprise in the postelection statements of the arrogant and devious 
Mr. Ortega. The depth of this problem was revealed in the statement by feared 
Tomas Borge, director of the secret police-as Minister of Interior-in a speech on 
February 7: 

This electoral coalition (UNO) cannot govern because there have been deell trans­
formations in Nicaragua that it would try to reverse, causing serious SOCIal con­
sequences. 

For example, with the existing Revolutionary Armed Forces-EPS (Sandinista
Peoples' AnDy) and the MINT (Interior Ministry)-how can the officers obey hare­
braIned orders imparted by those who were appointed (by UNO) as ministers of de­
fense and the interior? 

Since these structures are revolutionary, UNO will attempt to destroy them, caus­
ing chaos in Nicaragua. This would be a country without a government. 

What Borge meant is that the revolutionary command structure will refuse to 
obey the new Government. And he was correct-the Government will have no coun­
tervailing force, unless the Freedom fighters of the Nicaraguan Resistance are 
brought in to the country to defend the people against the Sandinista revolutionary 
power. Borge was candid in predicting at least passive resistance to the disbanding 
of Sandinista power, and perhaps military resistance to the Government-he used 
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the term "chaos." After all, the Communist Sandinistas have armed not only the 
65,000 regular troops, but also the 200,000 trusted cadres throughout the country.
By using the threat of chaos, Borge is warning that the Sandinistas will barg8.1n 
to retain substantial control over the Government and the countryside.

If that is allowed to happen. the stunning result of this past Sunday's election­
when the people of Nicaragua so emphatically stated their disgust of Communism­
that stunning result will have been reversed and negated. 

K. Congressional Objections to AID Disbursements to Nicaragua 

May 27, 1992. 
The HONORABLE RoNALD ROSKENS, 
Administrator, ARencv for International Development, 
2201 C Street, N."W., Washington, DC. 

DEAR RON: Earlier today I asked my statT director, Admiral Bud Nance, to convey 
my opposition to Congressional Notification No. 294, project number 524-0325 re­
garding the obligation of $100,000,000 for Nicaragua. Admiral Nance informs me 
that he just spoke with your Deputy, Mark Edelman. 

On several previous occasions I have expressed m'1 concerns about the Cbamorro 
Government's failure to reverse the Sandinista poliCies of the past. It is well known 
that the Chamorro Government has not privatized corporations and other busi­
nesses that were seized and nationalized by the Communist Sandinistas. Also, the 
illerally confiscated private rroperty of more than five thousand Nicaraguan citizens 
stiI remains in the hands 0 the Government. It has come to my attention that Gov­
ernment forces have begun to destroy some of these properties, and that the 
Chamorro Government continues to confiscate private property. 

Of utmost importance to the American taxpayer is the fact that more than 200 
American citizens have had their property confiscated and not returned. This makes 
a mockery of the notification's assertion that "in most respects, the Government of 
Nicaragua's reform etTorts; undertaken in 1991, were spectacularly successful." 

Furthermore, Administration witnesses have testified before the Foreign Relations 
Committee that the Communist Sandinistas continue to control every security. mili­
tary, intelligence, and law enforcement agency: in the country. These agencies have 
been used to assassinate dozens of former freedom fighters. 

Given the fiscal crisis facing this country, and the absence of any base of support 
for foreign economic assistance among the American people, you and I must work 
to scrutinize every cent that is spent on these programs. I do not believe that the 
American taxpayers would support funding for a government that refuses to respect 
the sanctity of private property for their own and American citizens. 

Until I am convinced that there is significant reform in the Chamorro Govern­
ment I will be compelled to object to the disbursement of these funds. 

Sincerely, 
JESSE HELMS. 

June 22, 1992. 
The HONORABLE RoNALD ROSKENS, 
Administrator, ARencyJor International Development, 
2201 C Street, N:W., Washington, DC. 

DEAR RON: I understand that m'1 statT director, Admiral Bud Nance, recently 
spoke to you to reinforce my objectlons to the obligation of $100,000,000 for Nica­
ragua. Since that time, I have received four additional notifications (No. 392, No. 
371, No. 373, No. 374) totalling $16 million in new obligations for Nicaragua. For 
the reasons detailed in my letter of May 27, 1992, and based on new information 
available to me, I am compelled to object to the disbursement of these funds. 

Since the letter of May: 27, my office has been bombarded with letters and phone
calls from American and Nicaraguan citizens whose property claims against the Nic­
araguan Government have not been resolved. None of the materials provided by ei­
ther the Administration or the Government of Nicaragua provide any assurance 
that these claims will be resolved any time soon. To date, it appears that no non­
commercial property has been returned to an American citizen. 

In addition to the almost 200 American citizens who have registered property 
claims, the State Department confirmed in writing this week that "there may be as 
many as several hundred U.S. citizens property claimants who have not yet ap­
proached the Embassy." Also, thousands of corporations and frivate homes owned 
by Nicaraguan citizens have not been returned to their origina and rightful owners. 
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Rather than move expeditiously to resolve this problem, President Chamorro's 
closest aide, Antonio LaCayo, has called publicly for demonstrations in front of the 
United States Embassy. Moreover, President Chamorro is quoted in the Nicaraguan 
press as saying that she has no plans to change her Government's policies "one mil­
limeter." 

My staff has informed me of an extensive meeting the;v had with representatives 
of bOth the State Department and A.I.D. to discuss this Issue. It is my understand­
ing that the Administration is in agreement with all of my concerns about the cur­
rent situation in Nicaragua. Nicaraguan press also reports that the A.I.D. mission 
director, Janet Ballentyne, stated publicly her agreement with my concerns. 

The honeymoon is over. I plan to object to any further assistance to Nicarlli{Ua 
until there is substantial proof of meaningful and lasting progress in the follOWing 
areas. 

1. The return of Jlrivate property to American and Nicaraguan citizens. 
2. Restoration of nationalized companies to their previous owners. 
3. The removal of high ranking Sandinista offichils from law enforcement, in­

telligence, and government agencies. 
4. Judicial reform. 
5. Justice for the murderers of Enrique Bermudez and the 150 other freedom 

fighters assassinated since Mrs. Chamorro came to power. 
6. Investigation of the torture and imprisonment of Aristides Sanchez and 

scores of former freedom fighters. 
7. Investigation of the murder of Jean-Paul Genie. 

The Nicaraguan people will not soon forget that the Chamorro Government would 
never have come to power without the sacrifice of 25,000 freedom fighters. As long 
as there is no respect for property rights, human rights, and a free-market economy, 
no amount of money from the American taxpa;vers will bring true democracy to 
Nicaragua. It will merel;v eliminate any incentive for lasting reform and further 
dash the hopes of the Nicaraguan people who have sacrificed so much in order to 
bring peace and democracy to their country. 

Sincerely, 
JESSE HELMS. 

July I, 1992. 
The HONORABLE RoNALD ROSKENS, 
Administrator, ARencyJor International Development, 
2201 C Street, N:W., Washington, DC. 

DEAR DR. ROSKENS: We are writing to voice our support for the suspension of U.S. 
assistance to Nicaragua. We are increasinrly concerned about the lack of genuine 
free-market reforms and continued contro by the Communist Sandinistas of the 
Armed Forces, police and intelligence. Moreover, the refusal by the Government of 
Nicaragua to return illegally confiscated private property raises serious questions 
about the government's commitment to lasting reform. 

Our understanding is that there may be as many as 400 American citizens who 
have had their property confiscated in Nicaragua. We cannot confirm that any of 
those properties have been returned to their original and rightful owners. 

We are also told that there are more than 10,000 Nicaraguan citizens who are 
unable to regain possession of their property. Very few companies have been 
privatized in the way that we understand privatization. Of those that have been de­
nationalized, many Wf,lre returned to relatives of those currently in power, and oth­
ers were sold off to friends, not returned to the original owners. 

We do not believe that the U.S. Government should provide continued assistance 
to a foreign government that refuses to respect private property rights. Without this 
very basic freedom there will be no investment in Nicaragua. And without invest­
ment, there will be no production. Thus, it is counter-productive to continue sending 
U.S. taxpayers' money. 

There are precedents where aid was suspended to foreign governments due to a 
lack of progress in the return of confiscated property of American citizens. During 
the 1980s, aid was withheld to Honduras for five years because of one confiscated 
property belon¥ing to an American citizen. For two years, the State Department has 
been withholding ten million dollars to Costa Rica because of seven confiscated 
properties belonging to American citizens. Our Government's number one respon­
sibility should be to protect its citizens. 

There are a number of other issues that should be addressed before further assist­
ance is released to the Government of Nicaragua. We have reliable reports that the 
Sandinista Army continues to send weapons to the Communist guerrillas in EI Sal­
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vador and Guatemala. We are told that these shipments are personally authorized 
by the Ortega brothers. 

The Sandinistas continue to maintain control of the Army, the Police, Immigra­
tion, Customs, the courts, and the only intelligence agency that exists in Nicaragua. 
Through these organizations, the Sandinistas have successfully canied out the sys­
tematic assassination of more than 150 former Freedom Fighters, including several 
of their top commanders. To date there has been no investigation of any of these 
brutal murders. 

It appears that the hundreds of millions of dollars given to Nicaragua in the past
two years have done little to bring true reform to that country. Before the United 
States considers releasing more assistance, obstacles to genuine economic and demo­
cratic reform should be addressed honestly by the Chamorro Government. Our Gov­
ernment should make clear to the Government of Nicaragua that they must meet 
certain conditions in order to continue receiving U.S. taxpayer's money. We will not 
support any further aid to Nicaragua until all American properties are returned and 
there is lasting and meaningful democratic reform. 

Since~ly,
CONNIE MACK, STROM THURMOND, MALCOLM WALWP, BOB SMITH, HANK 

~ 

BROWN, DAN COATS, 
ALFONSE D'AMATO. 

LARRY CRAIG, STEVE SYMMS, TRENT LoTr, and 
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